
State Board of Prison Directors 
Folsom, California 

Gentlemen: 

July 16, 1942 

In re: Brunson, Verlie 
Folsom No. 21863 

The above case was referred to me for investigation by your board at its 
October, 1941 meeting. Personally visited scene of crime and have traced 
the course of the alibi and my opinion and conclusion is that the above 
inmate is not guilty of the more serious crimes of robbery and kidnapping 
of which he is charged - but guilty of auto crime, of which he was not 
charged. 

THE CRIMES INVOLVED 

A man by name of Joe Pearson was asleep in a'drunken stupor in an auto 
outside th~ Biitinore Hotel on New Year's Eve., 1938. Three persons drove 
the car away and, when a few miles away from the hotel, robbed Pearson of 
some money (less than $5. 00) and put him out of the car and drove away. 

For these offenses Brunson was convicted - of both - consecutive sentences 
without possibility of parole. 

LACK OF COUNSEL 

None given at preliminary exam although requested. 

At arraignment - Court appointed Bolton (John S.) - · From manner in which 
case was handled it appears that Bolton was handicapped by lack of funds 
and Brunson did not get legal defense commensurate with crime carrying 
death penalty. 

THE EVIDENCE TO CONVICT BRUNSON 

The crime was supposed to have occurred between 1 :00 A. M. and 4:00 A. M. 
of Jan. 1, 1938, immediately following New Year's Eve. The complaining 
witness testified he borrowed his cousin's Ford car and with $5 on him 
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started out to celebrate New Year's Eve with a lady friend. He purchased 
a quart bottle of Muscatel wine and he and friend drank about half of bottle 
while driving to Biltmore Hotel, where they bought several drinks at bar; 
and about midnight he began to get sick and nauseated, so he left his lady 
friend and went outside and got in back of his auto where he went to sleep. 

He testified that he remembered nothing until he felt the car moving and 
someone going through his pockets. He did not know who was in the car 
until the car pulled into a gas station, which was the first time that he 
opened his eyes. He admitted he was in a daze. He started to raise up 
and as he did so Neal struck him down. He raised himself again and as he 
did so the two persons in the front seat (supposedly Brunson and woman, 
Kelly) turned around. It was dark and the only lights were indirectly from 
the service station and street lights. They were at the gas station only a 
few minutes while Kelly got out for a few minutes. They then left and drove 
to Westwood and back to Hollywood and then to Vermont over Hollywood 
Blvd., where they put him out of the car. 

During the time he was in the car Neal robbed him of his remaining cash 
at the point of a knife. 

As to the identification of Brunson, Pearson testified that he had on a light 
tan hat turned up at the brim and a tan overcoat. The arresting officer 
contradicted this, stating that Brunson had a dark gray hat and gray over­
coat on. Pearson admitted further that at the police showup some four or 
five days later he did not recognize Brunson, but that at a second showup 
with Neal he did recognize Brunson. 

The only corroborative evidence to connect Brunson with the offense was 
a purported confession by the codefendant, Kelly, who placed Brunson in 
the car with her at the time Pearson was taken for a ride. However, she 
did not testify at the trial and so could not be· cross-examined. The co­
defendant Neal did testify and he denied any connection with the offense. 
Brunson did not testify but he did produce several witnesses to establish 
his alibi. 

BRUNSON'S ALIBI 

The inmate, Brunson. claimed that he was not in L.A. at the time the 
offense was committed but instead was on his way to Los Angeles from 
Arizona, and that he was driving an old broken-down Nash car, and with 
him were two persons, Mr. and Mrs. Hoppie. 
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The inmate's story is that he arrived at Rialto, Calif .• some 60 miles away 
from the scene of the crime, at about 4:00 P. M. on Dec. 31st, which would 
be then about 10 hours prior to the time of the crime. He stopped at a 
garage where he tried to sell a radio and apparently the proprietor became 
suspicious. for the police were called and he was held by the police until 
about 6 :00 P. M. This portion of the alibi is corroborated by the affidavit 
of Glen Coburn, the partner at the garage, who admits that Mr. Brunson 
was there at that time. This portion of the alibi is also corroborated by 
the affidavit of the Chief of Police of Rialto, who held the defendant for 
suspicion from 4:30 P. M. to 6:00 P. M. on Dec. 31, 1937. Assuming that 
the crime occurred about 2 :00 A. M. the following morning, this corrobora­
tive testimony places Brunson definitely at Rialto, some 60 miles away from 
the scene of the crime, within eight hours of commission. 

Brunson states that he left Rialto and started to L.A. but was put off the 
highway about 8:00 P. M. near Cucamonga by highway patrol, for defective 
lights; that he went into Cucamonga to a garage to sell a radio. This state­
ment of Brunson's is corroborated by testimony given by George Cline and 
Clifton Chappel, who identified Brunson as being the person from whom they 
had purchased a radio at the time in question at Cucamonga. 

Then Brunson stated that, after he had sold the radio, he went to the 
Cucamonga Cafe where he stayed from approx. 9:00 to a few minutes aft,er 
midnight; that he remembered the time he left the Cafe distinctly becaus~ 
at midnight there was a noisy celebration of the coming of New Year. ·These 
statements by Brunson are corroborated by George Cline, the garage owne~ 
at Cucamonga, who testified that he saw Brunson in the Cafe about 10:15 P •. ~,. 
as he walked by. Charles E. Jones, a waiter of the Cafe, stated that he like .. 
wise had seen Brunson and another couple in the Cafe up to 11:30 P. M. A 
Mrs. Eddie Highes, a waitress at the Cafe, likewise stated tha.t she had seen 
Brunson at the Cafe during the evening of December 31, 1937. Walter Hirst, 
a patron in the Cafe, states that he saw Brunson with another couple coming 
into the Cafe about 11 :00 P. M. on the evening in question, and that he was 
with them there until about 11 :20 P. M. This evidence definitely places 
Brunson at the Cucamonga Cafe at least as late as 11: 30 P. M. , within 2-1 / 2 
hours of the time the crime was supposed to have been committed, and 
Cucamonga is approximately 55 miles from the scene of crime. 

Brunson states that after he left the Cucamonga Cafe he drove away from the 
main highway and parked his car near a ranch house. where he slept in the 
car all night. He states that he and the Hoppie~ s.tayed there until daybreak. 
when they left for L.A. , and that a rancher. an o.ld man, and a very young 
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girl, saw them leave. This is the time period which covers the time of the 
commission of the offense and is the only uncorroborated portion of Brunson's 
alibi. I personally checked the directions given to me by Brunson and found 
and located without difficulty the place he claims he stayed all night. 
Inquiries in the neighborhood revealed that about Dec. 19, 1937 there was 
an old man living in the adjacent house and that with him was living his 
granddaughter. Neighbors stated that the old man had passed away and 
that his daughter had taken the grand child and left. The only other persons 
who could corroborate this period of time would be the Hoppies, and in this 
connection I personally interviewed Roy Hoppie at his gasoline station at 
5602 Vineland Avenue, North Hollywood. Apparently the investigator for 
the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation had this man confused 
with the parties in the car with Brunson. Brunson claims that this man was 
not in the car and that it was a relative. In my talk with Roy Hoppie he stated 
to me that he did have a nephew by the same name and that he was a sort of 
drifter who had no permanent address and would wander around with his wife 
wherever work was available, and that the nephew and his wife did drop in to 
see him around New Years of 1938. He did not know where they had gone! 
He stated that perhaps in a couple of years they would drop in on him again 
as they had in the past. 

I have held up this report trying to locate the Hoppies, as I believe that their 
testimony would supply the corroborative evidence to close the gap between 
midnight, December 31, and daybreak, January 1, and thus placing Brunson 
at Cucamonga at the very time he was supposed to have committed the crime in 
Los Angeles some 55 miles away. 

Brunson states that after leaving Cucamonga he proceeded with the Hoppies 
to Etiwanda, where he arrived between 5:00 and 6:00 A. M. and went to a gas 
station to wait for it to open so that he could buy gas, and that he left Etiwanda 
after obtaining gas some time between 6: 00 and 7: 00 o'clock. Etiwanda is 
45 miles from Los Angeles. Corroborating this testimony is the statement of 
Rusty Brownless, who stated that he likewise was at the gas station at 
Etiwanda from 6:00 to 8:00 A. M. waiting for the station to open to buy gas 
and that he did remember the old Nash car, although he did not specifically 
remember Brunson. Francis L. Stevens, service station operator, re­
membered the old Nash car that morning, although he could not positively 
identify the defendant as one of the occupants. 

Brunson states that he left Etiwanda and started towards Los Angeles. 
About 14 or 20 miles from the service station he stopped and sold a tarpaulin 
for $5. 00 and a duck. These statements of Brunson are corroborated by the 
statements of Glen Coburn, the garageman at Rialto, who stated that he was 
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driving to Los Angeles that morning and, between 9:00 and 10:00 A. M., 
saw Brunson driving in the old Nash car towards Pasadena. These state­
ments are further corroborated by Clyde Goldsmith of Pomona, who stated 
he bought the tarpaulin for $5. 00 and the duck that morning. 

Brunson states that he arrived in Los Angeles for the first time about 
11:30 A. M. when he went to the St. George Hotel. He did not meet with 
the codefendant, Neal, until 7 :00 or 7 :30 P. M. that night. He admitted to 
me personally that he was in the car with codefendants Neal and Kelly when 
they left for Santa Barbara. I personally interviewed the codefendant, Neal, 
at San Quentin and he told me that he had never met Brunson prior to the 
evening of January 1, 1938, which could put the time approximately 12 hours 
after the commission of the crime. 

CONCLUSIONS 

Having checked with the clerk's transcript and particularly the testimony of 
the prosecuting witness, I find that the prosecution had a particularly weak 
case against Brunson. It can be gathered from his testimony that the reason 
he had to leave the Biltmore Hotel and get into the back of his car to go to 
sleep is that he was about to pass out due to intoxication. He would have us 
believe that being in this condition he was able to identify positively a man 
sitting in the front seat when all he could see was the shoulders and head 
under the dubious light of passing street lights and the service station. It 
is apparent from the record that the prosecuting witness was definitely 
wrong in the hat and overcoat that 13:runson wa.s wearing and this teµds. 
further to discredit his testimony~ Likew~se his inability to recognize, 
Brunson at the first poUce showup casts doubt on his ability to identify 
Brunson. 

Against this testimony we have tne st.at~m.ents of pe;rsons under oatll,, to the 
investigators of th.~s case. t,hat Brunson w:as nowhere near the scene of the 
crime at the time of its• cpmmission. U is unfortunate that the Hoppies have 
not been lo·cated because their testimony would supply the missing link. But 
I believe that the evidence prior to mic;lnight of December 31st and after day­
break of January 1st is sufficiently strong to show that Brunson would have 
had a speedier car. driven to Los Angeles. committed the crime and been 
back out to Etiwanda by daybreak. Even the police officers who took Brunson 
around to check his alibi were impressed with the strength of the alibi, as 
indicated by the report of the investigator of the Bureau of Criminal Identi­
fication and Investigation. 
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Brunson has a bad criminal record and he had a cocky attitude at the time 
of his apprehension in Santa Barbara. His repeated offenses against the 
law show that the man is of doubtful rehabilitative material. On the other 
hand, the man is wanted in several other states for breaking parole and other 
charges, and it is my understanding that he has to serve between 22 and 26 
years in various prisons before he is finally released as a free man. This 
would make him somewhere between 55 and 60 years old and at that age he 
might be able to go straight. 

However, my investigation in the facts satisfies me that Brunson was guilty 
of assisting in the stealing of the automobile but the punishment for this is 
only 1 to 10 years and Brunson has already served four years in the State 
Pris~. . 

RECOMMENDATION 

From the foregoing it is my recommendation that the State Board of Prison 
Directors recommend to the Governor that Brunson's conviction be ·commuted 
to time served. 

Very truly yours, 

(Signed) Seibert L. Sefton 
Administrative Advisor 
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Copy to: LeMoyne Snyder 

~- z. D. Allen 
Allen, Locke & Kouri 
Attorneys at Law 
Suite 500-04 StaleJ Building 
Wichita Palla, Texas 

Dear Mr. AlltUU 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 
Temecula, California 

March 22nd, 1950 

Re: Marion I. Bowling. 

Thanks very mu.oh tor your letter of February 27th re 
Marion I. Bowling. 

-
I would like very mu.ch to tind out more about the tacts 

1n the Bowling caee~ particularly with referenoe to the two 
otfioe~s ho a e au oaed to ave c eok Bo 1l' 1 1 licenae at 
the state l ine ( I el· eve it · as V rnonJ Texas . I don't find 
thia plae n the mapa Which I h ve ........ ,, • .., ..... 10.t; l y a ailable) . 

I und "tend t he • ottioer• wen not called ae witnesses 
at the time ot trial because you te1t their evidence wu not 
aa strong a you Would like to have it. 

I 41al1ke to bother you 1n 'Wit• matter, but I would like 
to tind. out more about the tact• in the oa.&•• 

Waa a transcript of the evidence written up and it so, 4o 
you have that transcript? 

I underetand the waitre••• who a the v14t1m ot the 
k1dnap1ng, r1rat etat d that the man who guilty ot the cr1 
had two front teeth missing, but le.ter changed th1• etatem nt. 
Do you knCYW anything about th1e, 6r 11 the first statement 
available! 

Can u tell • hether the PBI rked up the cue 01-
het ~ lt left to,_ looal pol1oe? 



l r-ch 22ml; 1950 

.fo e t th om nt nimpl eluge 1 th c e and I .m 
rid there is not mu h chanae of do1 muc with t 1 cue n 

ARGO m z1.ne~ but neverthelcs the fact of th1 license 
chcc ing seems tom to b av r aign.iticant affair. 

It 1 unl1w 1 th e two ott1cers would hav• eheoked 
nothe lion e from Kl th Falls, Oregon, and it is lm t 

1mpo sible th t the d.f nd t ·otld h ve kno aucb a ohcc< was 
made unless he had been th"' ndiv1du 1 hoso l oenae ae cheeked. 
There ore it •rould ee thnt poeitive 1dent1f'1cation by the 
otficel'tJ would not really be neceaaa~y. 

I'll appreciate any 1ntol'ffJAt~on that JOU oan give rne. 

Very truly youra, 

ESOilm 



Mrs. M, r. Bowling 
1305 - 35th Street 
Wichita Falls, Texas 

Dear Mrs. Bowling& 

Copy to: LeMoyne Snyder 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula, California 

I have been hoping that we could arrange to have someone 
interview you and erhaps y~ur husband before this time, but 
so rar it hasn't been possible. 

We are simply swamped with cases for consideration. 

Tom Smith, our single field re res ntative, ie completely 
tied up with the 1nv tigat1on 0£ c sea e are handling here 
at the moment and th n, or course, there is the further f'act 
that the magazine can only find room to publish tacts in a VOI"'j 
limited number or cases. 

However, there is a possibility this situation may change 
in the near future. 

I keep thinki about our case and feeling that the 
check1 ot your husband's 1v1ng license is something h1ch 
should b carefully invest! ted. It ould ce a i nly seem on 
its f ace to give him a perfect alibi and I think there should 
be some further investigation in the c se. 

I have had a letter from Mr. z. D. Allen concerning the 
other ch r ge which ha4 b en made g inst your huab d, d I 
am it1ng Mr. Allen a king for mor information bout the case. 

Do you know if the investigation was handled by the FBI 
or by the State Authorities? 



, M. 1. ao 11n •I• Mareh l2nd,, 1950 

la short , I ould ppree iat an ·. inf r att.a JOU ou 11ve 
m • 

t•m a llttl af lbe.t we 1an•t or e you v r·~,r 1nucn . 
eneourag m nt, but the t act remains t t I 1 to ind out more 
about the · eta and a.rt ioularly about the off1o s who Qh eked 
your hueb d ' driving lien · . 

E Gt l m 
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z. D. All n 
w. T a Locke 
Roger w. Crampton 

ALLD. LOCKS&: CRAMPTON 
Attorney• t La 

Suite 500-04 St ley Building 
Wichita Pall, Tesaa 

Pebrua.rJ 8, 1952 

Mr. Erle StanleJ Gardner 
Rancho del Pa1aano 
Temecul, California 

RI Marion I. Bowling 

Dear Mr. Qardnera 

Y aterday I 1nterv1ewed • Thom a•· J ea., who la one or tbe 
police otticera 1n Vemon., Te s , ho ch eked the driving 11-
cenae ot th1 ubject on th night ot pr11 27, 1~6. I am en­
closing hia wr1 tten t te•nt which p ak tor 1 t l.t. It 
certainl1 ema atrang that it Marion Bowling w not the man 
who e driving lioena wae checked on that ooca ion, how 1n the 
world would Bowling know tbat that happ ned. 

I might go back aw y and give ,ou om addition l tact • The 
pros outrix., Ruth cc 1 y., t at1t1 d that she and here cort 

re tir t top d at bout 1115 A.M. Just eat ot Duncan., Ok-
lahoma. It 1 approximately 110 mil from V rnon, a,to 
Duncan, Okl o , hich would v mad it in m1 opinion prac­
tioallJ impoaaibl tor Bowling to have gone from Vernon., le v­
ing there bet een 10100 and 11100 P •• , and been at t scene 
ot th fir t attack over 110 milea aw y at 1:15 A.M., eapecially 
in vie ot th tact that h1 utomob1le wa an old mod 1. A a 
matt• ot f ct., I don•t believe t that time it w a still being 

ufactur d. Purth r, to ak it mor r141oulou, one Edn 
w llcer teat1t1 d that h Bowling at ad c hall, a place 
known the County Line, which 1• tor Dunc , Okl om, at 
about 10:00 p •• on the 27th, and aooord1ng to the map th 
CountJ Lin 1 approz1matelJ 138 mile trom Vernon, Texas , and 
naturallJ he could not have en Bowling at that place at 
101 00 P .M., and hi dri v1ng license be n ch eked tween 101 00 
and 11100 P •• 138 mils a y. Om Pruitt testified that a 
w at the Count7 Line dano hall that Bowlillg eked Bo n., 
wbo wa hi co-clef ndant in the tri l, it they hould gt the 
hot car out. Th re wa other teetlmo117 1th r terence to a hot 
car being diaoua d by the proaeoutr1x., Ruth MoC wleJ, who te ti-
tied in p t that ah hard Bo ling Bown talk bout etting 
the hot oar b ck b tore it w • miaaed. All this would indicate 
that it a th co-d tend.ant, Bown, nd some other per on who 
might v been in hat 1 known as a hot oar. Certainly, it 
Marion Bowling was with Bo en d~ing this ti•., there would have 
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been no occ eion to diacua hot c , • title to the c aa 
good in Bowling, and naturally a hot car 1 referred to one that 
1a tolen. 

The fir t hearin had on th1 m tt r in Wichita lla on 
y 7, 1946, h n a ha corpu h in was had tor Bowling. 

That 1 when the V rnon off1c r t et1f1 d. That t st1 ony waa 
transcribed, nd I m 1n1'o ed. that • Bowling ha r dy 

nt you copy of the otficere• t t1mony. 

ion Bo 11n · a y th t 1f ther 1 ny y t th could be 
r turn d to Vernon, T xa, that h can tak the offic r■ who 
checked hi driving lio nae on the 27th ot April, 1946, and how 
them exactly h re the incid nth pp n d. Alao, I am informed 
that ha b en 1ns1 ting t the be given a lie detector teat 
on any of hi conn ct1on 1th the fair for which he wa■ trt d. 

Tru ting th1a d1t1onal info tion and tacts 111 be of aas1a­
tance to Jou in aiding this m , with t personal r gard, 

Your■ verry tru17, 

AI,I,BN, LOCO & CRAMPTON 

BJ . z. 
Z. 15. 

ZDA/Jd 
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To It y Concerns 

Thia le to atate that I, Thoma.a•· J a polioe 
offie r 1n t city of rnon., a, for many 

• • l no r aid at 2126 Goroon tr t 1n V rnon., Te • 
On the 27th day of pril, • D. l 46., I as 1n t 
c p c1tJ f lie of1'1e r 1n v, rnon. T 1n from 

1 o'clock 1n th v ning unt l silt o 1oloc morning 

Ont night ot pr11 27, 19\6, ao time between ten 
d lev n o'clock, I in~ at t d an uto obil hich 

keel on t tre t 1n V rnon, T It ·a an old mod l 
automobile, but I do not em b r t ak • T re was one 

ittlng in the utomobil ho a 1n gl s • I 
aake4 thi man tor hie 1dent1t1cat1on dl'1v1.ng license and 
he aho ed me a driving 11cena which h took trom a b1llto14. 
The driving lioen waa tor the Stat ot Oregon and had an 
address on it in Jtlamath Palla, Oregon. Thia ..,,..., ... Aa not 
1ntox1cated, and, finding nothing unuaual, naturallJ he was 
not apprehended or que t1oned further. he man who ••• 1n 
the automobile and. pre•ented me with the bov 4eacr1bed 
license did not get out ot the car and threw a tar aa I 
lcnow, no oocaa1on tor him to do ■o. 

On th 7th day ot May, 19\6, I waa called to Wichita lla, 
Texas, tot atity at a Habea• Corpua hearing wh re Marion I. 
Bowling the eubJ ct ot the hearing. I underatood that 
he had been charged 1n the st te ot Oklahoma with aom ott n • 
at that time. At th time or the Habea Corpu armg I had 
occasion to••• ion I. Bowl1.ng, who was 1n need ot a ahav 

nd • being c 1ed into the court room. It was my un4 r-
at nding that he had be n injur d or aa claiming to have been 
1njur d between th date ot r11 27, 1~6 and My 7, 19•6. I 
w unable to 14ent1fJ at that time Marion I. Bo ling • bei 
the me person as th man tor whom I checked the Klamath Palla, 
O gon , driving licen on the night ot April 27, 1946. 

The above detailed c1rcumatancea, time, and oocaa1on 1• the 
only ti• that I have ever checked m driving lioen .that 
wae 1aaued by the State ot oregon tor an addreae at Klamath 

lla, Oregon. 

I have given some thought to the above eince the occurence 
here1nbetore related and have since that time had an opportunity 
to••• a picture ot a man I am told 1• ion 1. Bo ling. One 
picture having been made prior to April 27 11 1~6, and hav a1110 

een p1ctur ot a man I aa told 1 ion I.Bowling that w 
made recently. In both ot theH picture• the aubJect • a 
amooth tac ., not being 1n n ed ot shave. T m whoae driving 
licen e from Oregon I c c don th night ot pr11 27, 1s,Jt.6, 



not being 1n need ot a shave., I am not in the poa1t1on to aay 
beyond a doubt that the above r terred to pictures ot Marion I. 
Bowl ing ar pictur a of the same man whoae license I chaclieed, 
but I do state that they certainly reeemble that man. 

I know definitely the spot 1n Vernon., Texas, where I 
checked the man•a driving license from Oregon on the night or 
April 27, 1946, and ke thia statement., that 1r Marion I. Sow• 
ling were returned to V rnon, Tesa, and would show me wher I 
talked to the man hose Klamath •alls, 0regon, driving l1cenee 
I checked on the night of April 27, 1946, and it the place he 
hows me is correct , I ould then say beyond any doubt that he 

1 the same man I tal ked to and hose Oregon driving license I 
checked on the etre ts ot v rnon~ Texas, on the night of April 
27, 1946, betwe n t n and lev n o'clock. 

Respectfully, 

Thoma P. 
Thomaa P. 
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rom Marion I. Bowling 
Leavenworth Kana 
To Erle Stanley Gardner 

Dear Mr. Gardner, 

Pebruary 12 - 1952 

Temecula, Cal1torn1a 

I hav received 1our l tter laat night and I will give you 
what inform t1on I can about th ubject 1ou mentioned. Aa you Imo 
t r · r t o p opl ho ola d theJ ere kidnap d, on R lph 
Blood orth Ruth cca leJ. I rt that this Ralph Hlood ortb 
told ne a pa r r porter 1n Du.no Oklahom (Duncan Bann r) that 
one ot them n Maning me, had protruding 11pa and two or more front 
t eth m1 1ng, the Duncan Banner ran artiole 1n 1ta ne ppr 
about it, atateing that I bad protruding lipa and two or more tront 
teeth mi in&, th1a article became quit a Joke bet een tbe Dunoan 
CountJ Jail r, Mrs. Joe Nontgo r, and I each day at meal time,• 
would often teaae me about it and aak me it I would lik her to go 
bu;r aome store t eth ao I oould at mJ meala. the Joke ia that 
I have a perrect set ot teeth nd I don't believe anJone could 
truthtullJ aa1 that my lipa were protruding. NJ wite could probably 
give you more information about th1a than I as I underatand. o e 
friends once did some 1nveatigat1ng on this subJect. One thing about 
thia miaaing teeth angle is that, about a month or mor atter I wa 
taken to the Duncan County Jail, ther w s fellow. ca tot Jail to 
... Bo n lllJ' alleg d co defendant, ho did p rf otly tit t n • 
ppr article on the mia11ng teeth and protruding lip gle, v n 
about the correct weight • Ralph Bloodworth t1rat told the ottio r■ 
when hew• brought up to loolc at me that I did not look like one ot 
the men, later however he 1dent1t1 d me 1n court, but ven 1n oourt 
he emed to bear luctant witness, while on the other hand Ruth 
Mccawley would readily 1dent1t1 any thing and evel')' thing that ahe 
thought could be connected up with me in any way, and she certa1.nl.J 
had the otticers help on thi part. Im sure that 1t 1ou could talk 
with the Montague Count1 Texas ottioera who were the tir■t ott1c r 
to interview her after r alleged abduction, the7 would tell you 
that aha _told a completely differ nt atory 1n court that the one she 
previoual7 had told to them, one ot these ott1cera 1W1e that r k 
in court at the time of mJ trial. I hope this i the intor tion 
you wanted, Mr. Gardner. I wish to add that I stand willing to 
point out the exact apot where my drivin& licenses er oheo~ don 
the n1te ot the alleged crime. I believe I can show you within 10 
or 15 tt. ot the epot. 

Reapecttully yours 

/s/ Marion I. Bowling. 
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To WhoI'l It May Concern: 

This is to state that I, Thornas F. Jar1es, aPi a police officer 
in the city of Vernon, Texas, and have been for 111any years. I now 
reside at 2126 Gordon Street in Vernont Texas. On the 27th day of 
April, Ao D. 1946, I was serving in the capacity of a police officer 
in Vernon, Texas, working frorn six oQclock in the evening until six 
o'clock in the I'lorning. 

On the night of April 27, 1946 sorne ti.Me between ten and 
eleven o'clock, I investigated an autornobile which was parked on 
the street in Vernon, Texas o It was an oli:i rnodel autoJ:110bile, but I 
do not rernernber the rnak:e. There was one rnan sitting in the autorno­
bile who was wearing glasses. I asked this rnan for his identifica­
tion and driving license and he showed Ne a driving license which he 
took frorn a billfoldo The driving license was for the State of 
Oregon and had an address on it in KlaPJ.ath Falls Oregono This Nan 
was not intoxicated, andl finding nothing unusual, naturally he was 
not apprehended or quest oned further. The rnan Who was in the auto~ 
111obile and presented J:11e with the above described license did not 
get out of the oar and there was as far as I know, no occasion for 
hil'l to do so. 

On the ,7th day of May, 1946, I was called to Wichita Falls 
Texas, to testify at a Habeas Corpus hearing where Marion I. Bowling 
was the subject of the hearing. I understood that he had been 
charged in the State of Oklahol'la with so~e offense at that til'leo At 
the tiI'le of the Habeas Corpus hearing I had occasion to see Marion 
I. Bowling, who was in need of a shave and was being carried into 
the court rool'l. It was l'1Y understanding that he had been injured or 
was claiJ,iing to have been injured between the date of April 27, . 1946 
and May 7, 1946. I was unable to identify at that tiRe Marion I. 
Bowling as being the sane person as the l'l.an for whol'l I checked the 
Klal'l.ath Falls, Oregon, driving license on the night of April 27, 
1946. 

The above detailed circuI'lstances, til'lel and occasion is the 
only til'le that I have ever checked a l'l.ans dr ving license that 
was issued by the State of Oregon for an address at Klal'l.ath Falls, 
Oregon. 

I ~ave given so.l'le thought to the above since the occurence 
hereinbefore related and have since that til'le had an opportunity to 
see a picture of a l'l.an I aPJ. told is Marion I. Bowling. One picture 
having been I'lade prior to April 27 1946 and have also seen a pic­
ture of a l'l.an I al'I. told is Marion fo Bowling that was l'l.ade recently. 
In both of these pictures the subject has a SI'looth face, not being 
in need of a shave. The l'lan whose driving license fro~ Oregon I 
checked on the night of April 271 1946, not being in need of a shave, 
I aJ:11 not in the position to say 1:>eyond a doubt that the above re­
ferred to pictures of Marion I. Bowling are pictures of the sal'l.e 
~an whose license I checked, but I do state that they certainly 
re-seI'lble that l'l.an. 
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(Statement of Thomas F. Ja!'les continued) 

I know definitely the spot in Vernon Texas, where I checked 
the Man's driving license from Oregon on the night of April 27, 
1946, and M.ake this statenent, that if Marion I. Bowling were 
returned to Vernon, Texas and would show me where I talked to the 
man whose Klamath Falls, ,Oregon, driving license I checked on the 
night of April 27, 1946, and if the place he sho-w s ne is correct, I 
would then say beyond any doubt that he is the sane man I talked to 
and whose Oregon driving license I checked on the streets of Vernon, 
Texas, on the night of April 27, 1946, between ten and eleven o'clocko 

Respectfully, 

(signed) Tho1'13.s F. JaAes 
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March 27, 1952 

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERNt 

My narie is Jero111e Sullivan.· I live in Duncan Oklaho111a, 
and have been practicing law at Duncan, in Stephens Counfr, OklahoJlla 
for 111ore than twenty-seven years. On tne 27t~ day of May, 1946, I 
represented one Marion I. ·Bowling at a prelil'linary hearing before the 
Konorab1e C. C. 'Wilkinson, County Judge, sitting as an xMining 111agis- · 
trate in Case No. 8228 of the County Court of Stephens County! Oklahona, 
wherein Marion I~ Bowling was c,harged ~t th the-- cri.l'J.e of rape n the · 
first degree. J. w. !Iarshall was County Attorney of Stephens County, 
Oklaho111a at the til'le. Bowling was a resident of near Wichita Falls, 
Texas at the til'le. He was charged with having raped, by force one 
Ruth Mccawley, who resided in Duncan, Oklahoma at the til'le. She was 
with a Mn by the D.al'le of Ralph Bloodsl'forth, parked in a car on the 
road about a 111ile southeast of the business ~istrict of Duncan, Okla­
ho111a. At the t~e, two parties accosted the111 and treat~d she and her 
colitpanion in a very brutal Aanner. ! l'l.an by the nMe of Bowen and 
Marion I. Bowling were charged jointly in this offense. Tl'iere ism> 
question in 1!'IY' ftind ab-0ut Bowen being one of the parties that partioi~ 
pated in this orillle. There is a very serious doubt in 'lry nind as to 
the guilt or participation in the ori111e by Marion I. Bowling. Bowling 
was arrested soon after the co1'1titission of the oril'le at or near Wichita 
Falls, ·Texas. He infor111ed the , arresting officers, at the til'le of his 
arres't, t,hat he was in or near Vernon Texas at tne tiPle of the co.111-
Aission of the crillle. ·He told the111 that Me was stopped by an officer 
of the law near V&rnon, Texas, for a l'linor traffic offense that later 
proved to be about the til!le of the crillle. He had an Oregon drivers 
license. Upon investigation by the proper authorities it was dis­
covered that an officer of the law, in Vernon, Texas, had stopped a 111an 
with an Oregon Drivers License at about the tl.Ple of night and place 
that Bowling said he was stopped. There is nothing particular about 
the instance of stopping Bowling that the officers paid 111uch attention 
to his description, and was unable later to definitely identify Bowling 
as the l'lan he stopped. 

' At the til'le of the preli111inary hearing as above stated, the 
prosecuting witness, Ruth Mc Cawleyf testified thai the Aan with Bowen 
had so111e protruding front teeth. bad Bowling· to open his .l'louth in 
her presence and display his teeth. · He displayed a very pretty and 
nor111al set of teeth in her presence and did not at all confor111 to 
a description of one of the assaultlng parties upon her. Bowling at 
all tillles proclai.Pled vigorously his innocence. The prosecuting witness 
acmitted on the prelilllinary hearing that she had only one slight 
opportunity to see the other 111an with Bowen due to the fact that she 
was blindfolded at all ti.tiles while she was a captive of the ones who 
assaulted her. 
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(Statenent of Jero111e Sullivan continued) 

Marion I. Bowlin~ and his co-defendant, Bowen, were placed: 
in the S81'18 1arge cell together in the county jail of Stephens County, 
Oklahona. Bowling attenpted at various tines during his confinenent 
in the jail with Bowen to talk with hll'l about What occurred, but Bowen 
refused to discuss with hm anything about the cril'le. When Bowen re­
fused to discuss the circuAstances of the crine with Bowling, 1,at one 
ti111e, as Bowling's attorney attenpted to talk to Bowen about it, and 
he refused to discuss the clrcul'J.stances of the cril'le with ~e. For these 
reasons and l'lany other little incidents at the til'le, I was col'J.pletely 
persuaded and of the opinion that Marion I. Bowling was a viotil'l of 
nistaken identification and knew nothing about the co1'll'lission of the 
cril'le or any of the circunstances thereof. 

Bowling was bound over by the exa.Aining nagistrate for 
trial in the district court of Stephens County, Oklahol'la, by the ex-
8.l'lining nagistrate. }le was charged in the United State.s District 
Court for the Eastern District of Oklaho1'18. with the cril'le of kid­
napping under the Lindberg Act and is now serving a life sentence in 
the Federal Penitentiary at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, so IM infor111ed. 

;1 l did not represent hi111 in the trial of that case in the Federal Court. 

I have no notive whatsoever in 1'18.king this stateNent except 
for the reason that IM firl'lly convinced t4at there has been a Ais- · 
carriage of justice in Bowling's case due solely to the nistaken iden­
tity of the prosecuting witnesses as to Bowling being the A.an who was 
with the Aan Bowen. 

(signed) Jerone Suilivan 

Subscribed and executed before ne, 
the 27th day of March, 1952. 

My Co1'll'lission Exp~esi 

Septenber 6, 1953. 

(signed) Ann L. Fitzhugh 
Notary Public 
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Chal Wheeler. Eaq. 
Norman Wheeler 
Attorney• at Law 
Fourth Ir Boston 
Muskogee, Oklahoma 

Dear Mr. Wheeler: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

January 2, 195ti 

Re: Marion I. Bow lin1 
No. C395l-L 
U. S. Penitentiary 
Leavenworth, Kansa 

I nave ome data in my files which may be of interest to you and be of some 
help to you in connection with your preaentation of the caae. 

I am encloain my personal check for $200 wnich is in the nature of a contri­
bution to the cause. 

At one time the Attorney General'• office indicated to Bowling that they would 
let me see the FBI files if I made a demand. However. when l aeked to see 
the file they advised me that they could not how them to me and I did not 
peraiat becau e I wa n~t in the position of repra■entin1 Bowlin1, and, as 
previously indicated, did not want to be placed in a position where it eemed 
that I was repreaentin1 Bowlin1. 

However under the rule in the case of Clinton E. Jenck& which was, 1 believe, 
decided by the Supreme Court of the United State• in June of 1957, aa an 
attorney representing Bowling 1 believe)Ou are certainly entitled to ee the e 
file■. 

1 think I know what ia in the file and 1 think they et forth a ■ituation which is 
completely and absolutely contradictory if one makes a fair apprai al of the 
entire aituation. 

We have been concerned about tnie ca e for ■ome even or ei1ht years and 1 
am becomin1 more and more firmly convinced that Bowline i innocent and 
waa wrongfully convicted. 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Chal Wheeler. Esq. 2. January 3, Hia6 

Here is a brief summary of the facts in the case: 

About one o'clock a. m. on April 28, 1946, a man named Bowen, accompanied 
by a companion whom the authorities claim waa Bowling, accosted a man named 
Ralph Bloodworth and Retha McCauley who were parked on a County road near 
Duncan, Oklahoma, and apparently were enpeed in neckina. 

Claimin1 to be FBI agent■ makin1 an arrest, they forced the couple to aet in 
their car then drove to a point south of Addin,ton, Oklahoma, where Bowen 
beat Bloodworth over the bead. Bloodworth escaped and Bowen and hi com­
panion drove Retha McCauley to the vicinity of Rin110ld, Texas, where ahe 
wae raped aeveral times. At that place Bowen'• companion left the party, 
Bowen took the 1irl to a wooded area where he kept her until ten-thirty a. m. 
at which time ahe escaped from him and reported tne matter to the nearest 
aherilf. 

Bowling claim■ an alibi wllich haa been partially substantiated by various people 
but ia probably not stron1 enough to make any difference at thia time except on 
one particular point. That ia that at about eleven o'clock on the night of 
April 27, 1946, Bowlin& wu in Vernon, Texas, a place which is approximately 
one hundred and ten miles from the scene of the crime. He claim• he was 
stopped by two police officer• at that point, who checked hie drivina licenae. 
His drivina licenae was from Klamath Falla, C.Jreaon, and the officer■ remarked 
in hi• preaence that it waa the first time they had ever had occuion to check a 
drivin1 licenae from Klamath Falla. 

The officer• who checked this drivin1 license were located and were ■ubpoenaed 
as witneaaes at the trial. They were not called as witnesae and I think this 
was a major mistake of jud1ment on the part of a very eatimable attorney who 
waa repre■entin1 Bowliril at the time. The attorney felt that the officers would 
not make aood witneaaea in that they would not identify eitller Bowlin1 or hia car, 
claimin1 that tlley couldn't be aufficiently certain of their identification. 

It ia my opinion that the officer simply talked the attorney out of bein1 put on 
the witneaa atand. 1 think that they were reluctant to appear as witne■aes teatify­
ing a1ainat the prosecution. I don't know whether they CO\lld have made an identi• 
fication or not if they had been put on the tand, but 1 feel from examinin1 11tate • 
menta made at the time that tbe,y were purposely va1ue and that it waa quite 
apparent they were reluctant to appear aa witnesses. 

In my opinion it wouldn't have made a particle of difference whether they could 
have identified the defendant or not. lf they had testified that at Vernon, Texas. 
between ten and eleven o'clock on the evenina of that nignt they had checked a 
driving licenae. that the drivin1 license was from Klamath Falla, Oreapn, that 
they had stated in the presence of the driver that it waa the firat time Uley had 
checked a drivina licenae from Klamath Falla, Oregon; and then Marion Bowling 
bad gone on the stand and testified that he bad been in Vernon, Texas, between 
ten and eleven p. m. ,that these two officers bad checked his drivin1 license and 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Cllal Wheeler, Esq. 3. January 3, 1858 

had made the atatement in hia preaence that it was the firat time they had 
checked a driving llcenae from Klamath Falla, Oregon, an alibi would have 
been eatabli hed sufficient in nature to bav:e prevented the jury from bringin1 
in a verdict of 11.11lty. l ju t don't think the jury would ever have convicted 
Bowling under tboae circwnatancea, and 1 don't think Bowline should be kept 
in prison. 1 think he is a victim of fal11e identification. 

Thia part of hia alibi baa been checked from time to time. Tbere was a babeas 
corpus llearin1 and at our requeat the FBI made another check. 

The point i tnat the authorities clahn he could have left Vernon aa late as 
eleven o'clock and arrived at the acene of the crime one hundred and twenty ... five 
milea away by one ... fifteen a. m., which waa the time the proaecut1n1 witness 
claimed ahe w aa kidnaped. 

To my mind this ia absurd. 

It i quite apparent that Bowen and hla companion had been toaether for ■ome 
time durin the evenin1. Apparently they had been attracted to Retha McCauley 
and bad followed ner and Bloodworth to the place where the car wa■ parked .. or 
el e Bowen and hie companion were simply prospecting alon1 the road lookina 
for a couple that.were doin1 aome neckin • 

Conaiderin1 the fact that Bowlin&'• car wa an old model car, conaiderin1 the 
condition of the roads at that time. it i inconceivable tbat Bow lin1 could have 
made the trip, could have contacted Bowen. could have hatched plane for kid­
napln and rape and then one out in ear ch of a victim. 

However the cue of the pro■ecution at this point involve a completely contra ... 
dictory premise .. which la that Bowlin1 wu in company with Bowen at a dance 
hall at a place known as "County Line" which i eaat of Duncan., Oklahoma; 
that they were there at about ten p. m. on the date of the crime; that they were 
aeen by witneaaea; that there wa■ aome conversation about a "hot car" which 
was beina driven by Bowen. 

At the requeat of Marsball Houta,one of my associates who i intere■ted in 
inveati1ative work on the Court of Laat Reaort. J. Edgar Hoover ordered a 
reinveaU ation of the caae. Hout alao got in touch with Col. Frank McSherry .. 
U. S. Attorney for the Ea tern Diatrict of Oklahoma. Col. McSberry became 
lntereated in the caae and 1 aubaequently had some conversations with 
Col. McSberry. At his request a aubeequent and complete reinvestigation of 
the caae wu made. 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Chal Wneeler, Esq. 4. January a, 1958 

It ia at tbia point that aomethinl ilappened which concerns me very much. 

The two officers had previously been absolutely positive as to the date and 
approximate time at which they had checked the automobile with the driver who 
bad the Klamath Fall• drivin1 license. They had iven sworn testimony in a 
babea corpua hearin1, they had aianed written statements. While I have no 
definite information it is neverthelea apparently true that at the time of the 
sub equent examinations, when they were approached by investlg tors, the 
officers chan,ed tbeir statements and said that not only could they not ider&ify 
the defendant or bis automobile, but that actually in their own minds tbey 
couldn't be certain whether they had made this check of the car and driver at 
Vernon, Texu on the 27th of April, 1946, or on the 26tn day of April, 1946. 

Thia, in addition to the other facts in the case indicating the attitude of the 
officers. i exceedingly sipificant to me and I frankly think it is indicative of 
an attitude which I definitely don't like. It is a aerioua thin to have a man 
impriaoned for life for a crime he didn't commit. l per onally have put in a 
1reat deal of my time tryin1 to impress upon citizen■ tbe neceaaity of giving 
the police better co-operation and havin1 a better underatandinl of police prob• 
lema. Sometimes it ia a difficult matter to arouse th.e interest of the citizens 
becauae of a feelin that the police are in many instance brutal, biased and 
not worthy of public confidence. 

Throu out the entire record there aeema to be an attitude on the part of the e 
two officers that it would be aometbin in the nature of unprofea ional conduct 
for them to aist a defendant who is accused of crime. 

If these officers made the statement that they couldn •t be certain u to the date 
it ia to my mind very indicative of tbia attitude and a very aiplificant statement. 
They have from time to time over the years been aaked enou1h about this ca e 
and have made enouan definite statements in writin1 and under oath as to the date 
and time so that the matter ahould have been indelibly impre aed upon their memo­
ries or they should have had aufficient mean• to bave refreshed tbeir memorie . 

A• I underatand it 1enerally the proaecut1n1 witness described the automobile, 
and ber description fitted the automobile driven by Bowlin1. Thia automobile 
was, aa I remember it. a 1937 model car. It was hardly one wbich waa capable 
of auatained road peed and if, as 1 further under tand the evidence, Bowen'• 
companion 1ot out and left Bowen in the car it would certainly indicate that if the 
co-defendant had been Bowlin1. and the car had been Bowlin1'•• there waa no 
reason why Bowlin& would have aot out and left Bowen with the car. 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Chal Wheeler. Esq. 5. January J, 1958 

The description of the car given by the complaining witness was. 1 understand, 
quite accurate. On the other hand the description of the person who had 
assaulted her did not coincide at all with liowlina's deticription. For one thing 
she described the man as having ''buck teeth" and that was the prominent 
feature by which she remembered hlm. 

Later on I understand that she told the officers that the man who had assaulted 
her had a peculiar hairline alona hia abdomen. apparently with reference to the 
pubic hair■; althouah it may have been a hairline up and down the abdomen. ln 
any event ahe waa given an opportunity to inspect Bowling's abdomen without 
his knowledge and clinched her identification from that inspection. 

Now tben the point is that thia witness bad been blindfolded durin& much of the 
time. She had never had a good view of Bowen• a co-defendant. but according 
to the view ahe did have she was impressed with his buck teetn. If. after see­
ing Bowlina. ane wanted to "make sure'' by seein1 the hairline on his abdomen 
it ia indicative of the tact that her identification was unworthy of credence. 

Furthermore if we are going to identify Bowling as a criminal becauae of a 
hairline on hi■ abdomen we had better have eome medical testimony as to the 
prevalence of such hairline■ on abdomens. 

Now then we come to a part which indicates to my mind a contradictory rea■on­
in1 on tbe part of the authoritiea. After clabnin1 that it wouldn't make any 
difference if Bowlin1 had been in Vernon at eleven o'clock because be still 
could have committed the crime. the authoritiea then go on to clinch the identi­
fication by making it appear that Bowlin& was with Bowen at the County Line 
dance ball. One Oma Pruitt ■tated that she wa at the dance hall. that Bowling 
asked her to go out with him. Another witness stated she had two dances with 
Bowlin1 and that he asked her to get a girl friend. Another witness. Edna 
Walker, stated that she saw Bowlin1 at the dance hall that night. 

As l gather from the testimony of the witneaaes. Ralph Bloodworth and Retha 
Mccawley were at the dance hall. Apparently Bowen and hi• accomplice muet 
have followed Bloodworth and Retha Mccawley from tbe dance hall with the 
deliberate intention of taldn1 the 1irl away from her escort and subjecting her 
to kidnap and rape. 

1 don't think there is any question but what a sufficient case w aa made out by 
the proaecution as the evidence came in to support a conviction. 

On the other hand it ia my firm conviction that if the attorney representing 
Bowling had 1one ahead and put the two officer& on the stand Bow ling would 
never have been convicted. 
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Chal Wheeler, Esq. January J. 195b 

\Ve have some letters in our file from z. l), Allen which are somewhat indica­
tive of his changing attitude. I think the first time he wrote us he probably 
felt that Bowling was guilty. He had 1one into the case for a somewhat nominal 
fee without realizing tllat it would eventually be tried in a Federal court. He 
ran into a 1.reat deal more work than he had anticipated and 1 think he was pretty 
well convinced by the identification evidence. 

I think later on after we became interested in the case and pointed out to him the 
ai1nificance of U1e testimony of Ule two police officers he be1an to change nis 
attitude. 

Apparently Mr. Allen ia a very nigh-class attorney. I think he fixed a fee predi­
cated on U1e idea that he would have to try the case in a local court. I think by 
the time he wound up he probably didn't get any more than expenses out of it, 
and 1 think that he made a mistake in judgment in not putting the two officers on 
the stand. 

1 have seen enough of evidence of mistaken identification to feel tllat in this case 
Bowen was ,uilty and that a mistake in the identification of Bowen's accomplice 
waa made by the complainin& witnesses, as well as by the other persons at the 
dance ball. 

1 personally inveati ated a case a couple of years aao where there had been a 
mistaken identification made by two very conscientious, reputable witnesses 
(a husband and wife). On the very evening the crime was committed the husband 
and wile were taken to police headquarters, were placed in separate divisions 
and 1iven a eriea of 11mu1 &hots" to look at. One of them was looking through 
a modus operandi file and the other was looking throup a narcotics file in that 
there wa• evidence indicatin1 the guilty person had been a user of narcotics. 

Both the husband and the wife. actin1 independently and without any communica­
tion, picked the same photograph, one from the modus operandi boo~ the other 
from the narcotics book. Both of them swore that beyond question this was the 
man who had perpetrated the crime. That was on the very evening the crime 
was committed. A few days later the man they had identified was picked up and 
both witneaaea unhesitatingly identified him. Tbe man was tried and convicted. 
sentenced to priaon on a lon1 term and be1an serving hia terrn. Sometime later 
the district attorney be1an to receive information which indicated another per on 
had perpetrated the crime. He finally located tbis person, who confessed. The 
huaband and wile were confronted with this new person and made a positive identi­
fication. 

1 have a tape-recorded interview with the wife in the case who explained to me 
how it had happened. When tbey saw the man who was convicted they were posi­
tive he was the one, but when they aaw the real culprit they were even more 
positive. Thia woman went on to state that she has read in the paper about 
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Chal W beeler, Eaq. 1. January J, 195li 

persona who have made identification after a lapse of time and that she doesn't 
see how they can do it. She said that both her husband and herself had made 
an identification on the very night o! the crime and both of them bad been mis­
taken. 

Now 1 want to do everythinl 1 can in tbis caae to llelp. Aa 1 have mentioned, 
1 don't tbink it would be advisable for me to appear as an attorney of record 
because thia ia a case in which the Court of Last Reaort ls interested and we 
will probably give it some con iderable publicity aft r the defendant has 
exhausted all legal remedle • We don't publlclt.e -.-7.ae prior to that time 
because we feel this would be considered an unethical attempt to influence 
the courta. 

On the other band if either Judge Rice or Judge Wallace feel that my presence 
as amicua curiae would be tielpful I will endeavor to be preaent, althouan ript 
at the moment because of television commitmenta and ill health 1 am forced to 
curtail my outaide activities and it may be it would be impossible for me to be 
preaent. 1 can't tell until after a hearin1 date naa been set and after 1 know 
how 1 feel at tnat time and tbe n ture of the urgent commitments which are 
takin1 so much of my time. 

1 am also frank to atate that after you 1et acceaa to the FBI reports it may 
well be that 1 will cbanae my mind aa to Bowlin ' pill. However. from the 
atudy 1 bave made of the ca e wbich h been somewhat exten ive and over a 
long period of time_. 1 am pretty firmly convinced that Bowlln1 ia innocent 
and hould never have been convicted in the fir at place. 

I f el that Bow ling w a■ a character who had been livin1 on the border line and 
be bad evidently been engaged in rumrunning and probably in hipjackin1. but 
at tbe preaent time 1 simply don't think he ill guilty of tbia crime and I think 
bis conviction repreaenta a mi carria1e of justice. 

My files are rather volwninoua and I am afraid contain but little that would 
be of real aaaiatance to you. 1 nave corresponded with J. Ed ar Hoover, 
with Hon. James V. Bennett, Director Department of Justice, Bureau of 
Priaon■• Col. McSllerry and varioua other individuals concernin; the matter. 

I trust you will keep me poated and let me know in what way 1 can be of 
aaaiatance. 

Sincerely yours. 

.ESG:ha 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Chal Wheeler, Esq. 8. January 3, 1958 

P. S. Your letter has just been received and apparently you have the situation 
well in hand. 

At the moment the Court of Last Resort does not have any fund available. 
There have been so many demands on ARGOSY Magazine of late in connection 
with cases investigated that I don't like to ask them for any contributions 
but, as mentioned in the letter, my personal check for $200 will doubtless be 
of some help. 

I am exceedingly annoyed with the official attitude that Bowling could have been 
at Vernon, Texas and then got to the scene of the crime in time to have per­
petrated it. 

If the Government won't concede that Bowling was at Vernon, how can they 
possibly account for the fact Bowling knew two officers had checked a motorist's 
registration, had found a driving licenae i sued from Klamath Falls, and had 
commented it was the first time they had checked such a license? The math­
ematical chances of any other person being at that place at that time with a 
driving license issued from Klamath Falla would be about one in a million. 

If the Government concedes that Bowling was at that place at that time, and 
then tries to go on to prove that Bowling could have driven to the scene of the 
crime in time to have committed it, the Government muat of neceasity admit 
that the positive identification of all of the witnesaes who claimed they saw Bowling 
in the County Line dance hall is the result of mistaken identification. 

If all those witnesses could have confused the appearance of Bowling with that of 
some other individual, it is certainly probable that the proaecuting witness could 
have made a similar mistake. 

At some point, when this case is finished, I intend to give it very considerable 
publicity because I think it ia typical of the type of blind prejudice which one 
encounters on the part of some officials when trying to rectify an inju tice. 

If those two officers had been put on the atand at the time of the trial and the 
defendant's attorney had simply gone to the jury with the argument that Bowling 
had a driving license issued from Klamath Falls, that the possibility of any other 
person having such a license being at Vernon, Texas on the date in question was 
more than one in a million, that even if auch person had been there the pos­
sibility that he would in turn have been acquainted with Bowling and that Bowling 
could have learned from him what the officers had said was another one in a 
million chance, I don't think there's any possibility any fair-minded jury would 
have brought in a verdict of guilty, 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

bhal Wheeler, Esq. 9. January 3. 1958 

I think the ttorney became confused because he felt that he had to eatabli h 
Bowlin&' alibi by posiUve proof and becauae he couldn't get the identification 
he felt the two officers, ho were manife tly unwilling witneaae , would do 
him no aood. Aa I ve stated. I think it a a uajor mi tak in jud ment. 

E. S. G. 

ESG:hr 



Mr. Alex Lee Gregory 
14418 Penrod Road 
Detroit 23, Michigan 

Dear Alex: 

ERL~ STANLEY GARDNER 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Ttm«ula, C,l!fomia 

October 2, 1959 

This is a rather comprehensive letter. I am putting it on the duplicating 
machine and Sending copies to J. Edgar Hoover; Reed Cozart, Colonel 
McSherry, Jim Bennett, Chal Wheeler, Ed Silver, J. St. Clair Favrot, 
Andy Wilcoxen, Granville S1::anland, and to all of our associates, because 
I want everyone to be advised of what we are trying to do and how we 
propose to go about it. 

I am enclosing copy of letter from Jim Bennett giving permission for you 
to examine Marion Bowling and suggesting that you have Dr. James Baker 
present; a request which I feel sure will be in line with your own sugges­
tion that it might be a good plan to have some other polygraph expert 
with you. 

I think you understand. the facts in the Bowling case well enough to formu­
late your questions, but there are certain ideas I would like to check with 
you. 

In my opinion Bowling should never have been convicted. 

There are inherent contradictions in the evidence of the prosecuting 
witness which, if they had been called to the attention of the jury by 
proper cross-examination, would have caused her either to change her 
story or would have trapped her in hopeless contradictions. 

If the blindfold had been put on when she said and kept on during the time 
she said, she could never have seen the pubic hairline of the. man she 
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identified as Bowling. Her testimony after thirty-odd pages of cross­
examination about a gag having been put in her mouth and then her 
explanation that it was removed from time to time only to be replaced, 
together with her explanation as to why she hadn't mentioned the gag when 
she testified about what had happened, the contradictions about the blind­
fold, etc., all indicate not only inherent improbabilities in her story, 
but the fact that she had been told by someone that she was not to mention 
the gag unless defense counsel specifically asked her about it. 

Her testimony about the guns, the fact that her companion saw no guns, 
the fact that Bowen had no gun with him when he was arrested, are all 
factors which would, in my opinion, have influenced a jury if they had 
been emphasized. 

If the claim was made that Bowen would have thrown this gun away because 
it would have been incriminating evidence, then why did he keep the girl's 
ring in his pocket, which was the most incriminating evidence of all? 

It is now apparent that if Bowling's attorney had given Officer James a 
chance to talk with Bowling, James would have testified that beyond any 
shadow of doubt Bowling was the man he had stopped in Vernon, Texas 
and therefore Bowling couldn't possibly have been at the dance hall at the 
times mentioned, and probably couldn't even have reached the scene of 
the crime in time to have participated in it, bearing in mind the condition 
of his car and of the roads at that time. 

In short, I feel Bowling should never have been convicted, and despite 
Judge Wallace's ruling, I feel his motion should have been granted. 

However, we are now faced with another and entirely different question. 

The Government has given permission for you to examine Bowling on 
the polygraph. 

Just to keep the record straight, it is my understanding that the so-called 
lie detector does not detect lies. that no machine is capable of doing this, 
that the polygraph does. however, detect emotional disturbances and in 
doing that is infallible. It is impossible for the person to have an 
emotional disturbance without affecting in some way his respiration, 
skin conductivity, pulse and blood pressure, or at least some of them. 

The big question about lie detectors is whether it is possible for some 
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persons to lie without having any emotional disturbances. That, in 
turn, goes back to the question of whether the subject feels his lies are 
apt to be undetected. 

Therefore the effectiveness of a polygraph examination depends in large 
part on the manner in which the examiner is able to understand the 
temperament of the subject and impress upon the subject the infallibility 
of the test. There are also, of course, numerous other factors. 

Some persons register guilt complexes so obviously a mere novice could 
interpret the graphs. Some of them are so difficult that an expert has to 
run repeated tests and in a certain percentage of cases (the exact per­
centage is, I understand, a matter of dispute) even the best experts are 
unable to be positive of their findings. 

The fact that the subject may react to a test question while not reacting 
to so-called significant questions is the trap into which the novice falls, 
and is the reason one polygraph expert doesn't want to reach an opinion 
on the graph of another examiner and accounts for the fact that inexperi­
enced examiners have sometimes certified a person to be innocent when 
he is in fact guilty. 

This. I think, accounts for the reason that so many law enforcement 
agencies discount polygraph examinations. I know enough about the 
polygraph to know there is nothing that can take the place of long experi­
ence and an accurate understanding of the subject psychology. 

I have had enough experience with you over the years so that I have just 
about unlimited confidence in your opinions if the circumstances are 
such you are willing to give an opinion; and if they aren't and you say 
that you can't reach a definite conclusion, my confidence in you and your 
methods is such that I would distrust a definite opinion reached by anyone 
else. 

Therefore, as I see this Bowling case, we have a man convicted under 
such circumstances that his convicti~n comes as a shock to the average 
intelligent citizen (and I have tested this by having some rather 
influential businessmen study the transcript and the briefs). On the 
other hand, we have had one case where the right man was convicted on 
the wrong evidence, as you so convincingly established. (The ironical 
part of this is that while you established the man's guilt and got a 
confession, many people think it represents a "failure" of the Court of 
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Last Resort simply because we had asked to be allowed to conduct the 
examination.) 

This Bowling case may be another case where the right man was con­
victed on the wrong evidence. 

Despite the comments of our detractors, the success of our group over 
a period of years has been due primarily to the fact that we have been 
able to keep open minds. Prosecutors tend to discount any evidence 
indicating innocence. The defense attorney tends to dismiss all evidence 
indicating guilt, and therefore it sometimes happens neither attorney is 
in a position to interpret correctly some of the significant evidence in 
the transcript, which, when properly understood, turns out to be 
determinative of the question of guilt or innocence. 

I think this was demonstrated in the Lindley case where the State Supreme 
Court took immediate action when we called attention to the real signifi­
cance of certain evidence in the transcript which had gone fueretofore 
unnoticed. I think it was true of the Brite Brothers case and probably 
of several others. 

Now when we approach this Bowling case with an open mind there are 
certain things which become apparent. 

Bowen. accompanied by a companion whom I will call Mr. X, approached 
a parked car some time after one o'clock in the morning, the 27th day 
of April, 1946. A couple, Ruth and Ralph, were in the back seat of the 
car. Another couple who had been in the car had left about fifteen 
minutes earlier to "take a walk" down the road. 

Ruth and Ralph contend they were sitting in the back seat just talking 
and were fully dressed at the time. 

Bowen and Mr. X approached the car, apparently stated they were FBI 
agents, that the girl was going to have to go through a clinic and that 
Ralph was going to be detained in connection with some bootlegging 
activities. 

Ruth swears the men had guns. Ralph, obviously not wishing to contra­
dict her. simply says he did not see any guns. It is obvious that if the 
men had had guns he would have seen them. 

Ralph was assaulted apparently with a claw hammer and probably per-
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mitted to escape in accordance with the over-all plan. It seems some­
what improbable that if murder had been planned, he would not have 
been killed. 

There follows a story of gags and blindfolds and natural and unnatural 
intercourse, which to my mind is contradictory and implausible. 

Now we come to the part of the case which I simply can't understand. 

According to Ruth's testimony, the statement was made that the car 
they were riding in had been stolen and must be returned before the 
owners missed it; that Mr. X therefore drove off in the car and Bowen 
forced her to crawl through a barbed wire fence while she had nothing 
on except a pair of shoes. 

The physical facts indicate there is an element of truth in parts of this 
story, and yet it is almost impossible to credit facts of this sort under 
the circumstances. 

One needs only to put himself in Bowen's position to realize how utterly 
incredible such a situation would be. Bowen had apparently kidnaped 
and raped a young woman. He had most certainly assaulted her escort 
with a deadly wreapon. The keen edge of his sexual desires had been re­
moved by repeated acts of intercourse. With the approach of daylight 
he must have realized that Ralph had by that time given the alarm and 
that officers would be searching the roads. Yet in place of throwing 
Ruth out of the car, or leaving her bound and gagged where she wouldn't 
be discovered for a while, or killing her, he permitted Mr. X to drive 
off with the car and leave Bowen and Ruth in an open field within a 
hundred yards of the road. 

Why? 

To my mind there are only two reasons which could have accounted for 
his conduct. One is that he intended to kill Ruth and leave her body 
where it would not be discovered until he had made his escape. The 
other reason is that Ruth had convinced him she was not at all angry at 
what had happened and that after commercial transportation became 
available she would accompany him voluntarily. 

If Bowen had intended to kill Ruth, why didn't he do so while he had a 
getaway car available? 
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Would any man have added to the terrific risk Bowen was facing simply 
for the purpose of giving his satiated sex appetite one more fling? 
Nevertheless, Bowen must have planned to murder Ruth, yet must have 
intended to let the getaway car go, leaving Bowen with his telltale 
bloody shirt to wait for a bus. 

However, for the purposes of this test, we are concerned with this 
only insofar as it affects Mr. X. 

There must have been some compelling reason why Mr. X started off 
with the car at daylight, just as there must have been some compelling 
reason, which we don't understand from the evidence at present, why 
Bowen elected to remain with Ruth and with no means of transportation 
for his escape. 

My best guess is that Mr. X was married. I don't think the story of the 
stolen car is nearly as plausible as a reason for his departure at daylight. 

We must bear in mind, therefore, that if Mr. X was married, was 
driving his own car and had to be back by daylight, we have established 
a pattern which would in general be consistent with the guilt of Marion 
Bowling. 

However, it is to be noted that the evidence indicates Mr. X did not take 
off until either broad daylight, or until such an hour that he could not 
possibly have reached Wichita Falls until well after broad daylight. 
Ruth's testimony is that the blindfold was on so tight she couldn't tell 
whether it was day or night. {Something which I consider absurd and 
which is contradicted by her other testimony that she could see through 
the bottom of the blindfold. ) She was forced to climb through a barbed 
wire fence wearing nothing except shoes, with the blindfold still on. 
She was escorted into a field, the blindfold was removed shortly there­
after and it was broad daylight at that time. 

Mr. Malone of the FBI has suggested that Mrs. Bowling might have been 
convinced her husband was home and in bed with her when he actually 
was elsewhere; that this could have been accomplished by having 
Bowling get into bed and tell her it was one o'clock when actually it was 
much later. 

I am willing to stick my neck out that it would have been impossible for 
Bowling to have done this. If Bowling was Mr. X, he couldn't possibly 
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have reached his home, as I understand the topography, before broad 
daylight. He might have been there in time to deceive the children at 
breakfast, but I don't think it possible that he could have been Mr. X 
without Mrs. Bowling at least stretching the truth when she states she 
knows he was in bed with her some time after one o'clock that night. 

We come now to the next factor in the case which we must consider 
carefully and that is the alibi at Vernon, Texas. 

The officers stated that they could not possibly identify the man they had 
stopped. At a later date Officer James made a statement that if he could 
see Bowling seated behind the steering wheel of an automobile he might 
be able to make such identification. 

Later on he stated that if Bowling could point to the exact place where he 
had been stopped he would say, without doubt, that Bowling was the man. 

Apparently Bowling, therefore, had a general resemblance to the man he 
stopped, but James could not make a positive identification from personal 
inspection. 

Subsequently, after James had interrogated Bowling in detail, he became 
completely convinced Bowling was the man he had stopped. But bear in 
mind that this so-called identification was predicated almost entirely on 
Bowling's knowledge of what had happened at the place, where the offi­
cers had stood, what they had said, the mode of procedure, etc. 

While it is highly improbable it is, nevertheless, possible that Bowling, 
who came from Klamath Falls, could have been associated in rum 
running with some friend, who under the circumstances would quite 
probably have come from Klamath Falls; that Bowling's friend could 
have been stopped by the officers and because of the business association 
could have communicated and would have communicated the facts to 
Bowling in the greatest detail, and that, therefore, Bowling would have 
had this knowledge and, if he had been Mr. X, might well have used this 
knowledge to substantiatean alibi after he had been "identified" in 
connection with the rape. 

Therefore, Alex, if we approach this case at thiss;age with a wide-open 
mind, certain things become important. We want to find out whether 
Mrs. Bowling is telling the truth, we want to find out whether Marion 
Bowling has any guilty knowledge of the abduction, just how well he knew 
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Bowen prior to the crime. whether he made an attempt to deceive his 
wife as to the time of his return, or whether he and his wife both united 
in an effort to deceive the other members of the household. 

And if your examination should convince you Bowling is guilty, simply in 
the interests of law enforcement and the scientific appraisal of alibi evi­
dence, it would be of the greatest value to learn just how Bowling knew of 
the activity of the officers in stopping a man with a Klamath Falls driving 
license at Vernon, Texas. 

You will probably have a pretty good idea whether Bowling is guilty or 
innocent somewhat early in the game. If you feel he is guilty, stay with 
the guy until you get a confession if it is humanly possible, and in connec­
tion with that confession let's find out exactly what did happen in connection 
with the rape and in connection with the alibi, whether it was intended for 
Bowen to kill the girl, or whether Ruth led him to believe that she wouldn't 
make any complaint and he wanted to stay with her. 

There is one other point I want to bring up, although I know you are always 
on the alert for it, and that is the question of medication. 

I mention this because Bowling told me that another convict had given him 
a hypodermic a short time before Marsh Houts and I interviewed him at 
Leavenworth. He was receiving hypodermics as part of treatment for a 
physical condition (arthritis of the spine, I think) but he professed not to 
know whether this hypodermic was a part of that treatment or not. Where 
we have convict nurses there is always the possibility that some medica­
tion might be administered surreptitiously. 

I am setting forth my ideas in great detail here because I am sending copies 
of the letter to various parties who are interested, and it may well be some 
of those parties will wish to consider these factors and then add suggestions 
as to points on which they would like to have Bowling interrogated. 

It is very possible that Dr. LeMoyne Snyder will have some suggestions, 
or might even care to arrange to be present at the time of the examination. 

I don't know enough about the actual mechanics to know how much of this 
you can incorporate in your examination, but they are factors which you 
should keep in mind. And if you come to the conclusion Bowling is guilty, 
they are very, very important factors to be cleared up simply in the 
interests of good law enforcement. 
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I take it that you are willing to donate your time on this, and I will reim­
burse you for your expenses. Or, if you don't care to donate your time, 
I will handle it on a regular assignment basis at your regular rates. 

I would suggest that you make a report to the FBI, to Reed Cozart, to 
Marion Bowling 1s attorney, to Colonel Frank McSherry, and to me. 

If Bowling is innocent, a great wrong has been done him. If he is guilty, 
I still think he is the victim of a legal wrong, but we are not interested 

, in that. As far as we are concerned, our only interest in the matter is 
' predicated on the assumption an innocent man has been wrongfully con­

victed of a crime of which he knew nothing. 

As mentioned in Jim Bennett's letter, you will of course get in touch with 
Warden Taylor; and I presume Dr. Baker, to fix a date, and I feel that you 
should have Mrs. Bowling come to Leavenworth so you can run her at the 
same time, or should run her in Wichita Falls, as a part of the same trip, 

All the best in the world, 

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

Yours, 
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Hon. James V. Bennett, Director 
Bureau of Prisons 
Department of Justice 
Washington 25, D. C. 

Dear Jim: 

ERL~ STANLEY GARDNER. 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula, Cal!fomia 

October 2, 1959 

Marion I. Bowling, #63951-L 
Leavenworth, Kansas 

This is just a brief ackno-.vledgment of your letter of September 25th and 
also to say thanks for your consideration. 

I am enclosing a copy of my rather extensive letter to Alex Gregory 
setting forth my ideas in regard to the case. Copies of this letter will 
also be sent to J. Edgar Hoover, Reed Cozart, Colonel McSherry and 
Chal Wheeler as well as to my associates. 

This case is a puzzling one. The guy should never have been convicted in 
the first place; first, because sufficient alibi evidence should have been 
produced by the officers to result in an acquittal and, secondly, because 
the inherent contradictions and improbabilities in the story of the prosecu­
ting witness should have been called to the attention of the jury, 

However, that is not the question which confronts us-at this time. What 
we want to know right now is whether this fellow is guilty or innocent. If 
he ia g~ilty he should have a kick in the rump for the me.rry chase he has 
led us, although you can't blame a guy for trying. If he is innocent the 
Government should, be the one to see that he is liberated, and despite the 
fact we have done a l~ttle prodding from time to time, for the sake of the 
record, the Government should do this on its own motion. 

The trouble with the case is that when the average citizen realizes the type 
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of evidence on which Bowling was convicted and the subsequent develop­
ments in the case it comes to him with something of a shock. 

However, as you will note from the copy of my letter to Gregory, there 
is a darn good possibility that this fellow may be guilty despite the fact 
the strong probabilities are that he is innocent and from a legal standpoint 
should never have been convicted in the first place. 

I'm quite sure Alex Gregory will be only too glad to have Dr. James Baker 
sit in with him on all proceedings. In fact, Gregory suggested that it 
might be a good plan to have someone along with him at the time. 

You keep reading the Gardner stories and I'll keep writing them and in that 
way we'll divide the labor. 

Thanks a lot, Jim. I think we can get this one straightened out. I know 
one thing: If Bowling is guilty Alex Gregory will call the turn and will 
probably get a confession. I have a lot of confidence in Alex's judgment. 

All my best, 

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

--



ERLE STANLEY GARDNER. 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula, California 

October 26th, 1959 

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: LEMOYNE SNYDER 
ALEX LEE GREGORY 

You should bear in mind certain essential features in connection with 
the Bowling caseo 

On the night of April 27th, 1946, Retha McCauley was working at the 
Faith Cafe on North Ninth Street in Duncan, Oklahomao She was twenty­
three years of age at the tirr.eo She got off work at 10:00 o'clock 
and met Ralph Bloodworth. She was not engaged to be married to him 
at the time but at the time of the trial, she was engaged and I under­
stand they are now married and living together as husband and wifeo 

After Retha, who is also known as Ruth, got off work, they picked up 
another couple, Frank Gossnell and Mae Bakero They drove out east 
of Duncan and sometime after 1:00 o'clock in the mornin& turned off 
on a dirt road and parkedo 

The other couple got out without any explanation as to where they 
were going and started off in the darknesso Ruth and Ralph were on 
the back seat of the caro There is, of course, a question which was 
raised at the time of trial, or sought to be raised, as to what they 
were doing and whether Ruth had her clothes on or offo She swore 
that she had them on (she was wearing slacks)o 

After they had been there some fifteen minutes, a car drove up along­
side. Apparently there is no question but one of the persons in that 
car was Foster Boweno The other one is claimed by the government to 
have been Marion Bowlingo We will refer to Bowen's companion as Mro 
Xo 

According to Ruth's storyj Bowen and Mro X forced them at gunpoint to 
leave Ralph's car and go with the two meno The two men drove down to 
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a point south of Addington, then turned off on a dirt road and Ruth 
was blindfolded at that time. Ralph was advised that the officers 
(the two men claimed to be FBI officers) wanted him to go with them to 
help in getting a suspect out of the houseo 

They walked down the road .. Ralph was clubbed with a claw hammer anc. 
escapedo 

Ruth's story becomes hopelessly contradictory at this pointo At one 
ti~e she said she wastlindfolded before Ralph was assaultedo In fact, 
she insists that she was blindfolded just as soon as they turned off 
the road south of Addington .. 

By inference it would appear that Mr. X was with her part of the time 
while Bowen was assaulting Ralph and at other times she stated that 
Mro X would start to help Bowen whenever it Deemed Ralph was getting 
the best of the struggleo At one time, she ad~itted she was left 
alone in the car while Mro X went to help Boweno 

Mr o X returned while she was still blindfolded, and und1'essed and 
helped her to undress then, according to her testimony, put a gun in 
her side and raped hero 

Ralph's testimony is no particular value because he admitted that he 
never got a good look at Bowen's companion and didn't think he could 
identify him, although after Bowling had been arrested, he did iden­
tify Bowling as Mro X .. 

Ralph stated tha~he saw no guns at any time and Ruth was positive 
that the men had guns that were just alike and that they held these 
guns on them .. 

The story of the blindfold becomes hopelessly confused .. At one time, 
Ruth intimated they had removed the blindfold for a b~ief interval. 
At other times, she swore positively the blindfold was never taken off 
until broad daylighto At times she stated positively the blindfold 
was on so tight she couldn't look down her n6se and see whether it was 
~aylight or dark. At other times, she testified that she was able to 
look down along her nose through the bottom of the blindfold and see 
the bottom of the car. 

Mr. X put his clothes on. Ruth was driven south of Addington along 
the highway and from time to time along the road and in the car, the 
men too~ turns coming to the back seat and having intercourse with hero 
This intercourse was described as both natural and 11 unnatural 11

, parti­
cularly on the part of Bowen. 

After they arrived at a point south of Addington and across the river 
and into the state of Texas at a time which is indefinite,because 
Ruth said she couldn't tell whether it was daylight or dark on account 
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of the blindfoldo Mr. X had both natural and unnatural intercourse 
with her and left her with Bowen. She was nalrnd at the time except 
for her shoeso She was blindfoldedo 

According to her story, Bowen forced her to crawl through a burbed 
wire fence while she was in the nude, took her a hundred yards or so 
up into a field and then told her she could take the blindfold off. 
At that time, it was broad daylight. 

Bowen had intercourse with her there apparently several times and 
finally she made up her mind that if she was going to be killed, she 
would rather die before submitting to further indignities and m2.de a 
dash for the road. 

Dy that time, Bowen bad permitted her to put her clothes ono 

She stopped people driving along the highway who testified that she 
was in an exceedingly nervous con.di tion o They too le her home and 
gave her a bath and called the officers. 

The officers went to the bus station at the nearest town which was 
a place called Ringgold and apparently was some seven or eight miles 
south of the Texas-Oklahoma lineo There they found Bowen waiting 
for a buso In bis pocket he had tbe class ring of Ruth McCauley and 
his shirt was bloodstainedo 

Marion Bowling was about thirty at the timeo When he was nineteen, 
be had been arrested and charged with rapeo Accounts vary as to 
what happened in connection 1\litb that charge o Apparently the Grand 
Jury refused to indicto Frank McSberry, the prosecutor~ stated in 
his brief that it was because the girl's parents didn't want to ex­
pose her to the notoriety of pressing the chargeo Bowling and the 
attorney who represented Bowling state that the charge was a complete 
frame-up and was an attempt on the part of certain persons engaged 
in bootlegging to get Marion Bowling put away. 

Apparently, Marion Bowling was doing some rumrunning at one stage of 
his career and may probably have been engaged in that practice while 
he was working as a carpenter and immediately prior to the date of 
the crime o 

Shortly after the date of the crime, Bowling wrenched his back and 
was taken to a bospitale 

Apparently the officers, knowing that Bowen resided in Wichita Fallsi 
started looking through the files of every person who bad had a 
record in connection with a sex case and showed these pictures to 
Ruth McCauley 
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There can be no question but what Ruth saw Bowling's picture and 
passed it up without making an identification. 

It is not known what caused her to return to the picture but after 
she had apparently made a tentative identification of one other 
suspect and it turned out he was not ·the man,she returned to Bowling's 
picture as the second choice and the officers went to the hospital, 
accompanied by Ruth and Ralph,and there while Bowling was lying on 
the bed, he was identified by Ruth and Ralph. 

Subsequently, Bowling's car was identified. 

It is difficult to tell how this identification took place. 
was parked in front of the hospital when it was identified. 
Bowling had driven it to the hospital. She states that the 
of officers, accompanied by Ruth and Ralph, were just leaving 
hospital when she drove up; that they stopped her and asked 
she was Mrs. Bowling and then started checking her car. 

The car 
Mrs. 

party 
the 
her if 

Sheriff Cates is presently of the opinion that this did not happen 
at all. That Mrs. Bowling arrived at the hospital while they were 
still in Marion's room; that they then went down to look over the cars 
parked in the yard and Ruth picked out the car. Cates also believes 
that Ruth told him, "When you look in that car, you will find a car­
penter's square in the back on the flooro 11 

They went to the car and found the carpenter's squareo 

Cates• sworn testimony at the time of the trial, however, was that 
he was looking for a claw hammer and a blanket when he went to the 
car and that he found a squareo 

The case is filled with hopeless contradictions and inconsistencies. 

The big factor in the case, of course; is that Bowling's statement 
that between ten and eleven on the Saturday night in question, he 
was in Vernon, Texas and was there stopped by officers who checlced 
his driving license, remarking that it was the only driving license 
from Klamath Falls they had ever checked. 

Bowling had a driving license from Klamath Falls. He has described 
what happened at Vernon, Texas with such minute detail that he has 
convinced the officer who made the check that Bowling must have been 
the man he stopped. Bowling's testimony as to how he was dressed, 
the type of car he was driving, where the officers stood, what they 
said, etc., etc. all check with such minute detail that it is certain 
Bowling was the man who was stopped at that time or is so intimately 
acquainted with the man who was stopped that he qas carefully prepared 
an alibi. It would be highly interesting as far as law enforcement is 
concerned and good investigative technique to find out just how this 
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alibi was prepared in the event it is not a genuine alibi. 

It seems almost certain that Bowen spent the evening at the dance 
hall, known as the County Line Dance Hall, which apparently was 
near Duncan, Oklahoma, within a distance of some ten or fifteen 
miles, and was accompanied by some companion. There can be no 
question, according to the testimon~ of the witnesses for the 
prosecution that at the very time the officers were stopping some­
one with a Klamath Falls drivins license in Vernon, Texas, Bowen 
and his companion, whoever that companion was, were in this dance 
hallo 

It was assumed by the government at the time of trial and undoubted­
ly was the theory of the jurors when they returned the verdict of 
guilty, that Bowen's companion at the dance hall was the same man 
who participated in the rape. 

Two or three witnesses identified Bowling as being Bowen's companion. 

It now appears, however, that a deputy sheriff who was in charge of 
keeping order at the dance that Saturday night, was brought to see 
Bowen and Bowling when they were in jail and stated that Bowen was 
one of the men who had been at the dance hall but that Bowling was 
not. 

Apparently this testimony was suppressed by the government and Bowling 
was never advised of it. 

Apparently quite a few other people were brought to the jail for the 
purpose of identifying Bowen and Bowling and some of them either re­
fused to make the identification or stated positively that Bowling 
was not the man. Bowling states he tried to get the names of these 
peo~le but that the officers refused to allow the persons to give him 
their names and hustled thew out of the jailo 

It is apparent from an examination of the transcript that nuth McCauley 
had either been carefully coached or had a peculiar nack of with­
holding significant details which were inconsistent with her storyo 
For instance, it wasn't until after many pages of cross-examination 
and in response to a direct question as to whether she had been gagged, 
she admitted a gag had been placed in her mouth. Then apparentlJ7 

realizing that this was inconsistent with her testimony in part, she 
stated that the men would take the gag out whenever it suited their 
purpose to do so and then place it back in her mouth. 

When asked why she hadn 1 t told &bout the gi.g on her direct testimony 
OI' explained it sooner on cross-ex.amii'1a tion, she said that she badn I t 
been specifically asked about it. 
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Ruth ~ate& to the officers that the man whom she identified as 
Bowling had h~d all of bis clothes off and she had scratched him for 
all she was wortho There were no scratch narks on Bowling. 

Before Bowling was apprehended, she described Bowen's companion to 
the officers and emphasized the fact that he either bed no front 
teeth or that there was something peculiar about his mouth. She 
mentioned this several times. 

Bowling has his teeth and there was nothing peculiar about his mouth. 

It is an interesting sidelight on what must have happened, no·matter how 
it . h~ppened, that Bowen was perfectly willing to let his companion 
Mro X drive off with the car which offered his sole means of escape. 

After the arrest and at the time of trial, Bowen's attorney tried to 
plead him guilty but the judge refused to let him plead on the gr ound 

· that it was a death penalty case. 

There are intimations that Bowen would tell a story if given an 
opportunity, to the effect that after they drove up alongside, and 
probably after they had assaulted Ralph Bloodworth, Ruth was quite 
willing to change escorts. 

If it should turn out that Bowling was with Bowen on the night of the 
crime, the best way of getting him to confess is to br~out this 
phase of the case and ask him whether Ruth was telling the truth, 
stating that it might make a great deal of difference and that it 
is important to get the real story of what happened and then check 
him on the polygraph to see if he is telling the truth about this 
storyo 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

ESG:hm 
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th t th ch ne i s. ,. : rfall b t- n. ,,t it can vu·tu Uv rt;ad h i 
nd.. The u b .1 ec i · n~ r ~ ,- cl f ,~ 1 b i s i n var i ou s v t' 1 most 1: 

by h ving hf .f> l · t . ,me, h n ~.~~t; the poly .~; a ph show, I) 

hi own r e c1i on , ha h ha;:; p icked out. 

For inetance, m ic . ~ mJner in ~rizona who quite a god 
polygr ph examiner told rae of ll a. h inve ti gated , he e rried 
wo n iapl di appeared . T , hu t.., rl . . at t'! tha t he wa accu omed 
to l ving hi for ~rying p e i d f t and tha t he had no dou t 

he out with omP ther ma tl h up w n he go t r ead • 
to com ho ~ H a a ked if mind taking a polygraph 
exalli tion and aid, 11 Cer a inl not." . The p olygraph examination 

bowed p rf ct pattern o a man wh o had kill d hi wife an cretPd 
th bod,J. Th y .were, tr ing to g t a confession out of him when the 
wit r tlll"n d hoe al i ve and ell a nd had done jut wbat he claimed 
-•b had done - run off with another man for while. 

ha ever explained this, but the examiner t hink perhaps the 
n d been intending to kill his wife and this .n d caused an 

motion 1 disturbance.· 

A..n xaain r, three or f our w ago in Minnesota, told me of an 
int r sting o s wh r h wa a in· n non a ra e ca e. Th 
reaction of th indf dual ed unm a bly that h wa guilty 
of tb rape, but the n tear~ully p oo l ai ed ~is innoce~c so co -
vinoingl.y t t the ex in r ran him over and over on the naach ne , 
alway witb th sa re ult . • n 11.)' th m ·n broke down and conf es.sed 
that be had been guilty of a r p und r imilar circum tances in San 
Franoieoo o e years arli r ; hath h d n ver been d t ct d and when­
ever the eircu t nc · f thl Iinne o A rape wer brought to hi 
attention h couldn' re it hink ng with horror of wha h h.ad don 
in San Francisco. 

Tbe av r ge op rator or ex miner, seeing hi reacti ns on the polygraph, 
wou l4 lave proaounced hira ·guilt,y of the irme1ota rape beyond any 
ques t i on.-

Then, or oou.r e, ince innoc enc s a li hed simpl b the failure 
to hav ny signific n re ctt on, t he examiner ca1 only tel l wheth r 
or not h is exa11in ng a pers n wh o ha ne vous te W'hich do not 
r pond by sking a o- c a ,1 d cont o l que tion, u h a , I am now going 
to ••k ou very e b rra lng per ona l qu· tion.H If the ~bj ct re­
apond.a with incr ase i.n b od r e ure and evidence of apprehen ion to 
that_ th examiner a ume that h i r ea or nd th nega t1 record 
indioatea that he i innoc 

Ther i Qo question but what th · has occa ion to 
state■ents that a guilt 1 person ·s innoc nt becau o e people may 
r act to the control quest on re t contro th lr r act on th 
ignific nt qu tion . I probabl hould c ang a ecau I.doubt 

if ny people can ontrol their reo tion ; tt ·i l y th fact that 
om p opl don't h ve r action of prehension .r ~ on or 
noth r hen bing qu tioned about par icular bu ma react 

to th o·ontrol qu st ~on 



Quit o iously, pers,,n:- wh c- have h(• ~n subJ$>cted t o repeated police 
interrog tion over a per1od of ye s s~t up a sort f defensive 
■eo nis o that they don't orcliaarily react the w-ay the average · 
per i:Jn will. 

So r■on are such good reactors that anyone can read the graph 
of·tbe chine and form an accurate opinion. 

We a int re ting c e ear or so ago. The thing actu 11.y 
started• oat ·two or tbre y ars ago when rden told e he bad 

n i p~ison who ght b i nn ocent. A doctor friend and I went 
up and. t tervi wed hi . The fell ow had ~een convicted of ■urd r­
ing a cdlaier ~n the Wet rn Union office, raiding the till and 
acaptn ~;. )le told v ry convincing story bout having .b en it­

in ·int "office · for a ire to co e in at the far end of th office 
when, i tl'Nt pl te gl a s r flection, he aw the murderer come in, 
kill t girl, gr b the oney and dash out. Knowing that he s 
l ft alone at the scene of the crime he had tri d toe cape. 

the minute ann r in which he de cribed wh th d tak n 
ninth reflect! n of the _pl te glass windo , my doctor 

frien • pr tty well convinced the n couldn't be fabric ting. 
·Th · ...-den convinced h.e prob bl wa innoc nt becau e of the· · 
pria ap vin, tc. I th doubting Tho sin th t ca nd 
felt t lying, ow · didn't do nything. 

Som · tba .later · the warden went to the ea telegraph office at the 
bour t d r h 4 be.en co tted and found t t, becauee of a 
peouli llptiag arrange •nt, the plate glas window did act • a 
perfeo~·-alrror. And, for that reaeon, he aated •• to give tbi 
tell a .. J.ygi- ph t est. · . . . 
T .. ..... er oue out and worked with th• n for about half a day. 
At t .- , . t that tia he wae convinced tbe fellow was not telling 
the tr ·" that lie waa pro bl.y being coach d bJ • t-al ak i tea 
wlu, . th t t y kaew all about how to ·beat th chine. 

'· 

TIM · r we t to work on th fellow and fi 11.y ot hi■ to Mk 
oer~ .Maieaione tb n h ran bi■ again, • la point4ld o·ut a rec d 
of tale , and finally the n ad tted that h had gon to the till, 
p-abbt4 t ■o ey and d hi e cape. But he never would adait . 

. ,rt t · wo n. Howev r, hi graph uch that tt,e ex:aain r 
ooald MT. •n•t ruMing a cl r te9t. ev then. 

!JI inf•J'. attng thine was that thie n wa undoubtedly being ooaohed 
b7· a011e imlat•• wbo had de aoaething or a etudy of how to beat t~e 
poi, .... rn11. The r llow had the warden pr tty ■uch on his side and might 
have bad• arly parole it it hadn't been for hi• feeling that he 
co•ld t th polygraph examination. 
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,. The ~.--..v, • Clregorr gained b-<> th$ poly-
v i)ll 1D ev143 • o, d h t h t Bowling wws not lying 
1'MD h denied c on, oi- t tho er • Pl note 
thU ia CIIUT or an , but 1ndic tad thin imprea-

ion~ and indioa obj t .LJltuo.,.;alSion.. Both excdnGr8 
::l.y e :ve ! ,i tiooal .Bild Hospital 

aotiTi en ccnsid.-ate of the inmate. T t. 
to p-eat lenath• to io1' , oludine the imn.ate, o.f t.he preciae na,., 
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Mr. Irwin Ni. Moskowitz 
Paul V. Coates 
5746 Sunset Boulevard 
Hollywood 28, California 

Dear Mr. Moskowitz: 

ERL_f:: STANLEY GARDNER 
RANCHO DBL PAISANO 

Ttm«ula, Calffemia 

November 3, 1959 

I returned early and unexpectedly from Paradise and will probably be here 
in Temecula now for the next two or three weeks. I am writing this letter 
on a duplicating machine because I want to send copies to my associates and 
to the officials of the National District Attorneys' Association. I am not 
taking time to polish it because of the necessity for haste and the fact that 
I am simply snowed under with emergency matters. Please forgive evi­
dences of hasty dictation. 

I have, hcwever, given more careful consideration to the question of 
appearance on your program and, frankly, feel that the questions prepared 
by you deali.'11.g Y'ith my b3.ckground as a fiction writer don't have enough 
smas h impact to ma.lee it worth my while coming in. And, frankly, I doubt 
if they will give you the punch that you want on your program. 

There has be~n altogether too much said about my success as a mystery 
writer, the number of books sold, etc. I no longer need any personal 
publicity and it certainly isn't going to be to your advantage to give me 
any on the program. 

On the other hand, there are some phases of my activities which you could 
explore o;i the program that would, at least in my opinion, make a tremen­
dous sensation on the air. 

I would like to amplify the subject of prosecuting attorneys which you 
brought up briefly in your questions. 

For some years my associates and I have been interested in the case of 
Marion Bowling, who was convicted of rape-kidnapping under the Federal 
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law some twelve years ago. He was sentenced to life imprisonment and has 
been serving his sentence in Leavenworth. 

Within the past few months J. St. Clair Favrot, at that time President of 
the National District Attorneys' Association, called the case to the attention 
of the Executive Committee and, as a result. an unprecedented action was 
taken. The National District Attorneys' Association commissioned one of 
its members, Honorable Granville Scanland, Professor of Law at the 
Oklahoma City Law School, to file a brief on behalf of the Association, ask­
ing that Bowling's conviction be set aside. 

A few weeks ago Honorable James V. Bennett, Director of Federal Prisons, 
decided that Alex Lee Gregory. the polygraph examiner and one of a group, 
of which I am a member. dedicated to improving the administration of 
justice, and Dr. LeMoyne Snyder, the famous medicolegal expert (author 
of the book 11 Homicide Investigation") could go to Leavenworth and give 
Bowling a lie detector test. 

Bowling had always claimed that he was innocent of the crime, claiming 
that he was actually at home and in bed at an hour which precluded him 
from having participated in the crime. His wife's statement corroborated 
this. Moreover, Bowling had always claimed that earlier that night, but 
still at a time which would have made it impossible for him to have been 
at the scene of the crime, he was stopped at Vernon, Texas by three offi­
cers who wanted to check his driving license. Bowling's driving license 
had been issued in Klamath Falls, Oregon and the officers had stated in his 
presence that this was the first driving license they had ever examined that 
had been issued in Klamath Falls. 

The ramifications of the case are too complicated to be discussed in detail, 
but the lie detector test was given last Thursday to Mrs. Bowling; last 
Friday to Marion Bowling. As far as I know, it is the first time the authori­
ties have permitted a lie detector test to be given in a Federal prison. The 
test showed that Mrs. Bowling was telling the truth; that she was positive 
her husband had been home that night. And the lie detector test given 
Bowling showed that he was innocent. 

I think a great deal of credit in this case is due to the interest of the 
National District Attorneys' Association in seeing that justice was done. 

I would like to tell something about this case and about the problems of 
public relations of the district attorneys. 
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I am enclosing a Thermofax copy of an editorial clipped from the Wisconsin 
State Journal. 

This is a live problem; to some extent, a controversial problem, and it 
should have a tremendous audience impact. 

I am also enclosing a copy of a report made by an investigator of the 
California Adult Authority in the case of Verlie Brunson. 

If you care to examine this report you will find ammunition for perhaps 
two or three additional programs. Brunson has been in prison for twenty­
two years. Recently we have found the witness Hoppie referred to in the 
report, and Hoppie's statement not only bears out Brunson's contentions 
but the Chief of Police of the city in which Hoppie is now residing is con­
vinced of Hoppie 's truthfulness and sincerity. 

The case itself is important simply as a case. But it has an added impor­
tance in connection with the problem of law enforcement and the public 
relations of district attorneys which I would like to discuss on the air. 

Here is a case where someone stole an automobile on a New Year's Eve. 
The owner of the automobile was in the car. dead drunk, and he was taken 
along with the car apparently because it would have attracted too much 
attention to have ejected him at the place where the car was parked. 

As soon as the persons reached a convenient place they put this drunk out 
of the car and rolled him of the few dollars he possessed. 

Technically this constituted kidnapping. Verlie Brunson was convicted 
of the crime of kidnapping and sentenced to life without benefit of pafole._ 

Now here is an interesting case which shows, to my mind at least, why 
district attorneys don't enjoy the best public relations in the world. 

Following the Lindbergh kidnapping. public sentiment was so inflamed that 
it passed laws providing a death penalty for kidnapping. In order to give 
the prosecutors a tool with which to work, the legislature was exceedingly 
generous in its definition of kidnapping, the forcible transportation of a 
person, etc. 

What happens? 

The prosecutors take a case of this kind, torture it into a kidnapping and 
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then convict an innocent person. 

Years ago people became fed up with the pimps and panderers who seduced 
young girls and forced them into a so-called lHe of shame. They passed 
the Mann White Slavery Act. What happened after that was that a couple 
of young men took some babes, who were ready, able and willing, on a 
train from Sacramento to Reno. A prosecuting attorney promptly arrested 
these men as white slavers. There was no white slavery involved, at least 
to the extent that people had in mind when they passed the law. The girls 
co-operated willingly and enthusiastically, only the four people were in­
volved and it was the type of weekend trip that is indulged in by young people 
from time to time and place to place with the single exception that they 
crossed a state line. 

Frankly, I believe that the people get fed up seeing law enforcement 
authorities, and particularly prosecutors, take technical advantage of the 
laws which are enacted to curb a serious crime situation and apply those 
laws with unusually severe penalties to lesser situations. 

Now then, we have the controversial Cahan decision and law enforcement 
authorities find themselves faced with a situation where they have to have 
new laws in order to cope with modern conditions. And what happens? 
The legislature refuses to give the law enforcement authorities the tools 
they need, 

The reason is that the people don't trust the prosecutors to apply these laws 
properly. ' 

Recently I have had occasion to become familiar with the National District 
Attorneys' Association. The men who are the wheel horses in that organi­
zation are men who are keenly alive to these problems. J. St. Clair Favrot, 
District Attorney at Baton Rouge, Louisiana, the immediate Past-President 
of the Association, is one of the most able men I have ever met and has a 
remarkably sane perspective about all phases-of law enforcement. Ed 
Silver, the District Attorney of Kings County, Brooklyn, is the new 
President. He is keenly conscious of the problem of public relations and 
in his office takes elaborate safeguards to see that no innocent person is 
ever convicted. 

Honorable William B. McKesson, the Los Angeles District Attorney, is 
one of the wheel horses of the organization and is, I believe, Chairman 
of a newly-elected committee on public relations. 
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One of the objectives of this organization is to furnish ideals for prosecutors 
and, so to speak, a code of ethics which will curb the political eager-beaver 
in the smaller communities who is interested primarily in the office of 
prosecutor because of its opportunities for political advancement. 

This is a tremendously important development in the field of law enforce­
ment. 

Study this report in the Verlie Brunson case. then realize that this report 
has been buried in the files of the Adult Authority for twelve years; that 
nothing has been done with it. Take into consideration the fact that an 
ordinary auto theft by a bunch of winos on a New Year's Eve was tortured 
into a kidnapping because the owner of the car was drunk on the back seat 
and because he was rolled when they dumped him out of the car. Then 
realize that in their zeal to get a conviction an innocent man was made the 
goat and you have a subject for television that will make people start talk­
ing and keep talking. 

These are the problems that face our citizens today. Unless we give law 
enforcement authorities better tools with which to work their hands are 
tied. They are licked before they start and the citizens are being placed 
progressively at the mercy of the criminals. 

Yet the legislatures won't give law enforcement the tools with which it needs 
to work because they distrust what the law enforcement authorities will do 
with those tools . 

This is the basic problem of public relations confronting law enforcement 
today. It isn't a question of how the district attorneys are portrayed on 
television. It's the fundamental problem of how the people themselves feel 
toward prosecutors and toward police. 

Bring this problem out in the open, discuss it thoroughly and you have a 
television subject which my associates and I will be glad to co-operate with~-­
you on and a program which will have r,aous_social significance. 

~ incer~~----

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

{[!y 
l/ t) 
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Hon, Chal Wheeler 
Norman & Wheeler 
Attorneys at Law 
Fourth & Bos ton Streets 
Muskogee, Oklahoma 

Dear Chal: 

ERL~ STANLEY GARDNER. 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Ttmtada, Calfornia 
November 3, 1959 

Now that Bowling's innocence has been established in the best way that 
we have available under our present system of scientific interrogation, 
I think we should do something about those prison records if it is pos -
sible to do anything. 

I make that last statement because I have a feeling so many persons have 
had access to the original records that it may be impossible at the present 
time to discover exactly what happened. 

When Inspector Malone of the FBI came to the ranch, he made a point 
about the statement supposedly made by Bowling on his admission that 
he was drunk that night and didn't know what he was doing. 

In my opinion this never was Bowling's statement but was Bowen's state­
ment, This fact, to my mind, is established not only because of the 
factual situation surrounding Bowling's admission to prison but because 
in a letter written in 1953 to Park Street the warden, as a part of that 
statement, says: 

"In reviewing the Admission Summary I note the state­
ment allegedly made by Bowling indicating that he was with 
another boy and that they were drunk at the time of the 
crime. This statement is from the transcription of notes 
by a former employee who was my secretary at the time 
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and who took such notes during my interview with 
the inmate when I was Associate Warden here. In my 
summary of the interview at the time, however, I find 
that my comments were to the effect that the inmate 
stated he pleaded guilty to the charge, that he was 
found guilty by a jury and insisted that he was innocent. 
I made no reference to any statement of his to the effect 
that he was drunk at the time. The only way we could 
be positive about the stenographer's transcription would 
be to have the notes available for checking and this 
would not be possible inasmuch as the interview in 
question took place nearly six years ago and the notes 
would have long since been destroyed." 

Bowling has always contended he was home and in bed during the time of 
at least part of the crime; that he had been stopped by the officers in 
Vernon, Texas, etc. Bowling pleaded~ guilty. 

Bowen, on the other hand, even at the time of the trial, said that he was 
drunk that night and didn't know what he was doing. Bowen pleaded guilty, 
or tried to, but the judge refused to accept the plea and Bowen was con­
victed. 

I know from sad experience how easy it is to confuse the names of 
Bowling and Bowen in dictation and in transcription. During the time I 
have been writing about the case I have myself frequently made slips and 
written Bowen when I meant Bowling and vice-versa. 

When Inspector Malone came to my ranch I showed him the original letter 
to Park Street, a thermofax copy of which is enclosed. Inspector Malone 
told me that he had examined the records and that the carbon copy of this 
letter sent to Park Street had the word "not" inserted before the word 
"guilty"; that the warden had told him the records were not made on the 
same date and that in his opinion there was no possibility of confusion. 

I challenged that statement when Inspector Malone was here and I 
challenge it now. I told Inspector Malone I was willing to go before the 
bar· of public opinion on this point. 

Here is a case where a penitentiary, having sole custody of the records, 
makes what would seem to be a mistake in getting the admission state­
ment of Bowen mixed up with that of Bowling, writes a letter in 1953, 
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and then, at some future date which may have been months or years later, 
changes the entire meaning of that letter by inserting the word "not" in 
the carbon copy. 

What would you do if you had written a letter to a person which contained a 
sentence conveying exactly the opposite impression you wanted to convey? 
Wouldn't you promptly, upon discovering that mistake, write the person and 
tell him the date on which that error had been discovered? If it appeared 
there had been a substitution of one statement for another, wouldn't you go 
back and check the original records ? 

Now, if Warden Looney's letter to Park Street means anything at all, it 
means exactly what it says, to wit, that on his admission Bowling stated he 
was out with another boy and was drunk at the time that he had pleaded 
guilty and the jury had found him guilt~_. When Park Street wanted to con­
firm, the warden wrote him that in his notes he had "made no reference to 
any state.ment" of Bowling that he was drunk at the time. 

Apparently, then, this record was not made by the warden in his "summary 
of the interview" but "from the transcription of notes by a former employee, 11 

and the original notes "have long since been destroyed." 

If Bowling said on his admission that he was with another boy and they were 
drunk at the time, this would have been a most important statement. Why 
is it then that the warden's summary of the interview "made no reference 
to any statement of his (Bowling's) to the effect that he was drunk at the time?" 

If, however, this statement had been by Bowen, then the letter and the 
report would have made perfect sense because Bowen tried to plead guilty, 
the judge wouldn't accept the plea, and the jury found him guilty. 

As I recollect my conversation with Inspector Malone, the admission notes 
now show that Bowling stated he was drunk at the time and didn't know what 
hewas doing; that he pleaded not guilty and the jury found him guilty. The 
records in a penitentiary are kept within the four walls of the institution. 
They are too voluminous for the warden to keep them under his personal 
supervision. In view of the physical facts as we know them that Bowling 
thought his case was on appeal when he was admitted; that he was still pro­
testing his innocence, as he always had, continued to protest his innocence; 
that when he found his attorney hadn't perfected an appeal he tried to perfect 
an appeal himself, I am firmly convinced that Bowling never made any state­
ment to the effect that he was drunk at the time and didn't know what he was 
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doing. 

And in view of the thorough examination given Bowling on the polygraph, it 
is apparent that Bowling not only claimed he was innocent but actually was 
innocent. 

Under the circumstances, the fact that any contention could be made that 
Bowling confessed to the crime, at least by implication, on being admitted 
to the penitentiary makes this case a travesty, and to my mind indicates 
either a tampering by someone with the records or a substitution of Bowen's 
statement for that of Bowling. 

If this is to be considered a factor in the case, I feel we should have some 
qualified expert on questioned documents go to the penitentiary and try to 
find out just what did happen. 

I am sending a copy of this letter to Rex Hawks because I think we should 
have some more investigation if there is to be any point made of this ad­
mission statement. Bowling has been the victim of enough mistakes in law 
enforcement so that he should at least be spared having incorrect records 
used against him. 

Incidentally, it would certainly seem that statements made by prisoners 
on their admission should be submitted to the prisoner and signed by him. 
Even a competent stenographer could easily confuse the name Bowen and 
Bowling when they relate to the same case. And the fact that secretarial 
services available to wardens are not always of the best is indicated by the 
fact that somebody saw fit to change the carbon copy of a letter presumably 
dictated, and certainly signed, by the warden. 

I don't like this situation. 

It was my impression, after I had told Inspector Malone we would meet him 
before the bar of public opinion on this issue, that he conceded the weakness 
of the Government's position on this point. In any event, he said no more 
about it. Of course, I have no way of knowing absolutely how he felt, since 
Inspector Malone was at my ranch to discuss the case and certainly not to 
make any concessions on behalf of the Government. 

Personally, I would hate to be the warden of a penitentiary who tried to 
substantiate those records if the records now show that Bowling said he was 
drunk at the time and didn't know what he was doing; that he pleaded not 
guilty but was found guilty b,y a jury. 
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If you feel the Government wants to make any point of this, let's ask to 
have a supplementary hearing before Judge Wallace so we can find out 
about those records, and find out when the statement was inserted in the 
admission record that Bowling said he was drunk at the time, particularly 
in view of Warden Looney's letter to Park Street in which he says he made 
no reference to that fact in "my summary of the interview at the time." 

I am sending copies of this to Andy Wilcoxen, Granville Scanland, Rex 
Hawks and Park Street. I am also sending a copy to Reed Cozart. I feel 
that we should get this point either into the case or out of it one way or 
the other. There have been altogether too many innuendoes and side 
comments to the effect that Bowling admitted his guilt~ when he arrived 
at the penitentiary. 

With kindest regards, 

ESG/mc 



(I am putting this letter on a duplicating machine because I want to send copies 
to my associates in the Court of Last Resort and to Ed Silver and J. St. Clair 
Favrot.) 

.- Honorable William B. McKesson 
District Attorney of Los Angeles County 
600 Hall of Justice 
Los Angeles, California 

Dear Bill: 

November 3, 1959 

I'm enclosing copy of a letter I am sending Irwin Moskowitz at the Paul Coates 
program. 

I wish you would read this report of Seibert Sefton's in the Verlie Brunson case. 
I want to discuss that case with you. 

I have just received this copy of the report. I believe it contains Mr. Sefton 's 
findings but does not contain his report on the record of Verlie Brunson. This 
omission is not due to me but is due to the fact that I only received the portion 
of the report dealing with the facts in the case, Brunson apparen.tly was a 
drifter who would get drunk and get into trouble. I think his moat ~erious 
trouble was the theft of an automobile. · 

Here is a case that is completely indicative of the situation Pa.x:-k Street and I 
discussed with you and Ed Silver in Miami. 

Mr. Sefton is now, I believe. practicing law and has a very ha.zy, intjependent 
recollection of the case because he investigated so many cases fo·r the Adult 
Authority and this was just <;>ne of hundreds. 

However, here is a report by an employee of the state which, to ~y mind, 
screams to heaven of injustice. And the fact that it could have been bul;'ied for 
twelve years is indicative of the necessity for sweeping reforms~ _Sinc:e this 
report, Hoppie has been located, confirms everything that Brunson s.~Jd and 
completes the missing link in the chain. · · 

With kindest regards, 

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

-
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UN1ttD STATES DEPA.RTM£NT Of JUSTICE 
.Ulll&AU 0, ... -

WASHINGTON II 

• Erle Stanley Gardner 
bnollo.Del Paisano 
T•-8=1-, California 

Dear lei 

Nove■ber 4, 1959 

T twas certainly a ■os t interesting and qaetul 
l•ttff JOU ~ote me on October 28, 1959, pointing out the 
•tr•nath• and weaknesses of the polygraph and those ho 
o,Perate it. I would like to see this sort of straightfor­
lnll"'d, no-nonsense explanation put in writing and ude avail-
ble to people in the law enforcement field, incluclin~ both 

r deral and state. 

Thinkin~ that you 111ight not have time to do !lo, I 
baYe had your letter retypPc1, as attached, leaving out anr 
ret•rencea to Dr. Snyder or other personalities, and if you 
approve, I would like to hav~ the letter published a8 an 
open letter to ■e in our f<'ecteral Prison Service house o~gan 
or in the A•erican-Correctional Association Journal •• 

I do hope you are well and ttlan.ka for writing ■ 
•• you did. 

Si11cere17·yours, 

Director 
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pl oe·1a the prison to send an outside call without it being onitored 
by halt a doz n people, so we ~ent down and ha~ lunch with Clara and put 
in tbe call to you. 

After our 1nt rv1 w -..1th ~ .ylor, we t ook 1n the equi'paent and the place 
they b d at U? for~• ~aa ba kin the prison ho pital, which 1• reached 
through the an ga ; you have to walK clear bacK through the prison 
and lug all the stuff a ll tbe w y back there. And there w met Dro 
B kero Dro Baker 1 a a pa chiatr1 t; he'• forty-five year old, a gradu­
ate or T ■pl Un1ver ity Medical School in Philadelphia, and bas ap nt 
hia entire career a ■ an officer 1n the u. s. Publ o Health SerYice and 
1• on routine aa 1g.n.m•nt to Leavenwortb Priaon. lie: 1 1 been there for 
two year• and a half no-w. He was v ry friendly d helpful and belped 
ua with any ugg etiona •~ had aa to the arrange nt and 10 forth, and 
we concluded - First of all, the pace tbat they had aet up for the 
ao,ual teat waa up on the third floor or th• boapital in a corner roo• 
that waa fairly well 1aol t•d~ but ln.aaauah ae be had lot or paper 
work to do, erely a1gn .ng a bunch or papera and so forth, be auggeated 
tbat it 1ght be aa well to hold the interview .right 1n hia otfic and 
he could b ~orK1ng on h1a papers at the sa tim • We auggeat d to 
Dr.Bk r that ■aybe the beat plan was to hay an interYtew with Bowling 
betore luach and defer the actual polygraph ex.a11tM.tlon until after 
lWloh, Ad thia would g.1ve QB and Bowling a good chance tog t eyery­
tb1ng squared aw.ay ao there would be no conruaton when we oa11e to run 
the e.otual teat. 

B~•liag was there when w arr 1 ved at tb ott1ce alld o·ame 1D and we pro-
. oeeded tohav a talk with Bowl ing, which laated tor an hour and a half, 

I auppo••• befor luncho The wbol thing wa put up to Bowling 11aply 
oold tu.rkeyo Al x d d a masterful Job in explaining to hi, and inci­
dent ally to Dr. B ker, jua what w were there foro--We weren't tor 
Bowling and w weren't against hi i we were ther · ai■ply to 1et the 
trutb and if we wer n't going tog t the truth tnere waa no point in 
u1 banging around th re, and the r ault of it was that by the t1■e we 
bad f1A1ahed and were ready to,:a lunch, Bowling bad completely r•vealed 
b1 ■ pa■t, and wben I aay he had co pletely revealed 1t I re•lly ■ean. 
tha,. I don't thinK that Bowling 9Yer aw1p d a poat ge ata■p that be 
didn't ,ell ua about b fore tnat 1Wloht1■e 1nt rv1ew. And, ot course, 
the p1eture or Bowling changed cona1derably wn a•• got the wbole truth 
abo~t that a1tuat1on. 

Well, I Will - 1 1 11 let Alex fill you 1n on all of the detaila of tb t, 
the r•••lation we got and the d11orepano1•· between b • story and that 
ot Nr■• Bowling . lnc1dentally, both Alex and I were tavoraDly i■preaaed 
witb Nra. Bowling, although a• Alex will point out to you ah knew Yery 
11,tle about the real activities of Bowling , and h had been auooeaaful 
in pulling the wool over her yea for a long tiae, but 1 1 11 let Alex fill 
you in on the detalJ of that. W 11, we oa■e bacK after lunch ~n~ pro­
oeeded to go a~ taira and Dro Baker w a with ue at all tt■e ■ • Aa a ■ tter 
or taot, w were n ver alone with Bowling a ■o■•nt fro■ ~h• t1■· that we 
were tb•r• and Yen durlng the tl e that we w•r• ln th1a roo■ with 
Bowling and Dr. B ker, there waa a guard atationed out in th hall be­
bind tbe door all the ti■ that we were th re. 



Dr a Baker sent down for Bowli.ng 1 & complete prison file 10 that we had 
th t· Y&ilable to refer to anything that wa, neoea ary and • • b d ao■e 
rur,her interview with Bowllng ahortly 8 this was not protracted at all 9 

betore Alex eet up the machine and attached the vartoua inatruaenta to 
. Bowling nd proce•ded with the exawination, nking out a liat ot quea­

t1o ■ , r ep ating them to Bowling a.nd. getting everything ol ared tor the 
teat itae lt. 

Tbe teat wa rua at so• l ength. I pna • that Alex ra.n t leaat ■ ix or 
e1 nt ditt rent aerie or q~eation on hi■ an.d wh n we wer f1n1ahed, we 
were all Y ry well at1af1ed that we had th wbole trutb fro Bowling, 
not oaly about the cr1•• on which _he i a now aervlng t1ae, but or all of 
b11 pr1·or activ1t1•• a.a well" Rather an intereattng thing about this 
tbat I think Alex will elaborate on waa thi: According to Bowling he 
bad beea very appre-hene1v and nervous a.nd key d up about tbi teat. 
lloweYer , by tbe t!■e • had gotten done with that morning 1.nterview with 
hi■ in which he had really ba red hi• aou.l. 6 when it cawe ti tor the 
teat itaelf, he ae~med to me to be very much at•••• and I tb1nk that 
t he·ob rta alao revealed th&to That he Juat had nothing wore to oon­
oeal and oon equently the tenalona wh1ab be had had b fore a11d wh1oh he 
had u ver revealed to anyone before, to hia wife and I tbink'he had 
•••n kept aou o!Ulem to hi■--hadn't dared to reveal the to himself 
hardly, ao that when 1t ca■e time for the actual teat itself it went 
ott • • ry smoothly and very eaaily and we're well aat11r1ed tbat we have 
t be wbol trutho Of oourae, a■ Alex will tell you, Bowling bad ao part 
1 tbia ori■e for which he'• been convicted, but tbe whole p1oture -
■bow■ bow be happened to b co 1nvo1Yed 1n this thin& and bow he hap­
pened t e be oonYiot d and all the re·■ t . ot the thing that goes with 1to 

Well, Dr o Bakr, I m aure, waa very well ati ti d with th tat and 
I t biak that he wa rather - had his eye ■ opened aa to how w operate 
aad at ter tb t t waa oo■pleted, whicb was around to'Ul' o 1clook in tbe 
at,ernoon, we went down and mt th warden again; explained to b1• the r•••I•• ot tb• te t and ao rorth, and he•••• d to be Yery bappy and 
oo■pletely aat1af1 d with verything o We aaw.no reporter■, talked to 
no ou wbatever about tb1a case, and then went down to the \elegrapb 
ott1o• and tiled all the wire• wbicb you had prepar d and sent the■ out 
direo,-w1re to everyone ooncernedo We then w•nt b ok and haviag alr ady 
obeok out er t he Meublbaoh Hotel early 1n the ■orn1ag, we took orr tor 
bo■e about r1v 0 1 olock and drove until nine or ten o 1 clook that night. 
1, wa• ra1a1ng and 1a rable, toggy, darlq t t wa n • t pleasant, but we 
aot Off r into th iddle of MiaaoW"i ao■••plac and stayed th night, 
tben got nearly start ye ■ terday orning nd drove clear througb to 
.Detro1, here and got 1n around ten o•clock la1t night; 698 ■ilea - a 
lot ot 1t tbrou.gh pretty heayY trattie •111ob was a full da7'a work . 

W■ ll, t h t 1• all I have to ay right at th ■o■eat, ao 1 1 11 turn tb1• 
n e r to Alex and it there's any apao lett when Alex gets done, I 1ght 
ooN lta ek a gain tor ao■e co nta on the thing • . So I 1 11 e1p orr right 
nowa Brle, and turn th1• over to Alex and he oan !111 you 1a oa all the 
detail■ or Bowling's tory and how it Jibe up wttb Mr•. Bowling, and 
••rJ,b1Rg lae ooncern d, ao I'll l t Alex tak oa fro■ here. 

Iae14• tally, Erl - I'• back on again - Ju■ t ao there'• no oontuaion, ,11e wire tat we a nt to all or the • pe ople was th one aayi.ng that 



"Oo■pleted po lygraph et.amtnat:.ur,s i,,;f Bowl r.g and h! a wife revealed no 
1nd1e t1ona of guilty knclll.)edgeo" !'ne. t wa. a th- one that we sent. So, 
I'll turn th1 a over to Ale.¥- Lereo 

Bi, Brle, th1 1 Al • gt:t 1nto tbl Bow11.n g ca e and. whll 
1t 1 a oa ■Y •tnd, I think l tell you that I h d a telep one call 
tro■ th1a ttorney Ratn r, called fr~ nv r ay 1ng tbat 
tbey bad told ht tha. th r wa. letter fro o t hi office but 
be di •t Im.ow xaotly wh t lt w and o he 1dn't kno Juat what we 
ah ul di auaao I hadn't rolled that th1 ~o n» Mr o Mo rer, wae out 
on parol but anyw Yr t eem& t· th t tbey h v n •t done a uoh work 
on tbat oa • a they 1ho ld h vein expec ing ue to ry to 1 them 
an1 belp. Tb other lllO■ n is erv1Rg ti■e up at Lana1.ng and I didn ' t 
realise bow aloa L aing ~a to Le nworth a th ti■e I ta ked t h1w 
~o I prob bly should ha e ade so• arrangement to go o er d 1a1t 
her 1r I oould ha known ore about the c •• fro■ hi, o~ if he could 
ba•• been th reo But nywey, n 1 hr he nor any of th o ther peopl 1n-

. YOlYed in thia eas ha e v r int rvlewed. th wo an who ls aerving ti e 
tbat oont ■ aed to the lat ch oks an which Mr o Moerer w s u pect d 
and. I told hi over th t l po that I thought that thy s~ou d inter ­
view be~ and try to get so~ •dea why eh wouldn't take re pon~1b111ty 
tor the check on hich Mrso Morr w or1gln.ally con ioted 1r ah 
aot. lly did writ tho ch Gk J I think th t w r all:Y hould know 
wb t ber att1tud & going to ~ o Tn y're thinking inter a of having 
her tak a polygraph te t and ther I no sense 1n trying ·to ialk abou 
pol1craph teat■ unt il thy know Jut wh t 1h •s gong to a~ or it h •s 
goiq to talk at allo They don't ev n know tf she'll take a polygraph 
te■t • . So I ugg ted that thy should do aom or work on the oaae 
and not only that, but 1t l ao eeemo that ther ' so question as to 
the ab111 ty of th han wr-1 ting exp t wbioh w u ed as a wi tnee ga ins 
Nra. Moerero I a~ggeet d that thy ch ok him out nd f'tnd o t wb t h1 
qual1t1 at1one wer , aoa thing about h1a b okground as far a .int gr1ty 
and• •~ber or not to rely rully on his 1nterpr tation, his opinion, a 
,o ,11e band~1ng wben Mr • Moer r was originally o nv1cted. He also 
told H that the prosecutor ln th• ca 1e th on~ who s the main 
■tu■bliag block and I ugg t d that b p\.µ" u the po tb1l1t1es of 
br1qing tbi attitude of th pro outor before th new pro cutor • 
aaeoo1at1on "beoau■ thy wight have ao■ bearing on getting this 
proaeoutor to give al ttle more ooop rat1ono Mow, you would know 
taro ■ore &DOUt that th n woulds, b t I • till hink it's a po.•~1bil1ty · 
that it that proa cutor oould b r mo ed as a tu bling look, 1i could 
•••• a lot of work and !f rt o So I told 11111 that be could wr1 te yo·u 
and 4110~•• that probl • with you becau e you could advt• ·h1a more 
oo■pletely. But it• e■ to•• that t ha t 11 a atep th t houl d be 
takea.1t 1t'a at all po ■ 1b l • 

Well. now to get back to th1a Bowling caa. A LeNoyne told you, I et 
llra. Bowling - I didn't know that ■a · was going to o up ad Y1a1t 
Ilario before h oa■ down to a e e , and I 1 d hoped be would et in 
earlier in tbe atternoo~ byt • didn't oall until about 6130 t h t 
a1pt ad. h d her 1-•d1 t ly coae up to the roo and I had oh 
l••~ tb A an hour with b r betore LeJloyn arr1v do But anyw 1, I wa 
illpl'e ■aed by her ■ 1noer1ty; at th 1a e t1 , be appar nt ly 1 a 
who 11 Y ry na1Ye and did •t know too uoh bout what Bowling was 



at llJ do1ngo Pr-"' ""•i. : r1:, : U ;; L ~-: :, .. ~ ~n f or m~t l on, jl aa far aa hia 
ae,1•1,1 • are oon 0""; n.,•Ht, r:.P.Y~ Ci.J•.ii ": J'r?'ll 111ha t he I s t old her a he 
oerui ly hae pulled tt,e . ,:;o l •)v« r ru~r eyee and do a good Job or it .. 
AM b of her etorJ 1s 1tt '1ia:O .ll.l.J\c e ·w1 th the atory that he tella a.1-
, b I a fully eon'fin.oed that ir:verything abe aaya she bad believed 
aa 1■n•t ■ king any dallb~rate atteapt to deoeiveo I mad ao raotea 
oa ber atat • nt ao it wtll give you a general id a or wbat tbe difter­••o• 1• betwe n her atory and hia. I oovered Saturday, tpe d y prev1oua 
to tbe ori■ # - now a• we underatood it, Saturday was the 27th or April, 
1946 &114 I h d her go over 1 det&il all of her act1v1t1 • for that 
parllo•lar S turday, and keeping in ■ind, of course, that I wa going 
to ba•• ~1• do the a■e thing to find out if there wa an1 great •ar1-
a t1oa 1A th•1r atoriea. 

lo• ■he aa11 that thy went to the grocery ■tore with hi aother and 
7ounger •~•ter; tbat 1a, fro■ Holiday, where they lived, 1ato_W1ohita 
.Palla, t buy groo r1••.. Th y bought th grooeri • and 1 tt t i ■other 
and Jowager d~ucbt r in Wichita Palla; the ■other and daughter in­
t•nd•d io go to tbe movie that afternoon and would return at a later 
dat e . Sbe doe ■n•t r call jut what t1■e they &ot bo or how tbeJ 
O&N H, ~ut thinks thy ■u t ve oo e hoe on the bus. Sh and 
Marion tben return ho to Hol1d y, they put the groo r1 • va1 and then 
Na.r1oa·told her that he waa goia down t o the gaa station toge~ ao■e 
gaaoliUJ be'd ~e baak in a rew 1nut So That be v nt to th• g t -
ti• aad abe aid be got into a little poker gaa th re at the ga ta-
tion and tba.t played poker tor about an hour,aad that b th a drove 
into Viohita Palla. Row it e •• th t they bad diacu aed th po• 1b111tJ 
ot ala aak1 ao■e oney by picking up people wbo w re waittna t or b•e 
aad oouldn't ke good bua connection• aJld taking ta ■ aortb, e1tb r to 
Ver noa •r eyen aa tar ae A■ rillo or Y&r1oua 41reotioaa, tbat it'• quite 
•o- a that people in th t part or tne eoWltry do that, that t••Y get 
t beir traaaportat1on th t way, by oatobing ride• and people •111 go 
aro\llld •• tbe ~u• ■ tation and r1nc1 ■o■ebody t bat•• goiag and. ,hat help 
paJ tbe e xpeaaee ,or aoa or the even ■ake ■o ey that way. 

Ber ~• r 1 1• thiaz That h lett the gas ■tation, rter playing poker for 
a~o•, aa .bov, and drove iato W1ob1t1L Falla aad went to the bua •t t1on 
where be pioked up a oouple or paaseager. Row ■a••• aot quite au.re 
wbetber u picked up two paa■eag rs at the ,ua atat1on and~ e lat•r out 
on tbe bl&~way at a little top-off plaoe, or whetber he got one at the 
bua ■tation and two on the h gbw y, t doean•t ■ake too much ditterenae. 
But that be told th pa senger that he would drive th up to Vernon 
and that it h oould piok up aom ore pa■ eng r• at V rnon, be would 
then take the• on to A■ar1llo, •hie 1 about 200 11 • north or Wichita 
Palla. Tbat thy did drive up to V rnon but that after be went to the 
bua ata,1on there, h oouldn't find any ore paa■enger and ao be left 
bia paaaenger■ tbat b bad brought with bi■ and return d to hta hose 
tbere 1n Soli day and that he arrived there, to th bet of her belier, 
at a~ou, 1130 . She aaid th t he had been oroob 'ting that night and. had 
t iniabed a piece or orooheting at o e o'olook, and went to bed, ud she 
teel• au.re ,hat •h• hadn't be n a1let1p when h arrived ho■e ud abellquite 
poa1t1• 1, waa around 1100 o'olook, I• an round ls30, or littl 
atter. -

lfow 1a g1Y1ng her th polygrap~ te t, I couldn't pin her down a• to tbe 
xact ti•, ■o I approached it fro two angles. One que ■ tion I asked her, 



I aaked hr 1f' sne IF.ines t ly r~iL1.:::·;e,J Ui?.' .. i•;,I!' . .,, _ :1 n011e: !>!!fore two o 1alocK y 
d a aaid that she h,,.neet :::; 't-c, 1~ ,.' ~0, :nfl was, Jt 1.n a eucing h r to be 

be 111.t ly poa1t1v-e she l'latct. sh~ ~c.d.Jn' t be p •,•a ltivll., Of courae, that 
· ab bactn•t been a.a1~ep 0 &ne didn't tntnlc an~ waa , eo I a.ls a l<ed her 
tbe queet1on, 11A e you poalt1 t.n~ the wae ho e before daylight?" be­
oa~M ■be id be wa wa e when , came home and of course ■he would 
b ve Im wn. 1r 1t had e dayl1g t .. s~ ■he•a abaolutely po■1t1Ye that 
be waa ho • etore dayl1g t and she oneatly 11 •e• that he was boa· 
betor 2100 o 'cloo .. Sh al o said that he had not ~en 4r1nk1ng; that 
1t be d been dr!nki g hat be ~9uld have been angr1 aad la&•• r 11ed a 
little hell with him for not eo•1 g baok. I went quite a lot 1ato detatl 
&I to the usua l prooedur, whether he t 3 d out nights d tb1nga of 
tbat kind,and ah a id, "lo, the only nigbt h w tout waa when hew nt 
t • 1■ union•• tings, and that h knew h w n•t playing around with 
UJ ot ·•r wo■en becau e h1a--1t was o 1 bout tb one a1ght week t hat 
• ... ,to the ion •• tinge tbat•e why h was poa1t1Ye that he 

oouldll't baT at yed at Bowen•• houae d pl yed do inoa ae Mr • Bowen 
a4 teatitied on th stand, nd he ia o po 1t1v ofthat, that th re's 

DO ue■tion but wh t 1he' t 111ng th truth. I lao asked hr it thy 
a4 · 01 a xual lation that n1gbt, tn1nk1ng th t if they bad had 

a Nlatione, it would probably 1nd1cat that he hadn•t been out in-
4 1&1111 in any•x orgtea with o other wom n, but abe waan•t too aure; 
• t ht probably they didn't have any exual re lationa , eo it didn't 

•• &Q1' part1oul r bearing on th aatt r. 

Ko• I••~ 1 to det 11 with her bout his bootl gging ctivit i and 
1t'• Yer7, Yery obv1oua that ab had· no k:nowle~g• of t h ext , of hi 
~ tle5ging aot1v1t1ea, or otner ct1v1 t 1 • t hat he mi ght have been 1n­
d.11l1lq in tb&t we tound out trom hi■ later. She aatcl , nat t b 7 oa■ 
b-,. and I ■tart d back up 1n Oregon with hr to get tbe whol thing in 
tlae proper aequeno o They l rt Or goa nd went to Cal1torn1a wnere ·th y 
bad traded 1 their car that · they bad brought fro Or gon and bad C 11-
tol'llia plates on the oar 1n whioh _th y return d to T9xa so eti■e early 
1.D tbe Pall ot 1945; h th1nk it was about Ootober, and I ·we t into 
detail a■ to wbetber thy had acquire Texaa 110 n e plat• or driv re' 
·11 • H■ wbe tb yr tur ed to Texas, and 1he 6a1d that thy bacl no t 
a qUired Texas dr1Yera• llae • I••-••-••• but abe tb1nka t hat he had 
ob,alaed hue licenae plates tor the oar. ••• abe waan•t • - •ol ute ly 
•w:ie a ut that b~t sbe thi k1 tnat be d14 ge t Texa• 11•• • • • plat e • tor 
' • ar. . . 

••• aaking her a~ ut hi bootlegg1 ao~1v1t1e•, ahe aa1d t ba t be bad 
dt■o •••d oootlegg1ng ·w1th herJ that be want ed to ake aoae ■o y and 

• that be did ■ake one tl"ip down to ao■ewber around Wort Wortll, or tbe 
Tle1a1ty or Portb W rth, Teua, and brought Dack 1eTer a l oa••• or 
wllt■nJa tbat be waa auppoaed to deliYer t ~1• wa1■ key t o •o• tourist 
pl&•• oa the outskirt or Wioh1ta Palla and. get hi• ■oney tor it. ut 
tba, .Wlleo be got tbe vb1•k•1 out to tbi■ touriat plaoe tb• peraon who 
waa ·auppoNd to piok it up wasn't tbeN and that he went to ■ake a te le -

oall and abe wa■n't au.re whether th whiakey ••• atol•n tro■ the 
oar or whether he - had u.nload d the whiak y and hidden it aoweplac ., ut 
• 11• he wa go ahe id th whiakey w atol n,and ah aid he wa 
&DCr1 called the po l~o nd r ported . t ba t hi wb1 k y w· 1 atol no 
l 1he olai that he waa rr a t ed d oon•iot dot having wh1 k yin 
1 ■ poa■eaaton and that he paid a fiae or about •100.00. ow I have 

6. 



to as e she doec,r-'t r-,.,:,.~Jy · "'!,:.":, :, rer reool1ect1ons aren't too good 
oa tbea things, t:..J•~ a.pr:,ar~.nt~ y r,,: ri.as told her these thiqa an she 
aaau.• • that they I re tru1,, al thou€h she doesn I t k:no~ anytbin a out the 
de tail• , i•• just th!!!' story that n• was arrested and paid ♦ 100.00 for 
t • p0•••••1on of liquor. And ahe aaya that 1a the only bootleggging 
b 41•1 tot that was euch an expensive experience that he decld d to 
q•l' and o th t as far as she knows that aa the, oaly \Joo,1egg1Ag be 
414 af ter they r turned·froa Oregon and California. ot cou■e, ane mowa 
t bal be did aome bootlegging before tbat, and he aaya tbat • • b ok 
ar WIid 19-2, ao■ewbere 1n that ae1gbborbood. 

Well, It • • ga.Ye her a aeriea or polygraph t e t a 1R whiob I a ked b r 
bou, ,beir a ot1Y1t1ea the po 11b111,1 or the■ • Ying y ••11• ton , 

•• tu aa t tr torie a w r ooncern d a-4 oo••red •• rytbi g pre tty 
1••nllJ. Wlte tber ■h bad deliberately 11 d t ny ,1■ oath wit-
n••• a, 4v1q tn tr1 l and wbetb r lla.r ioa b d v r told ·her tbat 

.._. .w1t Po• ter Bowen at any tiN o April 27 er 28th. 19461 

• ••N4 1, so oe11pletely that I a oo■pletelJ ••••ia• d that sbe 1■ 
tel11q the trutbi that ahe had no part 1 a.ay poaaible rra■ing or an 
&111-1 &ad frankly, h 'do 't know nalf uxalll, or what waa going O II 

Aa4 t•t •h haa abeolu.tely no gu1 t y lcnowledg or tb1 cr1 w teYer 
..__ •• b ua,11 be lie•• and 11 po■ittve that he bad nothing to do 
wtt• •1• partioular or1 • She waaa•t t he bas t aui.J c t 1a i be world 
~ut I Nall it '• t hat kind or a teat t ha t t ber Juat oan •t be any ■18• 
,aa ·u tar•• I a■ ooaoerned oa it. It• ■ ■J t e l ing aaout 1, . I t•tak 
•~• tral aite fa tigued ; ahe bad b d ~ l o btip and b bad beea ·oa tbe 
irala &11 the i&bt bef ore and h had bee up •t the penitea t ·iary and: 
talke4 •• b.1■ tben bad .gotten , b 'Du• and oOlle b ok down to £eaven-lfff,~ ·•. l N&ll o b ok down to Ka.Ila• 01,, - and abe was a 11,,1e blt 

· , 1rec ~, alM responded to art1t1aial . at1■ul1 to the extent tba t I'm 
oon•l ed ahe wa1 oapa"bl or reaoting it ab b 4 beea atte pt1-tg to lie 
abou, 11. · 

le•• tar aa I a■ •••••r d. ahe'a eat1rel7 eleu • the whole thing 
euepl ••• •be mow• ab1ol•t 11 n.otbing about the true taot of lai■ 
ae,t•t.tt••• 

to turn t~1 •v•r b tore I ao 1 to th r p rt oa Bo~ltng. 



Well. now we'U 1et into the report on the Bowlin1 interview and ubsequent polyrraph 
lnterroption • As LeMoyne: told you, we had a preliminary interview and - in the 
office ol Dr. Baker. and Dr. Baker was very co-operative. He took very bttle part 
in it and 1 frequenUy atopp~d doin& the interview to uk h1m u he had any •u11• tions 
or id••• and he aeemed to feel that u w a earned out quite completely and aatilfac -
toril7 •• far he wa concerned. 

l w nt into reat detail with Bowling to inform nim aa to our attitude, that we were 
onl7 ilatereated in the a.haolute truth of the entire aituation; that we had gone to a 
1reat d a.l of trouble and expense and the expen.ae and trouble that yoY and Park Street 
and arah Hout• had been to in tryinc to protect rum and give him the very beat you 
could; and that if he had withheld 1.ny Wor mation or deliberately fa.laified any inf or -
matioa, that he certainly owed it to you to tell werythin1. l alao explained to hlm 
that u lt.r •• a poly1raph te t ,u. concerned, that I wan·led rum to tell what be knew 
to be the truth and 1 lao wanted the complete truth re1ardin& all of hi& previoua 
activiUea becauae l duin't want to gt:t into a poly,r ph teat nd have aim aittin1 there 
worryin1 and becoming up et, in fear that ! mirnt alt him omethine about previoua 
activity that w kn w nothlng a.bout. 1 alao explained to .him th tit was ntirely possible 
that 11 be bad indul&ed in other activities that we didn't know about. that the official■, 
th i.nveati1atora. police officers and prosecutor■, micht be able to dif up information 
about hie actiYitie that could be brourht out lat r and would aerioualy embarra ua 
il •• weat to bat for him. 

So. tho •• r y 1ot into detail on hie previous actiYit.iea. I first tarted queationin1 
bim abcNt bi■ a.ctiviUe on Saturday. April 27th, 1&46 and hl atory ia very similar 
to that of bia wife a to gettin1 the 1roceri.ea and _returnin home. He. doean't remem­
ber too much about Ju•t what happened when they returned home. but anyway. be eaid 
that be went in to Leavenworth, and 1 bad to ua1 at a little bit -- l don't m•an in to 
LeaYen.worth 1 mean in to Wichlta Fall• -- and 1 bad to au1ge t a little bit before he 
remember d 1oin1 to the 1•• •talion. And hia activitiee at the a1 st tion, he a aid 
be didn't pt into any poker 1ame at the 1•• atation -- l didn't come richt out and 
aek bull dire cUy. 1 d1dn 't tell hlm that hi■ wife aaid h did - - but he w aa poaitive 
that u didn't kill any time at the 1aa 1tation a.mblin1~ playin1 poker; be said he 
aomeUmea abot a little crap in the I station and be didn't rem mb r whether be 
rot into a crap cam• that nipt or not but he'1 eure he didn't play any poker. 

And from there be went into Wichita Falla and tb..la ia where their •tory vari•• com­
pletei,. H• had no intention of pick.in up any pa•• n1•r• whatever. He didn't 10 
there .with that intention. H• waa a booUe11 rand not a. pett1 booUeger·at that. 
1 bad alao taken bim down from hi trip from Ore1on into Ca.llfonai and back to T xas 
to make au.re b didn't h ve any Texas driver'• Ucen•• ■o that anyone el.a• could 
ha•• und hie Ore1on drive.r'• lic•n• to 1ive him an alibi later on. 

B\lt an.yway. he ata.rted 1om1 into the detail.a of thia bootl•11in1 and I'm taWn1 yw 
that that boy •• probably one of the be t, The only thins i■• he wa n't v n an 
b eat bootl 1er. He told u that pracUcally a.11 of the whiekey that he a sellin& - -
and be wa■ not only eUin1 1t by the bottle. by the cue, or anyth.in1 they wanted -­
and h • cured Uua either by h.i1nj ckin1 or by b\Lr1lary. H and a fellow named 
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M rtin (I believe hia b dd:y as) would hl(hjack: trucu of liquor •• they would be 
broupt into ~ictuta Falb , In moat ca.see ih4ty bad &A a.rra.a.cement ttith th• truck 
driver wbere they woald pay the truck driver a hl.Uldred dollar■ or ao to let them 
take the load a.nd then th~ truck driver would cla.i.m that he wa• hllh)&cked; but that 
isl •ome ~u••• that MarM a.hra.y• carried a pn nd that they nad ,.ae-d tlMt ('u"l in 
actual bold1A1 up of the t.r\ick dri..-er -- be ea.id they had tu ha.ve a &'·m to convince 
om• of the•• people. he aud aoroe of them ou1dn'1 10 alone WLth a ;4y-of!. So 

they ao ally held \lp 1omie of theat truck.a with a ,unto 1et the tr~cltload of liquor. 
And that liquor he wae aell..lnf on the job aa well •• ••llin& in ca•• lots to an1 
1ourc•• of ouUeta ne cou\d find. 

And be al•o aaid that on one oc.caaion .t.tiey bur1larhed th~ warehou•e there a.nd took 
thre hundred ca.ees of liquor which wae tt.1~ir main upply for aom.e time. And to.at 
he had al10 run bquor \/if' irito Ok.lir.oma e>.n numerou.a oc:caaions. 1 didn't try to pin 
him clown to ireat detatl O,l. theii~ acti."ltie, IJ-eca\l•e l di n 't want to aet h.im 10 

■c red that he .,.ould be i.lp&et a.td not be 1n \~ondit,.on to r 11 a eood teat. But he 
pve u.a the eneral detatl.11 and h c r t wun' t pulling any pW'1che9. He •aid 
that be had be n arrealed on, 1 lh ther waa '1.ve diffe.rent occa•1on1, aad con-
rict•d for bur1lary once l..!l hu yo\l.Ilger ye • . r-a. l didn't pin him down ae to exactly 
when it waa , but l wa• under the 1mpr~111l.on that thia rape ,~a e in hlch he h a d •.• 
it' • N n diaeu••ed 1n you.r corrt pondence, .•• i;la.d ta.ken place a 1ood ~any yea.rs 
aao. And in dac I ai t l h told the· le •tory, that th1a tol.lriat place outaide 
of Wi obita Falll, h r ~ ad een r &.r cu.,toroers of hls; that ia. a woman 
and her dau1hter had be-en sttUL'lg liquor and he ha.d been ee. llint them in a pparenUy 
cue lou; that the d.l.ugntt;, '4111&& a1xt.eeA :-;ea.ra old and th the had been. f<>lnl to bed 
with her quite regu..larly. And tnat on the 1ht in queation that Ulia rape cbar e 
came up, ha had intend~d to go to bt11d w 1th her 'b\lt that he had.'1 't been there lon1 
enoup wb n a.pparently there waa a diaacreemeni over the payment of liquor or 
something of that k.ind. and that t.hl! mother h.ad ev4Ultua.Uy ch reed him with rap.. 

Now . 1 want to make aure we 1et thu dear. We've been di•cu••inl it here. That 
it •••m• that he cb.un111 •.. B,>wung says tbat thi Jirl'• mother knew that· he had 
b en Coin to bed with her t.Ad tn.trt- had n(t·.er 'be n any obj~ctlona; that the (irl had 
bad ab y -- now, l dl . ~t try tv pin down the date of that. I asked b1m if he waa 
the father and ne sud he wa• prdty awre he waan't, but b4! had no way of owina. 
Anyway. it e ti1.a i · a.o fa.t h ot th moth r o -referred r pe 
cbar1 • •••in hi . : .• d tnr:n · th.at it a. Cr m - p bee u e p-
par y \h olic D p r trne t ew v } 1 out th ir otleacin& 'acuv1u 
and knew the family and conaequenUy the ra. e --har1e1 w_ re dropp d. 

Now tbe thin1 that 1- ~,nificant in ·thi• aih1ation 1a the fact that on thia r ape caar1e 
b• had the ••m• attorney who r-epr•• nted hlm on th1a ca a that we're 1at:e re■ted in. 
So be arently knew the attorney and the attorney aa4 mew him pretty well. 
And thia whole affair had u..ken plac ahortly before thi• caae of Retha McCauley - -
or. be didn't pinpoint the ex1-ct date of that ait\lation but l trunk the record would 
• ow whatever the date•••· That wouldn't be difficult to ret anyway. 

And .tier diacvasin1 hia aexuar activiti•• with thia 11rl 1 aaked him about other 
•ii, people and he aaid, well, he never pas•ed an~hinl '1p; that be waa 1ettia it whenever 
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h• could IIAd wherever ti'i~ opportunity pr@el!nt~<i, ao that he waan't limitin bia 
ctiviti • to Ult auteen •year-old glrl but wa.a t f anythin1 t.hat came alone. 

Anoth r UUnc that wa• igni!ica.nt L"l. t.hla intervie•, that came out. wu the fact that 
altbo ab didn ' t w B n too well, that Bowen had applied for a job d be w n't 
too ■w-e o t.h.i , Bo· a pplied for a 30!> or had some coruiection with th• place 
where he wa1 working. And he did Imo-.. Bo-wtn; in fact, on U:i• ni&ht that be••• in 
Wicbita Pall before t1e: wer,t to Verncm, Texaa he took Boweri several block in. hi• 
car, j '1ai to ·ve h1m ,-_ hft pp r t ly t I! • no co tac t ud t they clidnwt 
nm arowad to1ethe r • od he doun ' t know ho mu B en w of hi• acti iti • 
or a.o.,tbin1 of that kind; but they w•ren•t buddi.te ••• and. , • but it wa• juet rattler 
ei piftcant t t Bowen a m hie car th.at nifht a.bo1,1t aeven o'clock, before be t.ft 
for V• • - . 

And wben hAt left for Vernon, h~ W~tlt there for the aole p11rpo■ e of tr1in1 to 1et rid 
of • om• of th.ia wbisk•y .. Va• three hundre ,i cue e ot whiskey, th.at bad been tolen 
from the a reh.o\Utt . And h~ aatd. t...~ alt he didn't c1,.rry a lot of 1t but ne'd taken along 
aom• eampl•• and thit h~ drove 'JP to V er,:\-.)t\ and mad6 some -contact• 1n Vernon .. 
tryin1 to aet rid of that whis • And h a.lao m e o P , .o.t ct top on wa.y 
back. He al o add that he d picitied ~p a coupl of nUc 1 er on thie rid up to 
Ver D t be hadn't ta.ken them t.htre for the purpoae of collect1111 moaey for 
UMm aor anything of the bnd; th•t t:n•y were merely bitchhiltera ' tbat be'cl picked 11p 

and Ii ft a lift. 

Now, •• ent over hia story 1.s to wily h.e stopp•d where he did when the officer• 
■topped to check him out. and he said he ' d been having aome trou.ble. the Utbta had 
been Wek•ring on car &nd th.at he had b~nt dOlll'n under tne dub. and waa horsing 
witb wire■ wider the dash and w h n he rai•ed up. here these two officer• were 
•ta.ndin1 beaide the car; that there wu-. •~ppoaed to be three of them but he only 1aw 
two of m · and b• ne ver did eee the third officer. But that waa tb• reaaon why he 
atopped • re be did and that was when the police checked bim out. 

Now , we weat into hi own pitr111one.l dr we habit• and both he and nu wife ta.t e, 
and I bell it's very true. that he ever wa• a beavy drinker at any u m and •o 
that ctr .... ~ .. waa no problem as far u he waa concerned. So I don't think thattll 
have aay bea.rin1 in thia pa.rtic1.1lar matter. 

W went ove r aom• detdl with hl.m a• to juat now much hi wife bad known about bia 
actirlti•• and he told ua that ab.e knew practically notb.JA,:, either about the bootle 1-
J.ac, c1· •be me no I bout t r ar ltal • xua.l actintiea. And 'h aaid on 
of bl• a1A worms had been tha t ahe wow.d !ind CNt beoaue i.l • h• ver lo\l.Dd Ollt 

Ida outaick actiYitiea abe'd divorce him in • m.i.n11te and be wu apparently quite 
~t that . We expla.ined to him tha t • • bad no in .. ation of pu11A1 thia infor-

m on to bi• wile but th t we did have to have every detail of hi.a pre-nou a cUYit1e1 
if w• wer to do a good job and «ive him • • • and hav e the poly1rapb teat five him the 
prot cUoa. that he w&Ated. 

Of C011r•• afteir thiA prt>Hmina.ry intervhw it waa quite omoua to ua that he'• not' any 
an1 1. Aa be .sa.id, th•re•• nol much tnat he Ja.1n't done and be doesn't claim to be 
uy l or anything of the kinct. But tha.t he did not commit thia particular offenae. 
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d to w tbi■ illterview ( hlch LeMoyne ba told you la ted for an boar and a 
ball o •o) 1 broke it up deli~rately to ~ the preliminary interview aad told him 
to 10 ud ba hi.a llll'lch and th.ink caref . if there'• anythin1 t all in bia entire 
car r at be had deliberately w Uhbeld or • ae still cone alin1 from w.; and if there 
wu •• • ted b1m to diacloae it before we ■tarted ith tbe poly raph teat • And 
of llftlltPtl..a • baach br•ak tJ.ao 1.ve hlm a re t period .o th the ould be in better 
pby•lcal condition and there o\lldn't po aibl• fatigue •• re 11.lt of t int rview 
and So ri ht into a poly1raph te t. 

W tetur cl and alt r lWlch at about OD.e-thirty •• w at \IP to tbe third floor where 
•• bad • of th room• in the bo pit.al on thia third fioor. Dr. Bak r accompanied 
ua. and waa pr•• t at &ll time& and l prepared tbe q1.1 ationa u d ~at o er them 
car-"a.U.y and aaked Dr. Bae r i1 he had any au I etion• to ma.k alter t e ■tion 
bad be• prepared and if he felt that they covered tbe m tter compNbeaai ly and 
eatiafactorily, and he aaid he waa aure they did. So then of co11rae l w at into t.bia 
aeriea of poly rapa tc ta. l ••• .,ery careful to ••tabliab rood normal pat ra• 
for him, both wben no qu••tions were bei41 aaked, and then eRt thro. b a aerie• 
of irrelevant q,ae tion• to 1et any pattern or apprebeoaive pattern, a.a e call it. 
that mil t r flAtct any nervo\Y teruno M m1pt b e. And then COAtin'il•d itb te•ta 
wbiola coa.t&in the pertinent queation •• to whether or DOt be bad been t lllnc the 
tru • w.betber be had ht-en lJ\ O Wlorua at any time on April 27th or 28th, 1846, 
and, fact. l taink it mi1nt be a rood i~ for me to read you the liat of queati.ona 
that •••re uk d. 1 don't .kno a.a 1t wW make a e t d al of ditt reace b t lt should 
give 7 aome ide • 

Now I'm not 1om1 to put in .bere irrelevant queation• 
the perti.D Dt q11estio a th t were uked: 

t were uaed, but these were 

1. 
ni 
tbia 

Do :,ou Imo of yatU wn knowledge bo u with Foater Bo•• on t.be 
rday, April 27th or April 28th ••• or S\lnday, April 21tb, 18t8 wb n 

• w •• committed? 

2. Were 7011 ia the State of Oklahoma t qy tim OD Saturday. April 17th or 
day, April 28th, 1146? 

s. 
April 

Did 7CM1 ••• R th McCauley at an1 time an Sa.turd y , April 27th or unday, 
• 1946? 

4. Did you eyer in your life bav any kind of exu'4- r lationa witb Retba 
McCauJ.e7? 

HaYe 7011 deliberately lied at any Ume dllrillc W• intervi w or theae teat• 

s. Ar you now deliNra.tely withholdin1 or caa~&linl any information bo t 
1our actinti•• previoua to thi crime? 

7. Ar• you deliberately w lthholding or coo.ceali.A1 uy information that would 
have b arias oa thla parti c-11lar c • ? 
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0a • • •r teata l made \IP another hat that e w re \leinc aome a.rtilicial •t.uxulli 
to 1: patter · to lnd.ic&tE th.at he waa capable of r acUn1 and tbeae pertiJ:leat que tiona 
w r alao k d. 

1. (th qu 1tion 1a rep at d) Wer you in tbe ate of Oklahoma_ at any tim 
oe Apl'U 7th or lath. llH61 

2. 
1948! 

u Retba McCauley ita yo• ill car at y Um oa April 2~ or 18th, 

I. (and repealed) Did you eyer have aeutal relatio • witb R tha cCau y? 

Now , t at ther w• one r th r UDuual at au that l still doa't quite d r-
at&Ad. I aed it for th pu.r po • of tryin1 to t a reaction from him aad l a k d him 
th •• : Wol&l.d you • liu to t yen ith Bowen fort atifyin1 aea.t.n.t yCN? 
Aad be a.aid, "No, and &tra.np a• it may aeem, it didn't c \I•• hlm 1 erioua 
dJ.atvban • 

W• cliao_ •••d that with Dr. Ba.Iler and be em• to fee l that that oea alou1 pr tty well 
wit Bowlill.1' • patt rn. And he wa &lao ked: Ha e ,ou d ll rat ly complained 
ol tau ailment ? Since you b.ave been bere in P nitentiary ? And that • ema to 
c.aue him a little di t\U"b ce bee u. e h•'• be a chronic compainer of varlO'\d type• 
of aibnente &nd tb y bav .n.1 t been at all •11re that the;y were all juatified. Dr. went into 
■om• tail ••• Dr. Baker did •••• ith L Jrloyne explain.inl lua mental probl m•. that 
.b b pa pretty mucb to hl ■eU and he feel.a that tbere'• tendency to Drd ■ chiso­
phreaia d pernape a little p ruoia. b\at that pr!)bably t · s ia baa d on ta tact th t 
b 1a .-rv1n um for &1omethin1 that he didn't do aad be doeu't f el \hat it ■bou.ld 
a.fleet Ilia aormal. reaction 1n uy ay. 

la fact, lore the t at w a ata.rted 1 uk d Dr. .Baker ri&ht out, I aaid, uked him if. 
in b1a c,pialon, tbie man w a mentally &nd pby■ical.l,y eapable of r p9,,..-1 1a a aorm 1 
mUIMr to a polJ raph teat and be aaid e didn't think there a anyt.bin1 wroa1 with 
bim either m ntally or physically that would interfere th a te•t ol tbia kind. 

There wen a number of other que tiona 1ked that • w a t Into after d11ciu•ain1 it 
with Dr. B r and tbat 1- re1a.rdin1 hla ver havin1 commitud any abnormal ex 
aot, bodl ia and out of th• pen.it nUary. And ere'• ao indic tion Ul t be'• iD<hllpd 
la a.a, ormal aexval .,ctinty. He •• o a ked q11cation, H d he violated 
aay pr rule• and reg lationai th.at the a\lthorit1e1 4idn't know aoout a.nd ■tran ly 
nou.p ~ l■ tbe on que1tion that di•turbed him probably more than ui, other quee-
Uoa t wu aaked. And it p ve u1 • pretty cood control ·and ■bowed WI that be • 
cap la of r •pond.inf. 

Now , follo ln th a ri • of teat,, we went over tile cbarta car hlly d ■bowed them 
to Dr.- ·e r and before we uuehed ith him • aaked Dr. Buer it bad uy au 1 • -
Uoaa or id •• u to other que tiou that micht be sited a.ad be aid he tho pt it n.ad 

n oner d completely and ••ti factorily. 

Now, iii di■ucaaion with Dr.: Bailer alt r e teat• ere oompi.ted. of covae be 
· d IIOt oommit him• li and aa.y that 1M tbou1ht Bow lill1 w u: tellin tile t th or tnat 

chart• proved be w teWn1 tb• truth. and • didn't tell Bo line th r••ul of 
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Well. 
ia 

w ,ot throup. rt that up to doctor d ta. doetor aaid 
d be after b.im xt mornin1 to UD4 o t be a 

t • aad to •~Y Ul for• form ion and of 
an.1~•a to d.iscua■ it wita Dr. op on. 

aker would tell b.im tainl.y u 
to contr diet in an t alr ady 

• particuia.r ca • • worda. it fitll r1 t 
the 1r t t, that there iDdio ti if lty 

ca d on aa far u c••e w r rn d. 

tbat co era my pbaae of th1a ca.a• pr tty w ll d all I cu • 7 
arly •• aic a boy u I had in 11:ad w n 1 nt dow there bllt at 

• h '• •till an ind.iTid al who ia ••rrinl a W • nteace for a crim th.at 
'1. c.ommit. At the ••m tim. ere iA 110 q ■tiob blat w at be ow.cl bav 

N •" t a.Uy at t.be r t il:11 in•~ Ulepl actiYitie• -- it cow. 't 
ban lMt cl too 1 •• 

on II parti ular Qt. • So 1' m 1oin1 to t\lrn thla back to 
N'a aaythin1 t l'v left out •'ll pick it p or ii yo bave any 

why let me · So lo I tor now. Alex. 

Tbta la Le o a aad 1 think Alex.haw oov•r•d a neryth.Ln1 in ••ry 1ood ah pe. 
J ~ uai~ma 'If) th r• 1a oae little I t t co •• to my mind d that ia that 
8-U., ia r ply coDTiaced that Ala lawyer aimpl1 threw bim to tb wolvea t 
tlN · Ilia trial. No , u • u m ntioned IHfore iD. thia dia • thia lawyer. only 

e pr Tiou.aly ·ud defended .bim on Udlli rape ch •· When th Grand Jw-y 
NNlleCI ct bi.m tor rap • ud u x aaid,. be had full in ntion• of avin 
rel--. witb tAle prl o UM occa.ai that h• wu chara d that b did b t for aome 
r•- ·Um• wu end on ud be Jll•t didn't 1•t .,. d to it. 

u owlin1 told 11•. t.emewa witb thia lawyer p ior to bia trW, 
.. -.DOD w oh Bowlin1 wanted to avoid waa the reu for hi.a tJ'ip to Vernon, 

<liaou■• d with th lawyer that if that ••tio waa ev r aaked 1m wb.en 
• d , . by all ~an• to obj ct or er ate aome tuation ao h wouldn't 

er it . \It w n be took the at.and b •aid about the fir.t Q1ltlRLOD that 
.,.r u d him, bia own lawy r, •• • at wu th r uon ior you.r •trip to 

Tesu 7 db realiz lmmediately tbat bia lawyer wa• • ply Hllinl 
• ri . r. He made \lP aom• lk>rt of an aaawer that u bad IO • ciow to 

.......... Ila!_ frame■ in oonn cti with a .oa1 .. • t he wu worJdac , or 
,........ d effect. But he••• convinced immedlately tbat be .. d beft eold down 

•• t little •tin1 bi,tili1ht on thlq. t, u s ba1 pointed 
e i• 1i.u 10 many tbat • 1et 1nto, b • • no ,U.Uty of this crime t t 

• for but on th oth r band be waa pilty or ar~d r r7, r lary, 
bOIJUIIIPD·I, r ape -· atatutory raP4, at a.a.at -- d a whole l.ot ol other crlm I bich 

o com.mitt d but •• commi Un.c re at, dly at the tim th t 
tbi.• partic11br otteue. U be hada't eon do a to V rDOll. Tex at 

do a little boot.le inf he 11•• r wo\lJ.d nave •• •topped by officer■ do n 
1 't know, maybe that'• wb.at aand llim. 



Ho • r, 1 llwlk that Alex. and I'm aur~, that l am. completely con•inced t o•l-
in, co pl.et ly r d hl• oul, ot nl.y with r- •~ to thia a.ft ir but ••rythil:lc 
.... tbat b.e h d V r be in ol • H~ • id e'd b el arr •t d li'H.: tim •; 
fir• Um Mn ta ••• •ev~nuen yeara ol a.nd con ic d ot b r 1 ry d ,tven a 

ded • nt 1\ e., at1. e • h w • 1.:ty of t and th oth r ott na which 
d a.lo I t rou 1 t . ~a.r fro1 t h:n for v 

ticma, l don't rie~dl th" :-n i.U, t:.ut th~y "'~ rqc uri.o,u, c,ff•rn•e•. f.\n the Qther hand, 
not crime a of viclt rH~t. ',:, t ~ L ll'l t try l o ;: - ~ e.• t'.i,1• t-:., -, cbedy on the details of 
theae v-arioua other thl.r.4 ;j . '.l !_y r~ c. -.:,Uecuo,1. 1.& tnat be t,1 :·: s~rved &nort ?4trioda 
of U • 011 one or t o of t~·,,1 r-r .; OJ tnat l ;1"'., (iU\, tn.1:rty daya in jaU or auty daya or 
1-0ID'li~ ..... 1111 of tbat eort. 

But at any rat.P.. t ~. c t~ _, J. r,. r1.~g r to tb.e law or bt11n1 arrested or ythlne 
of at sort. b fo t: t.b .. u, t • r-ned u • 

la d1-c ••in1 tMt[!; <n$tt ... r ~iU1 1,h.~ Wa.r 1 t1 , &f"te:- itf'-" weit't: aJL fizush~d we w~re juat 
talkina I n r U) -s· ..1l ~-~: ., • ,\: -· ·~ , .;. , ln :. l c.:1.e11-li. J tr, t he u en that hi.le 
B9Wlin& wa r ,· '"-~ -n, r-. ,.,,., t :\~ ,::, '".~ t · .. , n:d tn~ t ti "dt: l o e p ople h d 
that juat be ~ " \--1 • .. i ; i Ua.r : f t.h e r..hurch or ~ pUar ,:,,f the community, 
on e d U-t: ! ,.. ; t s .. H!"i lift. ;11 ,. ..::e for a. ,: r me that wa 
co db)' · .ot !:- t . · H a11 1 t j ice. T 1) w i.ch th Wa.r 
•at••d compl _ t l y ' Y i v. r f ;. ndly term• • · h~ •eerned to be nry happy 
that ther ba n :, · •. :4 · • · '., :.-., -11 . i;. Y :- u ,;.0nnecuon ·.•it'; tb.i.a th.ini, d le ton 
tb local lev•l <H" ~;·,. t,b '=' k -cal ~--.a.f ~?"M , er:d · i ttunk.. E.:ri~. that o.:1e piece of rood i1 
aoinl to com o t of t' ,, 1t J ~ it. i;\d l -d : ,.:. ·t n .- 1 . t · ~ oni 0 t.hat' eoin to 
come out oi n. I;) 1 l riil t t ·•~ at:'"! iJ<J.."'i i to b J. ·- ..- to g~t int. ,;, d r&l ri 
from now on when thert:'t, 1" ,l-:.ic,,; -::>ccaa.1'.\0 to o ~l . At 1 a t I on•t a wh t con­
cetvpl objection B•n.ntltt or It.,'\;· o! the rett o! t~n: '!i:.n b~ye ,:>n the way thi parti• 
cular iatervi•w and. e••· i.'\.al~'.Jn ,us ccH\<lu .; ttd 1.nd Pm qi.lite au.re- the Wa.rden feela 
tbe nm•. 

Well. r. i t o t. Erl • <i l' U b ba k. int n d .. yia or ao pd W 
. .. ..., • d c ;,.,ci ' . ~ i,. ii ·11 • > y d lb t tim • 

il th.at you' ll a· • it in a d 1 or ao. 

lo tor now. E:le, 
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Hon. Chal Wb ler 
Norm n & Wheeler 
Attorneys at Law 
Fourth • Boa ton Stre ta 
Muskogee, Oklahoma 

Dear Chal: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Nov mber 5, Hti9 

There 1a one point on which I would like to en.eek. Uea rd­
les of the name of the firm who represented Bowling, did the me individual 
reprea nt him in th rape c • before the Grand Jury that pre■ented him in 
the Retha Mee , ley cue ? 

rrhis la juat hurried not • 

Hastily youra, 

ESG/mc 
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Mr. Alex Lee Gregory 
14418 Penrod Road 
Detroit 23, Michigan 

Dear Alex: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

November 5, 1959 

Right at the moment I can't put my finger on the fact&, but it us my recollec­
tion that the attorney. E. D. We t, who represent d Bowling at the trial on 
the rape cue wu not the aame attorney who repre ented hlm ln the statutory 
rape case. I had ~impression that either there wa a partnership or, in 
some way,a different individual handled the rape case for Bowling. I m only 
writing you this letter and sending a copy to Park Street and Marsh Houts ao 
that they can check. 

I am also enclosing copy of a letter to Chal Wheeler. 

Congratulations on the job you did en the polygraph with Bowling I 

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

Ha• tily yollra , 
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Hon. Park Street 
Attorney at Law 
800 NBC Building 
San Antonio 5. Texas 

Dear Park: 

Just a hurried note. 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

November 5, 1959 

Can you check with your investigator and find out if the person who repre­
sented Bowling in the rape case at the time of the Grand Jury investigation 
was the same individual who represented him 1n the Retha Mccawley case? 

It is my opinion that he was not. As I remember it, your investigator called 
me on the phone, and at that time the individual who represented Bowling 
when the rape case was before the Grand Jury talked to me on the phone. --
1 know that I talked to him somewhere and discussed the case with him or 
else I have some letters on the cue, but I can't clarify my recollection. 

ESG/mc 
Encl. 

Hurriedly yours, 



Hon. Reed Cozart 
Pardon Attorney 
Department of Justice 
Office of the Pardon Attorney 
Washington, D. c. 

COPY 

TELEGRAM 

November 9., 1959 

RELET BOWLING AM NOW COMPLETELY CONVINCED BOWLING INNOCENT 

OF CRIME FOR WHICH CONVICTED BUT MY PERSONAL INCLINATION AFTER 

CONSIDERING HIS RECORD IS TO ASK FOR COMMUTATION OF SENTENCE 

SO HE CAN BE RELEASED ON PAROLE AND KEPI' UNDER SUPERVISION 

UNTIL HE MAKES READJUSTMENT. AM AWARE THIS PROBABLY IN CON­

FLICT WITH WISHES OF BOWLING'S COUNSEL BUT IT IS MY PERSONAL 

FEELING IN MATTER STOP ON DUKE CASE AM TO DISCUSS MATTER 

PERSONALLY WITH JUDGE TOLIN AND HOPE TO HAVE JUDGE CARTER 

PRESENT. WILL KEEP YOU POSTED. 

REGARDS, 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

COPY 



TO: 

FROM: 

November 5, 1959 

MEMORANDUM 

Messrs. James V. Bennett, Reed Cozart, J. St. Cl~ir Favrot, 
Alex Gregory. Rex Hawks. J. Edgar Hoover, Marshall Houts, 
Gene Lowall, Frank D. Mcsherry, Granville Scanland, Edward 
S. Silver, LeMoyne Snyder. Harry Steeger, Park Street, Chal 
Wheeler, Andrew Wilcoxen 

Erle Stanley Gardner 

As a veteran lawyer with some courtroom experience, as an investigator who 
has tried to unscramble a few cases after an individual has been convicted, I 
have always appreciated the limitations of trying to probe the mind of another 
and trying to establish the true facts. It is, therefore, always a pleasure to 
watch a really expert polygraph examiner at work. 

I regard Alex Lee Gregory as one of the best in the business. Experts in 
the field may say that my opinion is founded on a somewhat limited experience. 
However, Dr. LeMoyne Snyder, who is himself a past-president of the Academy 
for Scientific Interrogation, who is not a polygraph examiner but who has made 
a deep study of the subject and has been present at innumerable polygraph 
examinations, tells me that he regards Gregory as tops. 

In my opinion, the success or failure of a polygraph examination depends quite 
largely on the extent to which the exami.11er wins the confidence of the subject 
and the manner in which he prepares the subject. If the subject feels that it 
is inevitable that the truth, whatever it is, will come out, if he feels confi­
dence in the integrity and fairness of the examiner, he will quite frequently 
confess his guilt before the actual test is made. 

Unless the examiner has a thorough knowledge of his subject and a background 
of experience, a large percentage of his examinations will be "inconclusive." 
To the extent that he develop$ mo.re confidence and more practical experience, 
the percentage of inconclusive examinations shrinks away to virtually nothing. 

A good examiner tries to get the confidence of the man he is going to examine, 
then explains to him that if, in the back of the subject's mind, there are any sub­
conscious fears, those fears will" cause tensions during some portion of the 
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examination and will register on the machine and may impair the test. To 
the extent that he is reasonable and logical in his approach, to the extent 
that he is sincere and honest, he begins to win the confidence of the 
subject. 

Once he has won the confidence of the subject, the subject begins to 
explain to him the things in his life which may cause tension under ques -
tioning. And once he starts confessing to the examiner it is easy to go 
just a step farther and then again another step farther. 

If the examiner is understanding, if he has had a broad enough experience 
with human nature to understand human weaknesses and temptations. the 
subject will gradually start pouring out his problems. · 

Men who have violated the law, particularly in moments of weakness or­
intoxication, start rationalizing with themselves and eventually rea~h a 
point where they have a real yearning to be understood by their fellow men 
and get the bad part of it off their chest. 

I make these observations because of my knowledge of the cases where 
Gregory has been called in after hours and days of poli~e. interrogation 
have failed, where a subject is defiantly contending tha.t .he is innocent of 
the crime charged but where, within an hour or two, or perhaps even 
within the first thirty minutes, he has made a detailed confession to 
Gregory without ever having been examined on the polygraph •. 

Gregory used this technique with Marion Bowling. Before Bowlµig was ever 
put on the polygraph, Gregory knew all about his life, his weak.nesses and 
his sins. By the time Bowling was put on the polygraph he had told so much 
that there was nothing else to confess, and, as a result, he was free from 
tensions and was able to give such a conclusive test that Gregory and 
Snyder are both completely convinced of his innocence of the crime of 
rape-kidnapping for which he was convicted. They are also convinced that 
there can be no doubt Bowling was the man who was stopped by the officers 
in Vernon, Texas and that this was on the Saturday night when Bowen and 
his companion were at the dance in Oklahoma. 

I hesitate to start any dissertation on the technique of polygraph examination, 
but I think it is safe to say generally that most expert examiners try to find 
some question on which a man is going to lie. They want to get his pattern 
of answering questions truthfully and his pattern of telling a falsehood, 
Quite frequently, these control questions can be found in the field of sexual 
behavior; sometimes it is only enough to hint that the examiner is going to 
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ask questions of an embarrassing personal nature in order to bring about 
sufficient reactions so the examiner can determine the subject's pattern. 

I know that in one examination which I witnessed (an examination made by 
a person other than Gregory) the subject was asked whether he had ever 
taken dope. He admitted that he had. He was then asked if he had ever had 
dope since he had been in prison. The subject lied and the question made a 
good control question until the subject, who had evidently decided to come 
clean all the way through (and who, incidentally, was innocent of the crime 
for which he had been convicted) suddenly changed his answer and blurted 
out that he had had dope in prison. 

With Marion Bowling, the question which caused the most disturbance and 
which gave a good pattern for the examiner was whether he had violated the 
rules and regulations of the prison. 

Gregory and Snyder did not follow this up. They were interested only in 
determining Bowling's guilt or innocence of the crime charged. 

I mention this point because, in view of the co-operation we have received 
from the Government in connection with this test. I feel we should put all 
the cards on the table. 

Dr. James Baker was, I understand. present at all times and Gregory and 
Dr. Snyder never interviewed Bowling except in the presence of Dr. Baker. 

As is so frequently the case, the examination showed that Bowling was, in 
many respects, unworthy of the loyal devotion of his wife. However, in all 
probability, adequate polygraph examinations would indicate that about 
ninety-five percent of the men who are married to loyal, devoted wives 
are not entirely worthy of the trust and confidence placed in them by their 
wives. 

I am not going to touch upon this point because I feel that it is highly de­
sirable~ under the present status of the case, to have the marriage 
preserved. It is my personal opinion that Bowling has learned a lesson 
the hard way. 

Because I have a curiosity in the case and feel that it might well be 
significant as an investigative problem, I would like to have Gregory and 
Snyder examine both Bowen and Retha Mccawley. However, this quite 
apparently is out of the question and, for our purposes, is entirely 
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unnecessary. 

Marion Bowling is no angel. He was, however, in Vernon, Texas at the 
time Bowen and Bowen's companion were at the County Line Dance Hall near 
Duncan, Oklahoma. Bowling was home probably around two o'clock on the 
Sunday morning, at a time when Bowen and his companion had picked up 
Retha Mccawley. Marion Bowling was unquestionably home before daylight. 
Mrs. Bowling is completely sincere and truthful and has never, in any way, 
suppressed or falsified any evidence which would be of value in determining 
the case. 

Of course, as attorneys we can realize that if there had been adequate cross­
examination the case would probably have fallen apart in the courtroom. It 
is, nevertheless, disturbing to think that an innocent man can be convicted 
of a crime he did not commit and spend twelve years of his life in prison. 

We have tried to co-operate with the authorities in this case and we certainly 
appreciate the extent to which the various authorities have co-operated with 
us. 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

ESG/mc 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Hon. William s. McKeeaon 
Di trlct Attorney of Los Angeles County 
600 Hall of Ju■tice 
t..oa Ana•l•• 12, CalUor 

Dear Bill: 

November 10, 1959 

I am tremendouely lntereated in the rt of your letter of November 5th which 
indicate• you are etandina at the croesro da wond rlq whether to nan for re­
election ln 1880, or to "take on the Job of ape rhe ding the movement" which 
my a eociatea in the Court of L t Re ort and I bave c rrled forward. I would 
like to di cue■ thi• matter with you som time when we can both draw loq 
breath. It la a little too compile ted to di cu • in a letter, but I am now work­
ln, on the followin, aeneral idea:-

1. Park Street will lncorpor te a non-profit oraa ization in Tes 
Un • outlined in th p mphlet, "Juat Ju tice". 

on1 the 

2. The orl1inal lncorporatora would be the member• of the Court of Last 
Reeort, but thla would be merely for th purpo■e of ettinc the thing und rway 
with.out havl all of the v rloua differ nee of opinion which would re ult from 
trytn1 to 1et a lar1e aroup to reach an reem nt. It would, moreover. prevent 
persona who are tntereated, but who couldn't ttend the me tin 1n Texas, from 
feelln1 they bad been discrimin ted aatn■t. 

3. _..~or period of ninety • after incorporation y per110n tntere ted would 
be permitted to Join • a charter member. There fter hl• cerUftcate of member-­
abip would uow that he w a charter member of th or1aniz Uon and thi• 
charactertzaUon would be carried for rd durtna the life of hia membership. 
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Hon. illiam B. McKesson Page 2. 
ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

November 10, 1959 

4. There would be no due& for a period of ninety daya. After ninety days charter 
members would atart payina the same due■ aa regular· members. and ll persons 
p ly ng for mem rship fter nine days would be regular members at reason­
bl ues, such a ive llara a ye • 

5. There would also be a suatalning membership at a hundred dollars or more 
per year. 

6. The r ourt o ort ha in at o mph 1z d the 
problem of th inn c nt r n ho i w vie ed. cor ration 
would cover the entire field of justice and in particular would be deai,ned to 
improve obedience to law and reapect for law, but it would work on rdhe ded 
buainesa baais and not get tr pped within circle of eneralltiea where it had no 
specific interim objectives . (Some people. lntendin to cllm a mou in, imply 
think of how nice it would be to reach the top. The r sio mou in clbn , 
who actu lly 1eta up the mountain, mape out each atep of the aacent. ) 

It would be very eaey to get boaged down in ban 1 gene UUe • People aren't 
golna to respect 1 w and obey law unlesa the f mportance of ao dot n1 ls broupt 
home to them. 

You have a lot of friend • a lot of infiuence. d a back round which would be of 
the de•ired obj ctive , and it Ju■t mi,tat be th t you would 

m • ort would be crowning chievement. 

I pro 
ni ht. I 

bly oi 
n't k o 

to m kt p on tbe 
wh t er they plan to put it on th 

tomorrow 
ter on. 

I am 1lad you're !na an lntereet in thia Verlie Brun110n caae. Thi■ ia a ca■e 
where 1t would •• m that the facts ar pretty well e tabliehed. Give me a few 
c ea re pro ecutora h th tr e rn to corr ct i r'le1u'"• or ju tice 
a d I'll show you an lm r m nt In y ur pu Uc r laUona that to n in • 

I ju t don •t tbink proeecutora 1enerallyre iz o y do need to improv 
th lr public r ona. or ow m ch good uld compliahed in th ole Id 
of la enfor nt if th y w d 11ch tmprovem nt. 

With all 100d wiahe • 

Yours. 

ESG:hr 
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Hon. James V. Bennett, Director 
Bureau of Prisons 
Department of Justice 
Washington 25, D. C. 

Dear Jim: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

November 10, 1959 

I was mighty glad to get your letter of November 4th with a copy of Dr. Baker's 
report, but I am in quite a spot when you suggest that my retyped letter be 
published because that letter would be subject to two major criticisms. One of 
them is that I am trying to pose as an expert without sufficient background or 
knowledge and the second is that this letter might impair the efficiency of 
polygraph examinations if potential subjects realized the importance of getting 
the proper mental attitude on the part of the subject prior to starting the 
examination. 

This is one of the reasons that I have such tremendous confidence in Alex 
Gregory. I think the way in which he works with a subject makes the subject 
a push-over when he is actually hooked on to the machine. 

It's hard to tell just how important this is. but on Page 7 6 of the Second Edition 
of Fred E. Inbau's "Lie Detection and Criminal Interrogation" there are two 
graphs. One of them is that of a burglar who felt that the test was simply a 
bluff and therefore had no fear of the questions or of the examination, The 
result was that, even though guilty, he ran a perfect record of innocence, 
However. due to certain circumstantial evidence. the examiner, acting purely 
on a hunch, bluffed him into making a confession which was verified by the 
discovery of the stolen property. 

The second case indicates a pattern of a sex pervert who would have escaped 
detection entirely if it hadn't been for conscientious police work which resulted 
in a confession that was verified by the finding of the body. 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Hon. James V. Bennett 2, November 10, 1959 

On Page 21 of the same book there is a graph in which apparently a guilty person 
would have been declared innocent if it hadn't been for a peculiar rhythm in the 
breathing twent seconds after hi.a answer to a pertinent question. I believe 
that ome examiners ask questions at ten-second intervals . 

In this same book by Inbau, on Page 11 he suggests a lapse of time of fifteen to 
twenty seconds. 

This book was subsequently expanded into a third edition in which John E. Reid, 
the noted polygraph examiner, joined as an author. 

I have not carefully checked the later edition to see if these same graphs appear. 

My letter to you in which I gave you my opinion of the polygraph, was marked 
Personal and Confidential because I didn't send a copy to my associates in the 
Court of Last Resort, and particularly to Dr. Snyder and Alex Gregory. Since 
you were playing so fair with us and because I felt you were becoming keenly 
interested in the progress of the case and, in particular, in the polygraph exami­
nation, I wanted you to have my frank, personal appraisal before the test was 
made and before the outcome was known. 

Some years ago I was honored by being elected to life membership in the 
Academy for Scientific Interrogation. I would dislike to have anything published 
over my name that would perhaps antagonize a large segment of the members 
of this organization and yet I can appreciate your desire to have some accurate 
appraisal so that persons associated with you can know a little more about the 
polygraph. 

Incidentally, at the bottom of Page 3 of the retyped letter, the first sentence 
in the last paragraph should read: "There is no question but what this has led 
on numerous occasions to findings by the less experienced polygraph examiners 
that a guilty person is innocent because he may have reacted to a control ques­
tion yet failed to react to significant questions concerning the crime." 

However, Jim, I don't think there is much need to discuss this further because 
quite apparently what you are interested in is getting an accurate, factual 
appraisal of the polygraph; not necessarily from the viewpoint of the expert 
examiner but from the viewpoint of a man whose official responsibilities make 
it necessary for him to detect deception from time to time. 

Therefore, why not arrange to have material sent directly to you and then let 
you prepare a report, giving a summary of the opinions sent in from various 
individuals; and, on the strength of that report, determine the policy to be used 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Hon. James V. Bennett 3. November 10, 1959 

in connection with polygraph examinations in the Federal prisons (starting out 
with the premise that polygraph examinations would be permitted only in 
exceptional cases and that the weight to be given reports would depend on the 
circumstances of the case, the appraisal of the warden as to the manner in 
which the test was conducted, etc., etc.). I am mentioning these hurriedly 
by way of offhand suggestion. You would want to work them out carefully 
after you had all the data at hand, I think I could arrange to put you in contact 
with sources from which data could be obtained. 

I am sending copy of this letter to Alex Gregory and Dr, LeMoyne Snyder and 
asking them to write you frankly, giving their personal opinions, 

Inspector Riedel of the Berkeley Police has, I believe, retired. He was the 
man who was most emphatic in his statement that persons who made their 
living by the polygraph were prone to rationalize some of the problems involved. 

Unless there is some personal reason why you don't want to do this, an appraisal 
by you of the entire situation would be of the greatest value in law enforcement 
and in the field of crime investigation. 

There are, of course, differences of opinion among the really competent 
experts. I have a feeling that Fred lnbau thinks that Alex Gregory wastes 
altogether too much time with a subject and perhaps makes too many tests. 
On the other hand, Dr, Snyder tells me Gregory is head and shoulders above 
most of the experts in the field, I personally know this: That a great deal 
depends on the manner in which a subject is prepared, and I know from actual 
experience the conscientious attention to detail given by Gregory in this respect, 

As I remember it, lnbau made the suggestion that after a man had been con­
victed and incarcerated it was very difficult to get an accurate chart and he was 
quite apt to run a chart indicating innocence when he was actually guilty. 

I know that Gregory and Snyder have had repeated experiences with the Court 
of Last Resort where men, after many years of imprisonment, have reacted 
on the polygraph and shown unmistakable indications of guilt, In fact, I think 
Gregory feels that !! ~ subject !! e,_roperly erepared !!!_ advance he can r each 
an accurate determination with the polygraph regardless of how long the man 
has been in prison. 

If you would like to go into this a little more I think I can get you a letter from 
Dr, Condon in Phoenix, Arizona about the case of the innocent man who regis­
tered guilt. and I feel quite certain Chick Hanscom in Minneapolis would like 
to write you about his general ideas and, in particular, about two or three 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Hon. James V. Bennett 4. November 10, 1959 

specific cases which I know he has handled and which I would call to his attention. 

You would then have virtually all of my source material at your command and 
you could handle it any way you wanted to; either a memorandum to your 
wardens or a paper to be read at some particular meeting and thereafter 
published. 

If, on the other hand, you want to handle it as you suggested in your letter of 
November 4th, let me get a little more data and perhaps rephrase some of the 
conclusions therein so that they will not arouse too much antagonism. (For 
instance, in place of making it my own conclusion that there should be an 
evaluation of the polygraph by persons who don't use it as a means of livelihood, 
I would try to get authority to quote Inspector Riedel on that point.) 

In the meantime, Dr. Snyder and Alex Gregory know far more about the subject 
than I do and I am asking them to give you their views. 

I personally feel there are times when you will want to use the polygraph and 
I feel that a great deal of good can be accomplished by having some person in 
an official capacity such as yours make a general survey of the field in order to 
submit a disinterested report to persons engaged in investigative work and, in 
particular, in the field of penology. 

I'm tremendously interested in this whole thing because I think it is highly 
important. 

With all best wishes, 

Yours, 

ESG/mc 
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TO: 

FROM: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula, California 

November 10, 1959 

MEMORANDUM 

Messrs. Alex Gregory and LeMoyne Snyder 

Erle Stanley Gardner 

Apparently we have started something which may turn out to be of considerable 
benefit and again it may prove embarrassing. 

As you folks undoubtedly realize, I have been becoming increasingly friendly 
with Jim Bennett. 

Acting on a hunch, I sent Bennett a letter which I marked Personal and 
Confidential in which I gave him my personal opinion of the polygraph. I felt 
that he would accept my good faith in the matter and that it was quite possible 
this attempt at a fair appraisal, as nearly as I could give it, would loosen up 
the tensions which have undoubtedly existed as far as polygraph work is con­
cerned in the Federal prisons. 

The thing worked too well. I have now received a letter from Jim Bennett, 
copy of which is enclosed. 

This puts me way out on the end of a limb and I am writing Jim, according to 
copy enclosed, 

All of this correspondence should be studied carefully. 

Incidentally, you folks would probably be interested in a copy of the confidential 
report which went to Jim Bennett from Dr. Baker regarding your appearance 
there in Leavenworth, and I am enclosing a copy of that report, which was 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Memorandum 2. November 10, 1959 

forwarded me by Jim Bennett. 

I am also enclosing copy of a letter from Reed Cozart and a copy of a confidential 
telegram which I sent him. 

I have a feeling that in the ultimate analysis this Bowling case will open up 
channels of co-operation which have heretofore been closed or clogged. 

All this correspondence should be kept highly confidential because, as you can 
see, we are working in an area of extreme delicacy but, I feel, are making 
progress. 

ESG/mc 
Encl. -

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

Copy of letter from ESG to Jim Bennett, dated November 10, 1959 
Copy of letter from ESG to Jim Bennett, dated October 28, 1959 
Copy of Dr. J. L. Baker report 
Copy of letter from Reed Cozart to ESG, dated November 5, 1959 
Copy of telegram from ESG to Reed Cozart, dated November 9, 1959 



::s,::;; ,...11/e , -- ..... 

' --~~-~ :- ..:~ 

LeMoyne Snyder. Esq. 
325 Valley View Drive 
Paradise. California 

Dear LeMoyne: 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER. 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula, California 

November 10. 1959 

This is a confidential letter. I am not sending a copy to anyone, although I 
am writing Gregory a somewhat similar letter. 

I think this is one of the best opportunities we will ever have to improve the 
administration of justice, to cement friendly relations for the Court of Last 
Resort and to impress law enforcement officers with our sincerity. 

I think it would be of enormous personal benefit to you to follow up on this. 

ESG/mc 
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Hon . James v. Bennett - 11•30•'S9 • page 3. 

where we were lead to believe an innocent man was guilty 
or a guilty man innocent as the result of these tests . 

As the result ot our interview and the subsequent 
test on Marlon Dowling there 11 not the slightest question 
1n my mind that he 1s innocent ot the crime tor which he is 
now incarcerated . This is not a borderline oa•• • 

In the present stage ot the development ot the 
polygraph I agree v1th Erle that we are not 1et readJ to 
all unrestricted prea ntation ot polygraph evidence 1n 
oourt . However within the last week I was a witness on a 
murder trial in tbe State ot Washington where a complete 
d1sol08ure ot all findings by the pol ygraph technique was 
admitted in oourt without objection. At pres nt we have no 
recogniaed standard• by law tor qual1ty1n expe ts in this 
field . For that matter we do not have suah standards tor 
handwriting expert, tir min nd . tber in this 
gen ral ti ld eitb r . But b tr to long the t1mo will 
co when suoh standards v111 be eet and accepted am vben 
th t t1 o a I••• no reason why tb r ult ot poly rapn 
ex in t ion hould not be accept din oourt th s any 
other type ot ao1antit1c videno . 

'IMS/'f 
CC to Erlo Stanley Gardner 

Alex Gregory 

V ry trulJ your,, 

LeMo:,ne Snyder, M.D. 



Deoember 2, 19S9 

on. J e v. Bennett, Diraotor 
Bureau of Prisons 
United States De tmant of Justio 
Wa hlngton 2,, D.C. 

Dear Hr . Bennett, 

I am taking the lib rt7 ot aen41n1 
JOU a cop:, of my book HO:-· ICIDE INVESTIGATION 
which I hope JOU will aocept with 1111 compliments. 

One of the ohapters la on the technique 
of scient1t1c lnterrog tion written by Alex 
Gregory h oonduot od the t ost on Bowling . I 
think it my hel p to give you am re complete 
picture of the whole problem of the search tor 
truth. 

Sinoerel7 10urs, 

UIS/va LeHoyna Snyder, H.D. 
CC to Erle Stanley Gardner 



JAMES V. BENNETT 
DIRECTOR 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
BUREAU OF PRISONS 

Dr. LeMoyne Snyder 
325 Valley View Drive 
Paradise, California 

Dear Dr. Snyder: 

WASHINGTON 25 

December 11, 1959 

I have your letters of November 30 and December 2 
and the copy of your book that you so thoughtfully sent me. 
As Erle has told you, I am personally very rouch interested 
in this matter of polygraph examination. I want to develop 
a policy on its use that will be fair to the inmates of our 
institutions and an accurate guide to us in weighing the ad­
visability of permitting polygraph examinations in exceptional 
cases. 

I certainly appreciate your kind assistance, and 
after I have collected and organized enough material on the 
subject, I may wish to write you again concerning any ques­
tions that may occur to me. 

With best wishes for an 



December 23, 1959 

Erle Stanley Gardner, Esq . 
Rancho del Paisano 
Temecula, California 

Dear Erle1 

I have just received your bulletin about the 
Bowling case and it is just the sort of double talk that 
I anticipated we would get from Rogers. When he talks 
about the lapse or thirteen years casting a doubt about the 
reliability of the polygraph test he simply doesn't know 
what he is talking about . That juicy morsel was undoubtedly 
handed to him from someone from the F.B.I. and he 1s using 
it simply as a means ot crawling out ot this situation. 

I don't know whether or not it is still possible 
to appeal the decision of the judge in Oklahoma and take 
this matter before the United States Circuit Court of Appeals . 

At any rate I am ready and willing to put this 
matter before John Hannah and Frederick ueller, Secretary 
of Commerce. The only question at the moment is what is the 
best way to do it. I expect to be back in East Lansing the 
latter part of February and would .much prefer to lay the whole 
t y before him personally rather than trying to do it by 

• Of course this ,hole pardon1 g us .n 1,s not a matter 
o xed goverrun nt policy but is simply a matter of :he whim 
of the Attorney General. You may Tecall that shortly after 
President Truman took office he pardoned several notorious 
Kansas City hoodlums who happened t b ti up ~1th t Pr n­
dergast machine. In that case there as no qu stion of their 

11, d they had served only a short part of their minimum 
sentences . ;a:.. ~:'.ru' :?. i~o ·.JJ.T c :v:sr 

.r,;:\ l b,o -we o f't :v g t er before long and talk this 
matter over and furtner hope t hat when you write Rogers you 
don't pull any punches and let him have both barrels. If they 
think that the Bowling case has no,, been swept under the rug 
let them know that there is a skake-out coming th t they 111 

L .'-' JJJ • - - - • 
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January a, 1960 

Lt. Peter A. Betz 
Box 57, 923rd C\• ON 
APO 434, New ork 

Dear Lieutenant: 

I have received your letter ot 
December 27th inquiring about the possibilities 
in the field of Forensic Science. 

It would seem to me that with the fine 
bac.kground you have in the field of Zoology that 
you could get ahead much more rapidly by pursuing 
that field than getting into something completely 
different. The field of Forensic Science is so 
completely differer.t from what you have already 
been well trained in that I think your time could 
be much better spent towards getting a Masters 
in Zoology. 

However if you are convinced that this 
1s what you want to do I would suggest that you 
write to the Dept.~ ot Police Administration ot 
Michigan State University in East Lansing. They 
give courses in all the various lines of police 
science and I think they co_uld inform you as to 
what would be necessary to qualify yourself. 

Sincerely yours, 

LMS/vs LeMoyne Snyder, M.D. 



Lt. PETER A. BETZ 
Box 57, 923rd ACWRON 

APO u34, New York 

Dr. LeMoyne Snyder 
P.O. Box ll25 
Paradise, California 

Dear Sir: 

27 December 1959 

I recently wrote to Mr. Erle Stanley Gardner in hope 
of obtaining advice on the field of Forensic Science, and 
his secretary, Hedy Roripaugh, suggested that you might be 
willing to help me. 

I am a graduate of the University of Michigan, having 
obtained a B.S. in Zoology in 1957. Since then I have 
been in the Air Force, in the incongruous job of Radar 
Intercept Director in the Air Defense System. I have no 
desire to remain in this field or in the Air Force and am 
expecting to be released within a year. I am unmarried arrl 
twenty-four years old. 

In addition, I am intensely interested in firearms. I 
am accumulating a fair collection of modern weapons and am 
studying up in preparation for collecting earlier cartridge 
arms. I also collect cartridges and have been making a 
serious study of ballistics and firearms development. All 
this has led to an interest in Forensic Ballistics and 
scientific crime detection in general, and I strongly desire 
to find employment in some type of law enforcement laboratory 
when I separate from the Air Force. Mr. Gardner's secretary 
tells me you are enga~ed in this field and if you could take 
the time to give me some advice along this line I would 
anpreciate it very much. 

My main questions are as follows: 

Is my background suitable to qualify me for a 



position in Forensic Science? 

What type and de~ree of schooling, other than a 
medical degree, would be appropriate to improve my chances? 

Where is the best place to start making inquiries 
for employment -- State Police? Cities in which I'm 
interested? Can you give me the names of any specific 
individuals to whom I ought to write? 

I am especially interested in the Southwest, and 
am under the impression that facilities are scarce in that 
area. Is this true, and how can I firrl out where the 
various labs are? 

Any other information you would care to give me would 
also be greatly appreciated, and I thank you for whatever 
assistance you can supnly. 

Sincerely, 

f~ 
Peter A. Betz 
1st Lt, USAF 
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COPY 

From Foster L. Bowen Date February 15, 1960 

PMB 63980 To Erle Stanley Gardner 

Temecula, California 

Honorable Sir: 

I have received your letter of February 3th. I am glad to hear you are inter­
ested in the case. Now I want to asure you I want the test and I am willing to co­
operate with who ever you send here to work with me, 

I am sure you realize the· U~ S. Attorney will get a copy of this letter before you 
get it. So I think it wise to send one of your investigation here to get the facts, and 
verfy them before making them know to the u.s. Attorney. 

And the facts will prove I was not where the McCauley woman swore she was 
held all night, and I am sure the records will show there was no tracks at the place 
she showed the Sheriff the same day. 

The reason I was not afraid of being aristed in Ringold Texas at the bus station 
is that I had not committed no crime. 

When I was aristed at the bus station and the Sheriff put me in his car, this 
McCauley woman turned around on the seat and look at me for some time, and then 
she told the Sheriff to watch me for I had some guns. But the fact is I never owned 
a gun in my life. She also told the Sheriff it happened about 10:30 P. M. 

Ruth McCauley is the only person I know who could give you the name of my 
companion that night. I am sure she know him well. 

Now I was robbed for one hundered and eighty dollars that night, the only money 
I had left the next day wa~ a little change. 

But the officials dont want to hear about this. Why? 

Very truly yours, 

/ s/ Foster L. Bowen 

COPY 



COPY 

From Foster L. Bowen 

P. M. B. 63980 

To Erle Stanley Gardner 

Honorable Sir: 

COPY 

March 6, 1960 
ae 

Rancho Del Paisano 

Temecula, California 

I want to thank you for what you are trying to do for me and a lot of others. 

Now the truth is so simple there is no one who will believe it, they say I 
am lying about it, but I am noto 

About the test the sooner I get it the better for I dont know any thing about 
the crime, 

And another thing I dont lie to any one. My word is my bond here and 
out side too so you need not worry about that. 

But I know some one is lying about it and I am sure I know who it is but I 
have no way to prove it, and I am sure you know to, 

I am sure some of the records has been clutter up, but I know where we can 
get a true copy of at lest some of them. 

Yes justice is something we could use a lot of but the way I see it we dont 
get much of it. Maybe I am bitter after so long a time with out it, I just dont 
know. 

But I am ready for the test any time they get down here. 

Very truly yours 

(signed) Foster L. Bowen 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER. 
RANCHO DEL PAISANO 

Temecula] California 

March 26, 1960 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

Messrs. Gregory and Snyder 

Erle Stanley Gardner 

I have just listened to the record dictated by Alex on Monday, March 21st in which 
he states that he feels he should know what he is going to try to prove before he 
goes down to run Bowen on a lie detector. 

We aren't trying to prove anything except our good faith and the efficacy of 
scientific interrogation. 

We are committed to try and find the truth in this Bowling case. Bowen's story, 
whatever it may be. enters into it. If we don't take Bowen's statement, whatever 
it may be, and test it for truth, the feeling will be either that we are afraid to do 
so because we distrust the results we got with Bowling, or that we don't have 
enough confidence in a polygraph examination to let it be checked by a polygraph 
examination of another individual who has knowledge of the facts. 

I don't know what Bowen's story is going to be. 

There was a letter received during my absence from him in which he gave a some­
what sketchy statement to the effect that he was the victim rather than the aggressor. 
In talking with the warden over the telephone, I gathered a few more details. 
Unless I am mistaken, Bowen's story will be something like this: "I was very 
drunk. I was with someone but I don't know who he was. This man had a girl 
companion. That girl was Ruth Mccawley. I had nearly two hundred dollars in 
my pocket. When I sobered up, I had been rolled. I was in a field outside of this 
small town in Texas. I got up from the grass where I had been lying; I felt 
terrible. I walked to the bus station. That is all I know. I do know that Retha 
Mccawley was the girl who picked me up and I feel that she and her companion 



Memorandum 2. March 26, 1960 

rolled me of my money." 

I doubt very much if this could be put off until such time as LeMoyne Snyder just 
happens to be back East on other matters, unless there is a May seminar and a 
definite date could be fixed in May -- in which event that date should be announced 
right now. 

There is always the possibility that Bowen may change his mind. 

We must remember to look at this from the viewpoint of the FBI and the Federal 
Prison Bureau, as well as the Attorney General's Office. From their viewpoint, 
if we are sincere in our desire to investigate all aspects of this case we would 
have jumped at the chance to give Bowen a lie detector test. Every day's delay 
makes it look as though we have been caught by an unexpected development which 
we didn't anticipate and which we don't welcome. 

I feel very definitely that we should fix a definite time and give Jim Bennett an 
opportunity to be there. 

Alex has given him an invitation to come and watch him run someone on the 
polygraph. Bennett is interested. Bennett, however, is tremendously interested 
in this case. He wants to know more about it. Therefore, this is the case in 
which we sha>Uld make our demonstration. 

If Bowen thinks he is telling the truth, bring that out. If he is lying, bring that 
out. And, above all, at the time you talk with him, before you administer the 
polygraph test, try and get him to tell the truth as he knows it. It is quite 
possible that Bowen was pretty drunk that night. If it were not for the testimony 
of Ralph Bloodworth, I would feel somewhat different about the entire case. As 
it is, however, I think Bowen's story, if it conforms to the above pattern, will 
show that it is, in part, true and, in part, false., 

I feel that Bowen is very sincere in his desire to have Ruth Mccawley given a 
polygraph test. I don't think she will take one. There is no way she can be 
forced to take one. She can very well state that she desires to have this a closed 
chapter in her life. 

It is my opinion that within the next week we should fix a date for the examination, 
that that should be the earliest possible date., that we should notify the warden and 

~ t and notify Bowen that you will be there on that date. 

Let's nail this one down while we have the chance and not let it slip through our 
fingers. 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

ESG/rnc 
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. I ,, 

86TH CONGRESS 
tBd Session } SENATE { 

NATIONAL PENITENTIARIES 

APRIL 11, 1960.~Ordered to be printed 

REPORT 
No. 1268 

Mr. HENNINGS, from the Committee on the Judiciary, submitted 
the following 

REPORT 
[Pursuant to S. Res. 60, 86th Cong., 1st sess., as extended] 

Th stancling ubcoromitt . on NaLional Penit • 1t.iari s of the Com­
mitt e on the Judiciary, pursuant to cnate Resolutio11 60, agreed to 
Feb1·ua1·y 2, 1959 which p1·ovid-ed tluit t..b.e ommitte on th Judj i­
ary, or any duly authoriz d sub omrruttee, examine, investigat.e, and 
inspect nationa1 _penitentiari • io accordance wi th th r.pmmiUec's 
jurisd iction speci:fied by rule 25 of Lhe 'ta:nding Rule of the Sena 
and report its findings to the Senate, reports as follows: 

Du ·iug the 1st session. of th 86th ongress , memb -l's a:nd represent­
a tives of the subcommittee have visited the .S. penitentiaries at 
Alcat1·az Calif., and A t.la11ta Ga. , the iederal reformaLory for women 
a t Alder on, W. a. t,he corr ctional institutions at Lompo , alif., 
and Engl wood, olo., aud th ational Tra.ining S<..iliool for Bo s iu 
Wa hlngton, D . . 

By their very nature and puJ'poses prisons represent a highly sensi­
tiv areii of public administration, a,T:1d i t.i tb con idered view of the 
conµnitte tha t th 1mding ubcommit,tee on ational Penitenti_ru:ies, 
which has been in existence ·sinc the 80th . ongress has·had a sa.luLm-y 
infiu nee on the operation of our ◄ ede.roJ prison . n other jm·isdic­
tions the penal syst m is a typicall. r egle t.cd facet of goYernmen t, 
and the w:orl of the subcommittee in inspecti~1g our F deral institu­
tions affords a significant m eans of determinina the needs of these 
instJtutions, the fficien y with which they a1· operated, and the 
welfare of inmate and mpJoyees alike. Through frequent. visits to 
these in t itutaons U1e Member of the enat ha.v an opportunity to 
talk to th · inmates and to hear any g1·i va.nces which they may feel 
they have. The members of the subcommitte also discuss with the 
personnel. of the F deral rison ervi e the pro blem . affecting housing, 
custod,y, di'scipli.ne, food; 'health, ttna. recreati'd:h 'fb · l'b'.ni8;tes. The 
members of the subcommittee feel that th fr a Livities d•finitely 
contribute to the inmate and personnel morale of our Federal prisons 

1 



2 NATIONAL PENITENTARIES 

and help to maintain the quality of justice that should be charac-
teristic of the F deral jurisdiction . . . 

Th subcom.mittce has iucu1Ted no expeuditures for staff personnel 
during the past, . eal·. . !Ir. F1·ancis C. Rosenberger, a member o~ the 
staff of the foll orunutt has ser ed as Olll1sel to the subcomm1 ttee 
in o.ddit,ion to his h r 'duties. The mod st expenditu · of. t?,e 
sub om:mitte hu.v b en u d nthely in com1ecti?n ~j ~ the V1s1ts 
of members of the committee t,o th Federal p nal m. titl~t10ns. 

The vari.ou visits mu,d by roemb rs of th comnutte to the 
Federal prisons and the m~n discyssions _with Directo1: Jnmes V. 
Bennett, and his staff from time to tun dm·~g the y. n:r d1sc~ose that 
the Bm·eau of Prisons was e.,'\'.tremely a:tive durrng 1%9. ~he 
probl m llJld duti s of this agency have m r as ~ markedly, w1.Lh 
the total pri oner population xperi ncing annual incr m nts of 600 
to 1,000 prisoners in recent years. For exampl , the Bll.1' au. of 
Prisons r ceiv d 16,000 prison rs from th F d ral cow-t: du.rmg 
calendar year 1959, dischn,rged 15,300, and at tho en~ of December 
hnd more than 22 600 in COJ.1fin,em nt, as ompared w1t,h 1948 wh n 
the Buren.u r ceiv d 12,300 prisoners, discharged 13, 00, and ended 
tb.e period with 16,300. . . 

In an effort to contain this rapidly expanding prison~· population, 
the Bureau of Prisons exton.ded its institutiol)-al capa01t by \lbout 
10 percent dwing 195~. This. was accomplished by reopenrng a 
pri on ~t Saud.stone, ~nn:, w_hic~ had ~o~n _on _le11Se _to. the ta_te, 
convertmg to a co1·1·eclaonal mst.itut1on a di.sc1pµnaiy bariacks ~eclaied 
excess to Lhe Army's needs at Lompoc, CaJrf., and develop~ng the 
facilities of three prison camps to accomroodat more ~11soners. 
The opening of the two _instituLiOJ?S htl.:5 reduced overc1:owd~g. fro~ 
the very serious })l'0pod1ons described rn the subcomnutte_ s repo~ t 
last y ar. L ss than 5 months after Lompoc a~d a.ndsto~e w re 
mad available for th coll1D'.litment of Federal pnsone}-'.s, thell' co~­
bin.ed JlOpulation had rea~ed ov _:r 1,050 n:nd, we are ~or.D?-ed,. will 
s0011 reach J ,800, the combm cl de&gn capacity of the two mstitut1011s. 

The subcommittee was pleased ~o note tbnt th 9ongress at the la~t 
se sion appropriated funds to begm Lbe constl'uctioD: of a new ~ax1-
mum custody peuitenti111·y, as recommended by t;h1s subcom~ttee 
a year ago. The Bureau of Prisons has alread:y: select d a site fo:r 
thi institution near Marion, Ill., developed archite tural plans, and 
performe~ prepara~ory groundwork to fa~ilita~e th_e start of actual 
construct1on later m 1960. The new peruLe11t111ry lS expected to be 
completed sometime 111:t~ in 1962. . 

Last y.ear th Judicuuy Comnutt approved ~d the S~n~te 
passed a bill authorizing the replacom nt _of tho Nat1o_na.l Trau~mg 
School for Boys at Washington, D.C. Specifically, the bill a,uthor1zed 
the sale of th property of the present s hool and Lho use ?f t~e 
proceeds for the construction of a new school lsewh. r . This bill, 
howcver1 has not yet b en act. d upon °l?Y th;e ou. e. T?e ne_ d. for 
replacin()' the present school 1S becoming mer a rngly rmperative. 
Wjth a ;at -d capacity of 288, the school now houses about 459 boysJ 
and approximn;t ly Lhe same nttmber of boys have had to be d1vort_ed 
to other facilities. Even if the scbo~l w re not _overcrowge_d, its 
facilitie would still b inadequate £or _1ts purposes_ rn the op1ruon of 
the subcommi-ttoe which sent its staff counsel to mspe t the ~chool 
m April 1959. 1-.~any of its buildings are among the oldest m the 
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Federal pri on service, dating back _to .1875. At least two of the 
cottage.~ and sev-01·0.l of the other buildings are rundown str~ictuxes, 
and even the fow buildings that have had some renovation are 
hazardou from the taudpoint of fir safety. It seems unfortunate 
that the Federal Gov 'rumont's ole institution for the care and 
treatment of juvenile delinquents should have the most wornol!t and 
inadequate facilities in the Federal priso11 system. The locat10n of 
the school was once a pleasant countryside on the outski_rts of '\Y as~­
iugton, but the m trop litan ar a hn, gro,".11 up around 1t

1 
ma.long 1t 

a higbl inappropria't place for the detc~t10u and conectional treat­
ment of younf$ offend rs. '~he subcomnnttee ~rges that t~e Congres$ 
tak early rict10n to appropnat fund co penmt, construction of a n w 
and modern boy ' scho l. . 

Among other p1·essi_ag con truction u • ds of the Federal prison 
system is another med1cril center for Fed rnl p11s~ne1·s. Tho present 
Springfield 1v!o., facility ":as constructed eady m the 1939 s. when 
th F de.ral pri on population was nearly 10,000 less than 1t 1 now 
and when the cho,racter of the populo..tion was much more stable. 
With th ex-paneling u e of probation and the dwindling pr~portion of 
the relative} · amenable ty pes of offen_dors, t~e Feder11l _prisons ~ave 
assumed the care and t.reat.ment of an mcreasmg proportion of pr1son.­
ers who have chronic men tal ill!)- · eas psycho ~s, physica1 pat.ho~ogies, 
and deformities. Th Springf.teld onter, wi th o. ~·atecl capac1~y of 
about 1,100, falls coosi ;lerably short of acco!wnodatin&" all_ the prison­
ers who should be rece1vmg long-term medical, psychiatnc, and hos­
pital car , ~nd t~e e~c . hn.s had to be 1:eta.~ed 1;Il the p_eni ten t:iru:ies 
and correct.ional mstit ut10ns, none of winch 1s satisfactorily eqruppec;l 
to handle other than sborL-t rm medicnJ. problems. 

Because the prisoner populations of the 32 Bur au of Pri oo institu­
tions are increasing at a much faster rate than the size of the employee 
complements, the Burefl.u reorgarri¼ed it.s entire pers01mel program 
dming the year in order to strengt}Jen mploye perfo1·mance and 
Cal'l'Y the greatly augmente i workloads. Entrance examinations for 
prison per onnel were made more difficult, screening proc dlll'es for 
prosp ctive applicants were tightened up, and the training of per­
sonnel wns h1tensified. The typical prison service employee now par­
ticipates continuously in some type of training from the day h enters 
on duty until the time of hi retirement. Despite these greater 
pressures, personnel 'turnover for th · Prison Bureau avorag cl in 1959 
only half the rate for the Government service as a whole. The sub­
committee was })leused to note this as evidence of the good working 
relation hip in the Prison Bureo.u. We also were plea eel tha.t the 
last ses ion of the Conoress recommended that the Bureau of Prisons 
r eceive at least four more supergrade positioJ1s. 

As in past years, the priso11 service stressed economy durino- 1959.; 
the av rage co t of feed~ng on inmate f~r 1 day~ fo1: example, ~as kept 
down to 49 cents. This was done by highly se1ect1v purc.basmg and 
by a moJ:·e efficient ope1:a.ti.on of the 24 prison [arms of the service. 
These farms produced on -third of th total food poundage consumed 
in all the Bureau's institutions for one-half what it would have cost to 
pUl'chnse the same quantity of food on the market. The agricultur.al 
and animal husbandry activi.ties ,produced more than 75 million 
pounds of all commodities, exceeding tbe agency's r cords for previous 
years and national averages for similar l;ypes of production. Other 
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economics were also achieved b · an energetically pursued p licv o( 
using guipn'l ut, maLerial , and upplies leolared exces to then ds 
of other agencies, a policy which kep · tJ1 Bure1w's budget for these 
items 20 percent b low what ii. would have be had th e acquisitions 
b •n made by purchas ·. 

The _Bureau participated it~ a p_ilo sen ten i ng inst_· tute a _Beuld r, 
olo., 111 July 1959, und 1· l -g1slaWon app1·ov cl by Lh1s committee lll'l.d 

enacted by th - ongress in 1958 to provide fL mellJls for minimizing 
excessive disparities iu th s ntenc - imposecl upon onvi te.d Fe leral 
offenders. T Buueau pr -par -d much of h to. isLi , Cft e his­
tories, ~1,nd other materials us d at the con.ferenc , and coop rated 
with th • Fedeml ju li iar. in levelo_ping a1id car1·)ring out th ag~nda. 
T his committ \\ it rnpt -nt ,cl at th institut by fr. Francis 
Rosenbei:ger of th eommitte l-aff. The i st,i ut expl01·ed vnriou 
factors affecting th • oten ing ptoc,ss an L th. al eroative types of 
sentences tha can b imposed on tbe indivirlual offend •r. Similar 
institutes were held bY . ventl of Lhe cix ·uit cllll'ing th htf:.-t ,r pn.rt, 
of L959, a a pa:rt of the regular instit·ut progrn.m which will be an;ied 
ou in the fo ur in conjunc ion wibh li circuit 'Onf · n e . a 
•, rul oI 1 es · in i ute , an in r a ittg numb r of pri oner are b eing 
committed to the Burenu of Prisons inst.i ution under th .ne,v pre­
s ntenc dia,gi o Li pro<~ dure an L th n ·w ind terminat etl't n · 
provisions of the 195 statute. The subcommi ·te -6nds that this 
developm nth lps Lhe Bm·e0it1 of Pri ous to do a 11101· • prof ional 
job of rehttbilita ing off -nd r ; th n w proc dmes R.lso enable the 
Blll·eiiu to re a.in for longer p rtod many 1 ri on rs who ca1lll I; b 
sal'el , rel a.secl. 

Federal Prison Industries, Inc., th Gov0rnment corpora~ion 
chtM·ged with op rating the 52 industrial shops and factories i.n t 1e 
Federal p nuJ. iilstitutions, continued to produce at hi~h levels during 
1959. For the fiscal year ,nd cl Jun 30, 959 1 .it sol<i more Lhan $31 
million in goods an i services 'O oth r Gov rnment agencies, earued 
net industrial profits of $5¼ million, and paid a dividend of $4 :tmlllon 
into th Treasury of th nit d tat . It mployed on a full-time 
basis about 20 percent of nil Federal prisoners, paying them average 
wages of about $33 rnon.thly. The corporn,tion mad substantial 
progre on a $5 million AJs.-pan ion progl'am Lo provide opportmutios 
for the mployment of a larger nnmber of p.ri oner. Jew iniustrial 
activities wer put into production in th inanufo.ctm- of el ctronic 
components, anvas goods, and rubbel' products, a,ncl two new service 
it1dust;ri s, -furniture refinishing and the re pail: o:f cales and · quip­
ment used by other , d ral agen ies, wer started. The corporation 
is n~w ~tudyin~ _10 0~ r types of in. lustry for tl?eir po~ential value in 
fm-m hmg ad lit1onal nrn:mte mployment and m rensmg th annual 
dividends paid into th Treasury. 

Althou~h the Bureau of 1·isons has coutimrnd to base its manage­
ment policies on c nsiderations of stringent economy, it i apparent 
that the Bureau, in ad li ti JI. Lo new in ticutional construction, must 
hav fu11cls to improv its existi.ug facilities . . N eedod plant repairs 
and improvements are accumulating at II. fast r ro.te than funds to 
meet these n eds have been made available. Th bacldog of such 
projects now totals $6 million and , considering the iact that the 
pres nt institutions are 20 to 85 yea1 old, the further accumulation 
of such needed repairs and the accelerated deteriomtion of the 
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physical plants can. b prev nted only if more adequate funds are 
ma,de ttvttilable prompl.ly. 1 o, Lhe o.lder plants a.t the tho of their 
design tt.nd construction made little provision for treatment facili ies, 
and modern COl'J" · ctionaJ m:catm •nt programs now require expansion 
of th · e vw:n t- for such purposes a recteat:ion, 1·el.igio 1, ech1cn.tion, 
and trainmg. few of these facilities have been added to -he older 
institutions over the years, and the Bur·eau is now reorganizing Lh m 
in order that they may be grouped more fficiently for •. atment 
purpos . 

1'he la. ·t Congress appropriated $225,000 fo · staff housing for Lhe 
Federal prisons, and jt seems 1tpparen.t that additional h0u ·ing must 
b p1-0vided. -ta:ff housjng is a pm:ticularly vital need at penal 
institutions, for manpower must be rnadil, availabl in Lh ,v -•nt of 
escape, riot, disturbance, or breakdown of mechanical facilities. 

fo L Bureau of rison institution have som tn;ff housing, but not 
enough to afford the degree of security ea.ch inst"tution should have, 
particula'dy in n.:n era which has s n a good deal of I 1·ison unres.t . 
Dming 1959, for example, 26 ]~ederal institu tions had eith r a11 escape 
or a djsturbanc which r q11i.red th 1:ecall of personnel. nstitutional 
mergenc. plans dfrect Ll10 recall of p J·sonnel hving on the prison 

reservation on Lhe.'3e occa ions, n.ucl Lh.is is quickly do11e by sounding 
an alal'm in he form oi a pow• ·hous whi Lle 01: fr n. Inasmuch as 
the l'ental charO'ed to employees is enough to cover the amortization 
of _construct.ion osts an~l th furn:ishing o:f _main enauc . s rvices, ~t is 
evident that staff housing on 'ede.rul pnso11 · servat10n pr vides 
a consid •1·able amount of pwt ction at littl or no cost. The Bureau 
of_ Prisons has about 700 housing imit,s pl'esently oc :upi i 01· m der 
construction at its 32 in titutious and should have about 300 more 
in order I.hat; the iu titutio.ns with rnlativel littl housing can be 
brought up to a desb:ab1e s andard. · 

The subcommittee believes that the work of the Bureau of Prisons 
has been carried on in a highly ·reclitable manner during the past 

ears1 :in Lhe face of many operating probl ms. Inspections mo.de by 
m mb rs of th ub oromittee con-firm th fact that Federal pl'ison :rs 
are being LTeated hrnuanel and that every e'fl'ort is made to prepai:e 
them fo1· respon ibl community lif . Th personnel of t,he F deral 
prison service, although receiving relatively mod • t sn.larie , at per­
forming ·heir duties u a 7-day, 1·ound-the-clock bw is in a generally 
efficient and prof sional manne:r . 

The United tatc , under the International Ooopero. ion . dministra­
tion, the nited ations and o·ther auspice , plays host each year Lo 
scores of correctional and criminological personnel from other nations 
who isit our F deral p ·iso1}s to study their method . A.t tbe same 
time the public press from time tQ tim cm·l'ies ac ount of the reactions 
of lay Americans to the pen.al sy tems they have observed in other 
nation . The accounts freque·otly report that other nations have 
developed -pi·ison proo-rams contain.in"' desirn.ble featmes that ar0 not 
a sociated with pl'iso)1s iu thi ·oun try . Th ubcommitt e b lieves 
tha - fm:ther e_xchanges of personnel between A.m rica.n penologi ts 
and Lhell' forrogu counterparts would be us ful in th development 
of _I>()licies tLmt will be of mutual benefit. 

We canno,t close this report withouL notino- with deep sorrow the 
pnssing of enator Willio.m Langer who was a memb r of thi subcom­
miLtee from its inception and chairman in the 80th and 83d Congresses. 
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He had an abiding !-nterest in the problems o-f men in pdson and was. 
never t?o ~t• iy- to hst n to theil' com:pl!),ints. He sought unceasingly 
and obJectively to advrmce opportumties for the rehabilitation of all 
those unfol'tunates who e lives had, often for many and complex 
reasons, gone awry. 

The committee al~o commends the work of Director James V. 
Bennet~. Tln·0:i-rgh hts lea1ership ~ncl gui lanc.e the BU1·eau of Pr~ons 
has ean~ed national and _mternat10nal standing as the best pnsoft 
~ystem m the world. D1rnctor BenneU has labor cl earnestly to 
rmprove the !1dministration of justice in the United States and has 
c(_>0pera.ted with many States and for~ign nations which have sought 
his advice ~nd couo el on problem m the :fi ld of criminal justice 
and corrections. In 959, as in prev~ous years, he ,vas co11sult.ed by 
the Depal'tment of Defens on COl'rectional matters, and he responded 
generously to numerous requests by th Federal judi iary for bis 
pres_ence nnd counsel at various judicial conferences and sentencing 
wst1_t~tes. ;II has a~o mad his exper knowledge available to uni­
versities wh1c~ ask hrm to address groups of undergraduates gradu­
a.tes, and pe?lal students on the intricate problems of crime 'control. 
In these ~nd m mttn:}'.' other ways he hns made maximum use of every 
opportumty to contJ:1bute to tb.e safety and welfar of h is fellow citi­
zen_s. The commit~e. feels. that pir~ctor Bennett's lifelong efforts. 
to 1;ffiprove the adm1mstrat10n of Justice, both nationally and inter­
nationally, are deserving of high recognibion. 

Ltached nnd made a part of this repol't are individual st,atements. 
by :131embers of the committee ,vho have visited penal institutions 
durmg the past year. 

STATEMENT BY SENATOR THOMAS C. HENNINGS, JR., 
CHAIRM~i\.N OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE 

The huge increase in our Federal prison population and the over­
crowding of our penal installations have created penal problems whicQ, 
throughout 1959, demanded the utmost. effort and attention from each 
member of the Subcommittee on National Penitentiaries. As chair­
man of th_e subcommittee, I take particular pride in reporting that the 
subcommittee membership re_sponded in full measme, each giving 
many valuable !iou1-s to the discussion and an~~l:y~ati~n of the many 
prob1ems beseU,mg our penal system as well as -v1s1ting m person many 
of the various correctional institutions. 

Too well I know the difficulties under which most of these individual 
visits were undertaken. My own visits to correctional institutions 
were undertaken _during periods when I was en.meshed in our other 
.forms of Senate business but was able to find the hours necessary to 
_fulfill my duti as chairman. 
. Over the years, some eight in number, I have spent many week 
~11 ~ot~ ti·avel and inspection time in viiting om Federal penal 
mst1tut10ns from coast to coast. Last ovember while in San 
Francisco to conduct hearings incident to the busi~ess of another 
subcommittee, I took the oppoTLunity to carry out the duties of the 

ubcommi tte on National Penitentiaries and on November 18 I 
visited the U.S. penitentiary at Alcatraz, Warden Paul J. Madigan 
met me at the San Francisco dock and we met in his office with 
Associate Warden Blackwell, Business Manager Kaeppel, Captain 
Rychner, and Personnel Officer Bertrand. 

At the time of my visit, Alcatrnz had an inm.ate population of 263 
and a p er onnel complement of 160. Duriug the last fiscal year the 
p_enitentjary a:v:eraged a daily inmate population of 279. The rela­
tively high rat10 of per ·onnel Lo inmates, in comparison with ot.her 
p enal and correc~iona:I institu~io1~s, is explai?ed by the specialized 
nature of the pemtentiary and 1ts island locat10n. 

Alcatraz was established for the pmpose of con.fining in one place 
the kind of in~a:te who, if le!t ~n other instituti?ns, ,vould handicap 
~ffo!ts ~o rehabil1ta~e the maJonty of Federal prisoners who show an 
mclmatl??, fo_r se1f-lll1p1·ovement and who are apparently susceptible 
to rehabilitat~ve treatment. The offenses committed by the prisoners 
at Alcatraz mcl1;1de :'11-urder, bank rob~ery, kidnapi.ng, post office 
l'Obbei·y., _rape, v10lations of the "arcot!cs Act, transporting stolen 
M1~omooiles, armed ro_b~ery, assault with a deadly weapon,, and 
white slavery. In addition to about 20 lifers, Alcatraz hus about a 

. .dozen prisoners. who have sentences o~ :from 45 to 300 years. 
The sup01:vis1on and c~ntrol of a pnsoner ropulation of this charac­

ter un_qu~t10!1ably reqwres more personne than do other types of 
pena:I mstrLubons. ~ore _personnel a.L·e also needed because prisoner 
-details cannot be assigned to maintenance duties outside the securit,y 
area, a common practice in other institutions. The island location 
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also dictnt Lhe use of a nwnber of officers for boat operations, main­
taining the supply of water which mu t be bing d to he i ·land and the 
gen rat,ion of electricity. From the business manager, I learned that 
the do.ily p r capita o t, for th la L :6 ul year wa $11.28, $7 .76 of 
whi ·h wa. accounted for b the high personnel r quir ment. Th •' o t 
of fe •ding on pri on r for 1 da is about 64 cents which, in i. w of 
present food prices and the fact that unlike other Federal institutions 
AJcatrai does not have a form, must be on jdered highly economical. 

Because of the a.ge of the peniten.tiai-y and th onstn,nt eroding of 
buildings and .ironwork by salt spray, the penitentiary has a serious 
ma.introit nee problem. t tbe ti.ro of m.y i iL sub. tantio.l repairs at 
a cost of about $295,000 had b en made on th ellhous which houses 
th enti1·e prison r population. OLher repair and alteration projects 
und rway or about 'to get undsrway in lud d a new commun.ica.Lion 
and t'tctiv-ity co11LTol center, additional plumbing for the individual 
cells, and th in: tn.llation f new l'Oofs on two f the bltildings. I 
insJlected the repair job 011 the ellhouse and in general Wll. quit 
pl •a ed wiLh its ll.ppearanc . How v r, although large area of the 
outer walls have beenTepair d1 the fund for tbi proj cL ar ex:bat1sted, 
leaving the other portion still badly deteriorated. I observed also 
that the catwalks ar extremely hazardous and Ward n fadig_an 
.inform d me that fund are insufficient to repn.i.r them. I was told, 
too, tha·L th ele ·t ri al sy tem of tb isln.nd, a di:reckcul-rent yp , is not 
only obsolete but ~enerally worn out n.nd must be r plnc d. Mos of 
th · Al atraz buildiugs appear to b st111 tm-o.lly ound and, if ne ded 
repairs and mo.intenance work can b b'uclgeLed, hould last f r many 
year to com . iLhout thi repair, however, it appears that ·the n;vill 
continu to d tei;iorate rapidly. The apartm nL building in which 
empl yee families must Jjvo i clearly in bad r epair. Th bacldoo- of 
these and other needed construction and 1· pairs now total mor than 
a million dollaTs and oth r item are a cumulating more rapidly than 
remedial work is being n.uLhorized n,nd budgeted. 

Warden Madigan es orLed m about the interior of the institution 
and I found the various areas in clean and orderly condition. In the 
kit hen I sampl d tb coff b ing p1• ptu d for Lhe inmates lun h on 
llJld it was quito atisfactory in quality. I al o talJc -d to s v ral 
inmate who wol'ked thete. Th · y . e 1 d to n.ppreciate the oppoi-tun­
ity to talk Lo someon from th ong1·es. of th nited tat!' . In 
visiting the unit where a few of the inmat am confined for disciplinn.ry 
purposes, I sensed from the attitudes an l general d rneanor of th se 
men that they are quite difficult to handle. However, it i to the 
penitentiary's credit that the treatment of th imnates in th di ciplin­
ary block was good, and that the food was ont.u- ly ad quat . 

Dming the a-ftemoon, I tour d Lb indu trial activities, including the 
bru ·h shop, clothing Cactory1 glov fa tor,y, and fumi lll' -r finishing 
hop . Thes industri mplo n;r1 average of 155 inmates 011 a full­
im ba is nnd during th htsL fl· al y ar the sales of good ands rvices 

to oth r Gove.rnment agenci s amounted to $724.,000. Th u t indus~ 
trial profits came to $8 ,000; which would hn.vo b · more except for 
th loss of $34,000 su tained oy the laundry when military d mancl for 
its s rvices d clin • d. Thi industry was closed when it became 
ap_parent it wa no lo11ger profitn~le. I talked to tbe inma.t in each 
·h p 11.nd watched them at work. I noted that the men worked 
eam tly at their assignment and that indi.vidual production was on 
the whole comparable to that in civilian indl!stry_. 

.. . 
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By i~ very ru1,turo Alcat,raz is operated on a x~h tively strict di -
ciplinary basia wH,h f w of th pl'.ivileges found ll1 l.h r _penal and 
correctional institutions. How • veJ.·, the m 11 ~r not denied oppor: 
tum ties for sclf-improv -ment. Tho Alco.,LrlL½ l1brMy has mor t.hun 
12 000 olum a.nd ea I inmate read · n.n av rage of O books a yeru: 
and ~ hi~her proportion of nonfiction than th typical~ er of a com­
mulll ty library. They also ha v access to _Lhe lt test m~azm · s and 
p ri dical . M11si nl instn,un.ents ar fUI·ms~ .a t,hos l.DJilates w~o 
wish to develop their talents, and a comp tit1ve sports Jn-ogrnnl. 1 
conduc . don I.he re reat,ion field ea h we kend. aus · of custodial 
and s1m • re8tl'i 1,;on.s, . ducaLional classes u.re not feasible, but t,he 
inmat - may tak e.xten ion corresponden e ·o~· fron~ a nuo~b 1· £ 
ou id du ational institutions. IL w parti ularly mter st~g to 
cliscover that a number of intnates1 about 15 percenL, o.ccordmg to 
Wo,1·den Madiga.n, ha.v M: activ ,inter_ st in !1-rt, and xhib~tion of 
thefr work hav been held m an ] ra.ncIBco. rhe me.n are g,v~~ the 
opportunity to att,end reli~iou s rvic~s w ekly and _to s_ cm-e pmtua.l 
guidan e from repre entn.t1v of then· own denommations. 

.AB I toured the island an.cl becnme fn.miliaT with the working and 
liviuo- ci:rcumstftnces of tbe employees, I could not help but feel that 
thes; people must live nnder extreme tensions and press1;1res. Their 
jobs are unqu t ionabl difficult and hazarclon , respons1?1e as t~ey 
are for the contTol of some of the most dangerous felons m America. 
During off hours ~hey and tb~ir families are st,ill subj~ct to h J·dsbips. 
'lb y at d p nd nt on the lllllltecl res?w-ces of the 1s]~d on wb1ch 
they live, on a boat cbedule to the mn.mland_, 1tnd on livrng quarters 
which in some cnses leave much to be d ire l. Because of these 
incon..;. nien.ces o.ndh~rdships imposed upon the families of employees, 
Alcatraz o r t,be years has experi need a high per onnel ~m11.?ve~·· 

Th conditions relating 'to employe , ~he_ age of them_ t1tutl<:>u, 
its location far from the source of most of 1ts mtake, and high mam­
tenance co t give rise ine,rLtably to que.~tions con. erned wi,th the 
wisdom of continued operatio11 of this type of prison at its present 
location. Without doubt or question the Federal ovei:nment need 
an institution of this type for its mo t erious 01:Yenders. It is ~sen: 
tial to a laro-e integrated prison sy tem because 1t ta.kes t_b:e st:i·ain ofl 
other in. titutions and makes possible progra.mi of 1·eht bilitat.ion a~d 
trainin()' for the crreat bulk of prisoners that could not be operated m 
theface of constant hazard caused by he presence of a.few du.ngerou , 
escape- onscio11s, and disrupting pri oner~. yVith Alcatrn.z or some 
similar institution available, the other inst1tut1011s 11.e d not b run at 
the level of the most recalcitrant and obstreperous. 

Of as much or more importance in considering the future of the 
institution is the fact that Alcatraz symbolizes the deterrent effect of 
strict prison regime on crime contr<;>l. There is, of cours , c<;>nsiderable 
dispute as to the value of sur , stnct, and lt.n capabl J)UD1 hment on 
th main nMlce of law and 01·der. But however one may feel about 
this all mu t agr e that at our present stage of ]mo ledg a.bout 
human behavior we must continue to rely b a ily upon a system of 
just but humane punishment of those who will not r spect the right 
or propertv of others. 

While Alcat.I·az epitomizes this deeply rooted belief I am_ satisfied 
that it is operated in a thoroughly humane and undro to.ndmg man­
ner. I also believe, after my tttll<:s with the warden and discussing 
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the kinds of prisoners transferred to Alcatraz, that no one has been 
transferred to that institution who had not, in the words of Mr. 
Bennett, the Director of Federal Prisons, earned his way there by the 
record he has made elsewhere. It should be recalled in this connection 
that prisoners are transferred back to other insti.tutio.ns as soon as 
thefr conduct and attitude justifies such Mtion. Each man's case is 
considered by a COffi!lli ~tee regularly and recommend a ti<?ns as to. trans­
fer made whenever indicated. Also, the central o'ffice m Washington 
maintains careful and continuing oversight on the conduc~ and ad­
iustment of e!1ch prisone~. I commend lihe ~ureau of Prisons and 
W ai:den Madigan and his staff for performmg valuable o.nd able 
service. 

On December 28, 29, and 30 of 1959, I accompanied Director James 
V. Bem1.ett of the Prison Burnau to the Federal Reformatoi-y for 
Women at Alderson, W. Va. My desire to visit Ald~rson ste~ed 
:from my understanding that the number of women bemg co:mnntted 
to ] ederal institutions has be n steadily increasing over the pa t 
several years. In 1949 the Federal courts committed 672; by 1959 
the rate of commjtments had ri en 30 percent. Alderson has a rated 
eapacity of 453, but at the time of my visit the population w~ ~~4. 

In the comse of my visit, I learned that the tem:po ary fn:ciht1es 
comprising the women's unit at Terminal Island, a tii., were unpro­
vised for a pofulation of about 125_, bU't they now_ hold ft:bout 200. 
The Bmen.u o Prisons has al o ha.ct to contra.ct w1th various tate 
institutions to find additional space for convicted women. In view, 
therefol'e, of the steadily increasing l\tln:bers of female offenders ?e~ng 
-committed by tho Federal colu-ts, 1-t 1s apparent_ lihat the 0XJSt1!1g 
facilitie must be ex1)a.ndccl. It would seem the log1 n.l _cour e to build 
:a separate institution for women to serve We tern mtecl tates. 

Warden ina Kinsella, a personable o.nd capable veteran of neai:ly 
40 years in pri~on _work, escorted us n.~out the reformatory and •~s 
beautifully matntamed grotmds .. We mspocted tbe new ~th?hc 
chapel that was recently installed m a s~ct10n of the S?~ool buildmg. 
It is most artistic colorful and attractive. I also visited the self­
governing cottag~ whore darefully_ selected _prisoners live with only 
nominal supervisioll . My impress101~ of th1 effort to develOJ? self­
relinnce and self-respect through placmg co.nfidence u-nd trust ro the 
inmates ,vas most fa orable. 

The reformatory has two industries: a laundry which sells its services 
to several government 11gencies in the area, and ~ gu,rmeut factory. 
The factory makes shirts, borts, dra,yers, and pa.Ja~as for the Vet­
erans' Administro,tion and also the various types of sJnrts used by the 
inmates and uniformed personnel of the other ½1 titutions of ~he 
Bureau of Prisons. This indu tl'y 11iffords tt splendid meDJ1s of tram­
inos women in the kind of occupations tbl?Y can f~llow when they are 
refeased from the reformatory. The eqmp~ent 1s.mod~r~ and_ up_ to 
date and the staff has bad unusual success m :findu1g snnilar civilian 
empioyment for relea.sed inmates who hiwe b en ~l'ained. in this 
facto1-y. During the last fiscal yeo.r t,he Alderson . mdust~·1e sold 
about $340,000 in goods and services and made a net mdustrial profit 
of aoout_$~8,000. ~ avera~e of 1_5~ ~vomeu are employed on a full­
time basts m the two mdustnal activ1t1es, and the average wages run 
to about $30 monthly for those in the garment factory an~ about $20 
monthly for those in the laundry. The largest proportion of these 
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earnings are either sent by the women to their dependents or are 
saved by them toward the day of their eventual reiease. 

Dtll'ing the coU1·se of my visit attro:ided a me_etmg _of the refo~-m~­
tory's classification committee and, pr10r to a discussion of the mdi­
vidua.l cases being considered by the committee on th~t day, V\:arden 
Kinsella briefed me on the numbers aud types of mm.ates in the 
institution. The ao-cs of the inmMes run from six girls of 17 to one 
woman of 70, but the median nge is about 30. . , . . . 

The many purposes which the Federnl Government only msL1tu­
tiou for women mus serve i illu trated b the types of sentences 
the inmn.tes have. The reformatory has 3 lifers, but it al o has_ 15 
girls sentenced under the Federal Juvenile Delinquency Act, iucludmg 
10 with minority sente~ces, and 31 yow1g women sentenced under the 
Federal Youth Correction Act. F rty-five women have sentences_ of 
1 year or less; the sentences of the remain_der range betwe~n that P?IDt 
and life. In addition the reformatory 1s presently carmg for eight 
babies. 

The largest cat~gor)'." of offenses for w1?.ich these women were sen­
tenced involves v10lat10ns of the narcotics law; 176 of the women 
presently at Alderson were sentenced under those statutes, and _of 
that number 124. are not eligible fo1· parole. O~her larg_e cat~goues 
are those convi ·tecl of foI"gery, 145; ln;ceny (chrnfly m_aµ theft and 
auto thefL), l 01; int 1 tate transportation forged secur1t1es, 32; 0;nd 
liquor violation , 23. The reformatory also has 14 women servmg 
sentences for bauk robbery a11d 6 for murder n a .government re,aer­
vatiou. Unlike the male institutions I have visited, there wa~ only 
one woman serving a sentence for income tax evasi~n. 

I wa piu·ticnlarly interest d in ·what Warden Kin_sella had to say 
ab0U't the tat from which these prisoners came. It eem cl under­
standable enough that 61 of the women came from New Y, ork tate 
(41 of them from ew Ol'k City), but I, as somewhat d1Smayed to 
find that the ne.·t largest numbel', 42, came from my own tate ~f 
Missouri. How ver, Michigan as l' ·'p1·esented by 41.. Texas, Inch­
ana and Florida each had 30-odd womon r presented m the popula­
tion'· Vi.rgini0, Illinois Ohio, orth Carolina, and eorgia from 23 
to 29 and T~messee, 

1

Oldahoma, outh Carolina, ew Jersey, Ken­
tucl y eon ylvauia and Louisiana from 10 to 19. The rest of the 
States'had less than 10 or none, with no prisoners from North Dakota, 
Idaho, Maine, and Utah. . 

A number oi interesting and difficult ca.a~ were discussed by ~he 
classification committee. One 34-year-old pr1Boner, who was serVlllg 
5 to 15 years for counterfeiting, bad already appe_a:red before several 
State comts on a variety of charges. As a child, she had never 
known a stable home and the disorganized life she had to lead as a 
youngster continued 'to characterize her adult life. After a. shor~­
lived but ambitious oonspfracy to print and circulate counterfeit 
notes, she was committed to Alderson . She is now working in the 
garment industry and i~ c~msidered t9 be an exo?11ent W?rker. W~en 
I visited the school bwlding .I exammed a sewing pro3ect ot~ which 
she was enga1,;ed during her leisure time, a Department of Justice flag. 

As an indication of the sm-ious chn.rncte.t· of some of the young 
women at Alder o , my nttention WI\$ called to th en e of a 1_7-year­
old girl who had a minority sentence for interstate trn.nsl?ortation of a 
stolen motor vehicle. Early in 1959 sbe and a companion l'an away 
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from a State girls' training school where they had been committed 
following previous escapades, and broke into a farmhouse where 
they stole a knife and a pistol. They then broke into a second house 
and stole some money, and at a third dwelling, they kidnaped the 
head of the household and forced him to drive them into n.nobher 
State. 'rhey commaudeered other cru:s twice but eventually ,vere 

ai:1gl1t by a l ughway patrol ar. This girl I-ms proved to be a difficult 
clisciplinru:y problem at Ald r on, an :I. so fo,1· only Warden Kinsella 
ha emed to b · able o dcnrelop• n.ny Legree oi' mpport with her ·fl..., 
shO\m by the fact that for lu·istmas 1959, thi juvenile girl spent 
om of her pare time making a hl'istmas cnHl for th warden. I 

was informed that this and other incident offer hope that eventun.Uy 
this young girl can be reached and guided away fl'om hm· prmrious 
career. 

1: isit coincided with the formal opening of the new vocational 
hops building at Alderson. ere facilities for braining: the wom n 

pri onet in :b: making, cooking and domes ic_arts, ~leric~l :,votk, 
beauty cultme, and o on have been o~e ted !--'l a 111gle building 
con t,rn ted from fu ds a.med by the rn<lustnes. The Board of 
Directors of Federal Prison fodusLries is to be ong1·atutated for tbis 
,,rorthwhile effort to promot the ·ehn,bilitlttiou of t,hese inmates. 

u1·ing t,h ceremony accompanying the inauguro.tion of the ~uildino-'s 
acLi. ' ties nll he Alderson inmates were gi en au oppo ·tumty to ee 
for themselves tbe facilit ies t.bat were being made av11ilabfo to them. 
Together with Warden KiJ1sella ~n~ Dire :tor Bennett, I 11eceived the 
inmM,c a;s tit y entereA . he bmlcling n.ncl was t(ms 11b~e t? o ~serve 
face to foce the man different typ of persons U.l the mst1tution. 

I also sat in with h. Betm t.t while he in.tet·viewecl a number of 
inmates who .had asked to see him. I understand that t is his 
custom whenever he goes to au i:nstitu li0n to talk with any inmo.te 
who wishes to ee him abou any problem that the Lnmate mn,y have. 

everal of the women who en.me t;o see 1fr. Ben ett requested they 
be transforr cl el where, usually . because _they wanted_ to b~ closer 
to their families. ome sought his help with n.llegecl nusc~nag _of 
justice in their cases and some brought up matter relatmg .to dis-
•iplimny and ac~justm nt problems. On~ of the yolmg htches, for 

instance, complam d that she had been tried as 11n a_lult wben, as a 
matter of act, sh was only 17 ye_ars of age at the t1Jne she b ecame 
involved in a bank robbery. Typ1cnl oI the Qackground of so m1tny 
of these prisoners, sl . had _had .t\U UJlplensant childhood ._ She ran 
awuy on ev ral occfl.~rnn_s, _ mcul'l'ed_ an unsucc. ful mOJ.'l'fO.ge at an 
early age, an~. later while l~vLng alo? _rn a forge mtClw _t · rn city _became 
a,ssociated. wtth l\ professional crlIIllilaL ffor pu.rt m the <::rime f_or 
wbfoh she was s ntence~ was to k~p Lhe geta~va.y CM'. rmu).rng while 
her t.b.ree male comparuons robb d . 11. bank of !:),bout $23,000. She 
was nJso suspected of participating i_n .other robbel'ies. ~t .Al lerson 
she had a ditfieul't time adjusting a.t.:61 t ttnd ori one occas1on esc11.ped 
from tho reformtitory wi h four .ather women.. Apprehended the 
next do. she received a 1 additional nt:ence of 1 yea.·r u.nd 2 months. 

ow a.~signed to the r formato_ry hospital ~ an att_endo.nt_, he has 
been awarded meritorious good tlfil? for e-xcept1on_a.]ly£in.e p·erJorma1;1ce. 

Another woman en.me to complam Lo 1vfr. Beonett tbat her constitu­
tional d ghts bad been violated by the at·).·esting ?fliceJ.·s . · other 
wanted an explanation as to w...hy, after the plendid recard she had 
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made and the efforts she had pu forth to 1·ehabilitate he.rself, she had 
be n denied parole. Ano ther wanted more help from the local welfnre 
agency for hor children. Mr . Beruwtt gave each inmate .n,s specific 
an answer as possible and he counseled others patiently as to the 
course they should follow. 

Following a reception at the warden's home where I had the 
opportunity to meet most of the reformatory's staff, I returned to 
Wasbiugto . The entir atmosphere of the institution had a purpose­
fuh1ess about it. The inmates a.re not mollycoddled. On the contrary, 
each inma·te is given definite goal she musL achiev to earn credits 
for good behavior and fu. arable consideration for parol . The staff 
is well Lrained for their po itions and treat the ruany unique 
disciplinary and adjustment probl ms fu:ml but ,nth tmcletstanding. 
The institution seemed to be well maintained and I belie e it is being 
operated fficienll and economically. 

I was somewhat disappointed to note that the courts are not using 
the indeterminate sentencing provisions of the bill which I cosponsored 
in the 85th Congress as frequently as I had hoped. From my obser­
vations of both men and women offenders, I believe women present 
far more difficult problems of sentencing than men do and it seems to 
me that Ii.here shou).d be a greater . haring of responsibilit,ies fo1· deter­
mininO' the length of time required Lo brirlg about theil- rehabilitation 
an l return to societ. o law-abiding, self-respecting citizens. It, is 
altogether understan.dablc.>. that some cotu"ts, out of sympMhy for 
the opposite sex, will tend to give sentences of insufficient length 
to permit their retraining while other courts may be so shocked that a 
woman would take advantage of her sex to the extent some of them 
do that long sentences are imposed. The most intelligent answer to 
this problem would seem to be for the courts to use the indeterminate 
sentencing provisions of the new statute more extensively. 

everol of the cases I saw and discussed prompt me to suggest that 
the committee might want to look into the appropriateness of the 
mandatory sentence provisions of the Narcotics Control Act. More 
than 25 percent of the inmates are there for long sentences on narcotics 
chru·ges, and most of these have no hope for parole; many of these 
women are to a large e:.\.-tent victims of the narcotic racketeer. Many 
of t~em are young colored girls from our large cities who have been 
addicted to drugs by unscrupulous men who prey upon women, and 
when the women are of no further value to them, the men inform upon 
them. 

Olle 29-y ar-okl woman, for example, b.o came from a highly 
reputable· and eoon.omieally secure family, had married a. man who, 
although the sou of wealthy and respectable parents, was a drug 
addict and drifteL·. e star ted b,er smoking mro:ihuana and later 
introduced her to morphine and heroin. She eventually separated 
from her husband and became iuvolved with two other men who 
traveled with her to Mexico to procw·e dl'U.gs. pprehended by 
customs agents as they were reentering the United tat s, this young 
woman, like her codefendants, rec ived a 5-y a.r sentenc und r t.he 
no-parole provisions of the Narcotic .A.ct even though she W'S a 
first offender. Warden Kinsella advi es that sh is a good v.odcer, 
volunteers for extra work, and is considerate of her fellow inmates. 

Another case that shows the Draconian nature of these penalties is 
that of a woman who was given a 40-year sentence, on a charge that 
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she sold narcotics to another addict and codefendant, who in turn 
sold them to an undercover agent. Warden Kinsella commented to 
me that this woman is doing an excellent job in her assignment 8."8 a 
hospital laboratory technician, and has been maintaining an exemplary 
conduct record. This woman, 41 at the time of her commitment to 
Alderson, cannot be released, even with good-time credits, until she is 
70 years old. 

I stro,n~!Y urge other members of the committee and subcommittee 
to visit Alderson when an opportunity presents .iLself, in order to 
become acquaint.ad with its unique problems. [y colleagues will 
find the pl asant atmosphere of Alderson to be much unlike what 
one would expect to encounter at a penal institution, and they will 
be particularly pleased in their observations of the dedicated work of 
the Alderson personnel and particularly of Warden Kinsella, ,vho is 
a h art-warming xampl of adm.ini trative competence on the one 
hand and of an xquisitc sense of humanity on the other. 

I cannot <:lose my section of the subcommitt e's report without 
commenting on Director James V. Bennett's stewru:dship of the Fed­
eral prison system. I have consistently found Director Bennett to be 
discharging hi diffi ult 1·espon ibilities in a highly commendable 
manner, He has been unstinting in his efforts to improve Lhe 
effi i ocy of bis organization and to insure that the prisoners com­
mitted to our Federal institutions ·ecei e the kind of care best 
calculaLed to bring about their rehabilitation. Through his leader­
ship and the sl~led s_upport of the e::;.,-perieoced and able persons he 
bus chosen for his ossistants - M. E. Alexander, . H. Conner, . A . .. , 
Evans, and 1 • Loveland- the Bureau of Prisons has developed into 
an organization that is dedicat d to the public afe'ty and , elfal'e 
and a11 organization that is gem: d to serve the interest of the tax­
payers by doiug its job in as economical a manner as possible. 

I would al o >..-press my sadness at Lhe pas ing of Senator William 
Lang r who wa on of the subcommittee's more knowledgable and 
understanding members. During his years on the subcommittee, 
Bill Lang r isited virLual.ly every one of the installations in the 
F deral pTison system. Re worked tirelessly for the improvement of 
criminal justice and advocated many, many progressive measures 
that will remain a monument to his co.mage, fore ight, and keen,,,,, 
understanding of both human aspirations and judicial processes. 

STATEMENT OF SENATOR ROMAN L. HRUSKA 

This statement essentially is in two parts. 
The first portion incorporates and makes current my report on the-­

Federal Conectional Ins itution at Lompoc, Calif. (formerly the 
Branch U .. Disciplinary Barracks) made in July 1959. 

The second portion is clirecLed to the numerous and noteworthy 
civic and humanitarian activities undertaken by prisoners in all the­
institutions within the Federal Bureau of Prisons. 

I 

The original Lompoc report follows: 
The U. . Disciplinary Barracks, Lompoc, Calif., was in­

spected on July 3, 1959, in behalf of the National Peniten­
tiat·ies ubcommittee and the Appropriations Committee of 
the U. . ena:Le. ~y tour was made iu COinJ>any with War­
den Pr ston . m1Lh of the Federal oncctional Institution 
at Termin!l-1 Island, Calif.; :tvfr. Greig Richardson, who had 
been a:i;>pornted warden at Lompoc; _and Mr. hades R. Lins, 
who will be transfe:rr d from Terminal faland to Lompoc in 
the apn.city of associate warden . 

The party was escol'ted through Lompoc by Col. Wel­
don W. ox, commandant since December 1957; ol. Jo­
seph W. Pettet, director of custody; and Col. John P . Feeham. 
rrhe tour and briefing o cupi d a 4-hour period. 

.ch-ea amd location.- The installation covers 31172 acres of 
landl n.pproximat.ely 5 miles northw st of the city of Lompoc 

_aµt :, which has a J)Op~ation of 101000. Other cit~es in th~ 
v1e1mty are anta Maria (population 30,000) which is 27 
~es away and a.nta Ba1·bara (population 90,000), 60 miles, 
distant. 

P1-incipal building.- The barracks comprises a multiple­
win~ed, reinforced concrete structtu·e, patterned aftm: the 
pemtentiary at Terre Haute, Ind. It has facilities for a max­
imum of 1,431 prisoners. The building contains 1,023 one­
man cells and 40 larger cells. 

It was reported to me that the secUl'ity equipment in the 
principal building is such that the institution bas a high de 
gi:ee of semll'ity which will be particularly helpful in dealing· 
with th young, assaultive, escape-conscious prisoner. Con­
finement of this class of individual is most effective when 
adequate cell space is available. One featurn which would 
~prove the secmit:y requirements would be the construc­
tion of a more effective outer encloslll'e a.round the principal 
building and its immediate grounds. 

Included in the principal building are th admini trative 
offices, dining ball, laundry, hospital, library, cha.pal, theater, 
classrooms, and the bo.chelo1· officer quarters. A chain-

15-
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linl d cy~lon ~ fen · . enclose the area of apprmdmat Ii 20 
a re., wh1 h 1ncludes a separate vocational shops buil iing 
and the athl t.ic field. 

General condition.-The condition of this installation can 
be summarized in one word: excellent. The barracks has 
been in use ~mly sin Jan_u~ry 15, 1947, which may in p_ar t 
accomr for its modern, 0fI1 1ent appearauc . Hi well •011-
t r:u t d n.nd has be u , ll maintained. 'l'h l'e is every 

ev:id uc that proper and systematic hous l e ping i I ei (J' 

perfol'med at all t i.mes. "' 
Extent of u.~_e.- in e n.c_tivtiLion in J anuary 1947, more 

than 20,000 pnsoner hnve been confined in th i .in tallation. 
The op ration i , howevel', now in the pro ess of being phased 
o_ut. On July 3, 1959, the date of the tour, the prison popttla­
t1011 wa. down to 191. 

By July 25, 1959, all but 30 of these prisoners were sched­
uled for transfer to the Fort Leavenworth Disciplinary 
Barracks. The others were sche luJ -d to be taken into the 
regulal' Burnau of Prisons' system in u. ordance with the 
requirem nts of } cas -. The mean populo,tion by calendar 
years is as follows: 

!if!~::::::::~::::::::::~:=~:: _____ : __ ______________ i: !!! 
1959_____________ _____ __ _________ __ _______ _________ __ _ 450 

Pe1·sonnel.- 'Ih.e o.dm.inistration of th bartacks at the 
pr en.L t im in olves 185 military personnel and approxi­
mately the same number of ivilian employees. The.r are 
plans ·to place the ivilians on He Bureau of Prisons' roll 
insofar as they would be able to qualify and could be 
abso1•bed. It is estimated that 46 of these employees 
transferred. 

Elo'!,lsing.- ixty C~p ehar t housing units_,al'e in the proc ss 
of bemg con tmcted in. the n,:r a. In addition there are 36 
un_its that ha:ve been con truc~ed und r the military n,ppl'o­
pr1n:ted 11:ousmg PFOgram. Fifty-five or sixty spac s are 
available m ·the t:railw area for tempornty quart rs. Becau e 
~f _the pro.rimity of the Y 11oden.berg Air_ Force ::Sase! housing 
is m. v~ry shor ~up ply rn t~e SUTI'Olm.dmg: res1dentutl areas. 

Dining hall, lcitchen, ho ·pital, chapel, and theate1·.- Each of 
these facilities , as inspected ltnd fo und to be well planned 
equipped, and ~aintained. It is quite ~vid nt that _they nr~ 
ample for serv:mo- the scheduled maxunum cn.pacity and, 
perhaps, even more. 

L aund1·y. - Thi opel·ation has the capacity and equipment 
to do all he work n cessary for the institution and still be 
able to perform outside con·trncts . 
. Vocati~nal sh?ps.- f ~e. facili ies and equipm~nt for train­
mg and mdustnal 11.cti.viL1es are well arranged m mor • than 
~deql1a~ quo.rte1 . Ther~ appears to be ample room in t,h 
mdusti:ies' area for expans10n when found cl u·able. 

Education. - Tbe cla.ssroonis are ver w 11 suited for teach ­
ing cour from th grade school th1·ough the colleO'e level. 
The library and reading room are similarly well plamied and 
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equipped. Accreditation has been arrang d for elem •ntary, 
econclary, and college ur es 111.clu ling the award of diplo­

mas and degrees by neigh boriug chools for the succe fol 
completion of suc-h work. ApprenticesLi}l certificates are 
also is. ued upon completion of ·t,h r q 1i ite vocat,iono.l b:ain.­
ing. 

Farming.-The vocational farm center is about 1 mile 
outhea t, £ ilie principal buildillg. p t th present Lime 

approxima el ', 00 acres luwe been available for form use. 
Of this 2,700 ar - allocat -d fo1· grazing purposes n.nd 600 are 
'tlllcler cnltivn:tion, 200 acre of wbicb are sp1inlcler inigated. 

There are 22 acres of ol l Et o-1.ish. walnu groves and 11 acres 
of yoUJ g r trees . T bis y ar th institution will produce 
a bout 60,000 to 65,000 :eounds of walnuts. o fruit is grmm 
at Lompo . Oats, bade , n.nd nJ:falfo crops are harvested. 
The possibilit,y for truck gardens is excclle!l-t: but tpe institu­
tion has not been a.bl to pul'Sue such activity this year be­
cause of the lack of manpower. 

There is some land near the north boundary of the farm 
which would lend itself well to additional cultivation for feed 
grains. It would seem in order for the Bureau of Prisons to 
negotiate with the Air Force for its use as the latter is not 
using the land nor is it foreseeable that the Vandenberg air­
field will require such use. 

The farming operation is generally very attractive for the 
typ of institution planned or now being operated at Lompoc. 

Livestock and poult,y. - Witb the present buildings a:nd 
equipment, the institution can hancUe 500_ attle, 450 hogs, 
and 5,000 hickens. I t therefore bas 110 difficulty supplying 
its own slaughterhouse for tho prodllction of he f, pork, and 
poultry products. 

Summary and general conclusions.-Incorporation of Lom­
poc into the Federal prison system would be one of the more 
notable develogments and improvements occurring within 
the "Bureau of I risons in recent years. 

At least three vital objectives will be achieved: 
(1) Alleviation of overcrowded conditions in the several 

Federal institutions in the Pacific coust aT a, resulting in 
substantial reductions in cost of transportation, and more 
efficient operation of the relieved institutions. 

(2) Creation of a much:-needed diagnostic and reception . 
center for the west coast: 

(3) Establishment of an adequate, v/ell-equippecl training 
and treatm nL in Litution for yo.tmg ofl'ende:r . 

Agencies and theit officials concerned are to be highly com-
m. nd d for steps taken tht.1 far toward achi v m n t of t · se 
goals. 

t; is my urgent and eo-rnest 1· eo.mmendaLion that Lhe 
Appropriations Commitbe take such steps and do snch 
things as will be necessary to eonsurnma.te negotiations 
heretofore had. 

17 
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CURRENT STATUS AND FUTURE OF LOMPOC: 

Durini ~he months _since the foregoing was writtenr the Senate 
Appropnat1ons Comnuttee o.cted on the several recommendations 
wh1eh were ~ade by auth_orizing the steps neces ary to enable the 
Bui-eau of Pl'1sons to acquire the Lompoc 'in t-itution. eo-otiations 
be·tween the Department of tho Army and the Bureau of Pr1;ons were 
co~c~uded by a formal lease agre ment on July 22, 1959, and the 
facilit,y _w!t.':! promptly taken over by the Bureau on August 1 1959 
and d~s11?in~ted a a F cleral con·ectional institution. ' ' 

:wru1~ 1t is now ~eing used pr~arily as ~ institution for youthful 
offende1s, Lompoc 1s also a~ceptm~ other prisoners conuni.tted by the 
F ede1:al cour~.s for ?bserv_a~1on ancl recommendations by the Bw-eau 
of Pns?ns pr1or to _rmpos1.t10n of final ~entence. This procedure was 
authorize~ by sect'lon 4208(b) of Public Law 85-752 · imilar studies 
are mad JD the cases of youtb:ful offenders committ~cl under section 
5010(0) of ~he Federal Youth Correction Act. The courts in the 
weste1'n regwn of the . country an~ committing large numbers under 
both J?l'OCedul"e , and Lompo now provides an iden.lly located facility 
for this pm·pose. 

With tbe Ol?ening of Lompoc the Bureau of Prisons beo-an reducing 
the ov_ercrowding in ~he _youth and reformaLory-tY})e in titutions and 
remo~mg_yol!-thful offenders from adult correctional- and -peni tentiarJ­
typ msL1tutions. ~t _this writing the Lompoc prisoner populaLion 
hns reo.ched 770 and it 1S expected to number appro:....-imately 1,200 by 
June 30, 1960. ubstautial numbers of p1·isonei.·s have been trans­
fer_red to Lompoc from El Reno, Terminal Island, and McNeil Island. 
Pnsouers have also been shifted from the Chillicothe to the El Reno 
Reformat?ry to _i;edu~ severe crowding in the former instiLution. 1y 
conversations ,~1th _D1r_ector Ben1!ett's Office indicate that the opening 
of th · Lompoc mst1tut1oll: h~ re~eved much of tbe presslll'es on nll the­
youth-reformatory-type mst1tut1ons and also the adulL institutions 
m the westen1 section of the United States. 

Al~ough the Lompoc in~titulii~n has pel'haps t.he best equipped 
phys~cal plant of all the prisons m the world, it is my information 
~hat 1t ~o~·tunately lack~ the staff needed to make maximum use of 
thos~ facilities for correct1v:e treatme~t _Purpo_ses or even for prisoner 
hous1!1g· B~cause of the highly sp CJ.alized dw.gnostic and. treatment 
func~ons asSig°:ed to Lompo~, the institution should have personnel of 
the. highest caliber for medical psychio.tric, and psychological diag­
nos1~ and treatJ?le~ti for the _development of sociological and social 
studies of the md1vidual's history; for educational and vocational 
anal:ys~ ~nd training;_ for religious training, and for intensive group 
and mdividual counseling. 

The need for such personn~ is i1?lm~di8'.te. . Since the opening of 
Lompoc as a Federal correctional mst1tut1on 1t has 1·eceived about 
4_0 percent of the cases committed by the Federal courts for observa­
tion a~d study ~m-in~ ~his pe1:iod, and the rate at which these eases. 
are bemg comn1;1tted 1s mcreasmg each month. Virtually all of these 
ca es_ are comtn.J.tte<!, be.cause of tbe cot.~l'ts' belief that they ai•e char­
acterized by psychiatrJC problems which should r eceive full study 
before the com·ts make disposition. Also it is obvious that the 
youthful offende1; hould be afforded mor~ training and treatment 
resources than those made available to other ypes of offenders .. 
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The correctJonal efforts expende~ on this age ~roup may be expected 
to substantially reduce the public expense wh1.ch would otherwise be 
caused by the criminality of this group in their later years. 

~t present there_ are 164 personnel employed at the Lompoc insti­
tution. However, m order to accommodate the contemplated prisoner 
popula~ion of 1,200, this staff should be augmented to the level of 
:appro:xrmately 225 employees at least for the fiscal yea.r 1961. This 
level would still fall far below the minimum number of personnel that 
should be :provided an institution with this type of population and the 
type and size of tbe workload that is now being assumed. However, it 
wo~d provide a bn~is of experience in accurately determining what the 
ultimate staff requirements should be. 

Warden Richardson of the Lompoc institution indicates he is en­
countering s me difficulty in the recruitment of personn.el. With the 
expanding missile programs of the Air Force and the Navy in that 
ai·ea, there is considerable interagency competition for persons with 
mechanical skills. As noted in m first report, the defense efl'o1·ts 
have brought large numbers of people into the Lompoc area and as a 
;result housing is in short sup~ly a~d living cos~ are high. Howev:er, 
the warden expects that tbe highly professional program bemg 
developed at Lompoc will aid b.im con iderably in attracting technico.l 
a!1d professional -personnel. .Although thls Bmeau of Prisons opera­
t10n has only recently been inaug,n·ated, the program is functioning 
smoothly and relationships between the Lompoc institution and the 
Air Force base on which it is located are extremely harmonious. 

Inasmuch as the funds used to open and operate the Lompoc insti­
~ution from Augu t 1959 to June 1960 were repTOgramed from those 
mten~ed for othor purposes, the 1961 appropriation for the Bw·eau 
of Prisons should include funds for a full-year operation of Lompoc. 

The Bureau of Prisons, in my opinion, is to be commended for 
malting use of these e,"'{cess Army fa ilities for so noteworthy a plll'pose. 
This facility is located in an area where additional capacity was most 
neede l by th Blll'en.u, and its l ase by the Bureau saves the Govern­
ment !),_large expenditur~ which would otherwise be required to solve 
the critical problem of prisoner overcrowding. The replacement value 
of the Lompoc institution is npproximately $20 million. The negotia­
tion of the transfer of these faciliti s was' co.n-ied out over a consider­
able pe1'iod of time and involved numerous technical difftculties, but 
once the agreement was apl)roved the Bureau an.d other a"'encies 
quickly expedited the procedural arrangements needed to tal~ over 
this facility. 

II 

CIVIC AND HUMANITARIAN ACTIVITIES OF INMATES 

In the co\u·s of my visits to diff rent ·n.stitutions in the past yeru:s, 
reports of numerous good deeds perfo1'IDed by Federal prisoners in 
behalf_ of th free society out ide their institutions have come to my 
attention. These nota?le contributions in my opinion provide an 
excellent means of gagmg the worLh of the 1:ehn.bilitative efforts of 
these . i;n t~tutions and. demon~trate that funds expended on the 
reha~ilitat10~ of convicted offenders produce worthwhile results, 
pa.rt1cularly 1n terms of human values. Inasmuch as such contribu­
tions reflect the caliber of the services being pel'formed by .Federal 
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pris.on. service personn 1 in ~onstr~lCtively ?1otivatin~ prisoners and 
bringing about real ~~nges m attitude, 1t 1s apI?ropr~ate to make at 
lea.st a few of these metdents a maLter of record m thl report. 

Bloocl donation.- Th prisoners of the Federal institutions donf!,te 
blood regularly to the. 4,inerica11 Eed Cros ~nd to otl~er c01mnumty 
blood banks. In aclclit1on to reo-ula1· donations, the mmatel of the 
Leavenworth P nitentia.ry, for example, have 1mdertaken to supply 
all the blood needs oi Johnny P., a 10-;y:ear-old Kansas City boy wl10• 
has had over 180 Lra.nsfusions and re rrures blood every 4 to 6 ':""e ks. 

ince his family has exhausted all financial resource and other fr1endly­
donors, Johnny now lives only by virtue o_f the blood dona~ed b 
Leavenworth' inmates. The Leavemvorth inmates also provide the· 
blood needs of a second child, Chris E., a hemophi~9:c who h_as u e~ 
oveJ: 100 pints so far, aJ?.d a third_, Paul B:, a p~ophili.ac whom a~d1~­
tion to reO'alar ta:ansfus10ns 1·eqwres hosp1tahzeJ1on whenever a mmo1 
inj ucy occurs. imilar lonatio~s for sp~cial purposes have. also b_een 
made at such other Federal prisons o.s Tallahesse , Fla.; eagovLlle, 
T ex., and even .Alcatraz, Calif. . 

1-Ielp fo1· unde,·privilegecl children abroad.-Because Federal pnsone1·s 
come typically from trnderp1ivileg~d home~, it is per~aps under~tancl­
able that they would have a de ip mt~r t m underpnvileg d chLldr n. 
For nearly 6 years the Leavenworth mrnates have sponsored two war 
orphans, one in· Korea and the othe~· in France. B~th boys ar? no~v 
over 15 years old · t..h French boy I$ now enrolled m a prepai a 01 y 
chool and th Koi·ean boy is in a military academy. With these two 

boys now well on the road to a useful life, the _m n of Lea_venworth 
bav assumed the sponsorship of two more children, one rn Greec 
and the oLh r on an Indian re ervation in Lhis country. Although 
the yearly support of one_ c~ild is only $~20, the men usually con­
tribute well over $4~0. imilar. ponsorsh1p programs a.re s1:1ppo~-t~d 
at other ] d rnl pnsons. The mmates of ~he Atl~n~a Perutent1a1y 
send funds every month for the oare ,of a Chmese _gll'l. m ~ong Kong. 
The men at the Terminal Island and r r:re HauLe mst1tulaons ponsor 
Korean children, and those at La Tuna, an Italian child. . 

Help fo1· uri.derpr'ivileged child1·en in the Uf!,ited States.-Fe~eral pns­
oners also a sist uncl rprivil >ged children m our own at1ou. The 
inmates of tho Federal Correctional Institution at Seagoville, rrex., 
spon or two underprivileged Dallas boys, o_ne white a:ncl one color d. 
The inmates contribute quarterly.· _to provide a cont~uous sponsor­
ship of he two boys, and i~ ~ddit10D; to numerous gift,~ at btrth~ay 
parties for the boy and a Jomt Chns~as party, Lhe ~1!1,a.tes give 
each boy a w ekly allowaac of $3. T;tie inmates of a 1"elio-1ous group 
at the 1 filan, fich. institution contnbute fund fo~ the u~port of 
a 6-year-old girl in Kentucky .. A large ~umbe_r of then fell_mv 1n.m~tes 
sponsor a Little Leagu t am m Lhe neighbormg omm~ty. LL t~e 
League teams are also_ sponsored _by ~mn~tes at the Lew1sb~IIg Pem: 
tentiary and the Termmal Island mst1tut100 . _On t?O occasions oyer 
the past year the inmates ~f the A.tlanta P~mtenttal'f, by clonatmg 
their skin in grafting operations, saved the hves of cluldren who had 
been critically burned in accidents and were near _d~at~. 

Medical experimentation.-The volu1;1tary part1c1pat10n of Federf!,1 
prisoners in medical experiments ~ay m the _l<;mg ru_n represent thelT 
most notable contribution to therr fellow c1t1zens m _the free com­
munity. During 1959 a total of more than 1,300 prisoners at the 
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TeIT n.ut• Penitential took part in projects to t.e certain rtain 
a· in n.nd antibioti drug on such di ettSe a typhus, smallpox, 

infiu nza, and polio . At th, Atln.nta P -nitentie.i·y th inmal. co-
0JPrat :l in meclict1,l exp t·imenta.tion of sevenil differeut typ ·, in­
cluding proj ts to l -vel.01 improved drugs for he prev- ntio_n a!1d 
r ab.neut of mnlo.l'ia and to find a htm:ian erum for tetan.us ant,1t.oxm. 

At Tnllalmssee, Fla., the inmates assi. t.ed in testing th safety of a. 
dusting powder intended for use in controlling Lb bod Ii e tho.t 
cn.u e epidemics of typhus and relo.psing fever .in s • ernl l reas of the 
world. These inmates were dusted five times a week from their neck 
to th ir l,oes with thi powder ii,nd during th ourse of Lh e:iqJ rim nt 
underwent consi.derabl .li.111·dship. The powder was left on more than 
23 hours o. day and in addition t then: r du ti1 g and in onveni n 
cat1 ed by th 'o lor of t~e powd r_ thy subm itted to pe~·i~dic ?lo~d 
and urine analyse . 1,VJule these mnrn.t · s as um d a definit r1s1 m 
pa1-ti ipating in this project, thcfr sacrifices should mat rially a.id 
world bealUt. A. number o( additional medical expedments were 
canied ou ttt other Federal prisons. 

Fi,refighiing in institution areas.-All Federal institutions have fire 
trucks and highly Lrained inma:t crew Lo operat them. Th e 
s rvic s aT made available to th local ommunities, who 1·egula.Tly 
call upon them dmfog fo·efighting em rgencies . 1 or /i.'.8JUJ?le, _dur~1g 
1959 the n1mate .fire dep11rt:m.e11t of the Texarkana, 'l x.1 mst1tut1on 
on 38 occasions pot out re id ntial fu-os or oLher :fires directly threat­
enino- residential areas when no oth •r firefightings rvic • wa immedi­
ately available .. The three Federal prison 08:mps in Arqona maint~in 
regular lists of mmate volunteer. for figh mg forest fu- s. Durmg 
the last year these inmates contributed 15,000 hours to t..hi worJ . 

Flood disaster and community d1·ives.-The inmates of the Chilli­
cothe Ohio, Rofonna.tor er provided a particularly valuabl resenoir 
of ma~power wh n in Janua'ry 1959 the city uffer d a disastrous flood. 
Th inmates lo.bored for long hour in 11 iserably damp and cold 
weather sa.ndbaggilig 1 v es, eve. uating :flo d victim , a,nd assisting 
in the ·leanup work and re toratio.n of ptopert. in th flood d area. 
The F deral ·pri oner helped their local Ollllnunjtie in nuioy oth r 
wa s. From their own m ag r 1·e ow·c • they contributed funds 
to local community chest drives, and tb y assi ed these drives ful·ther 
by preparing olicitation envelopes ttnd by J olding talent shows open 
to t,hc public. Th , rcnovat d thousand o! toys for donation Lo 
n edy children, and they pr pared materials for tate agen 'ie charged 
with the edu ation and liJ•ttiniog of th blin.d. 

I i iipparont from innumerable activities of this kind that the 
Fed ·al pri ons do provide a realistic means by whJch convicted 
Federal offenders can ,ntor into programs of rehabilitation and ev n­
tuall pi-ove iu a oncret wn.y that they can be a credit to so iety. 
The personnel of the i deral pri on service are to be conunend d foi­
th highly creditable mann T iJ1 which they have thus po i.nted th 
way toward rehabilitation and motivated these convicted offenders. 
to take meaningful steps in that direction. 



STATEMENT OF SENATOR OLIN D. JOHNSTON 

Over the years that I have been a member of the Subcommittee on 
ational Penitentiaries I have visited and inspected our Federal 

prisons on a number of occasions. These visits have proved useful 
to me in getting fir~th~nd .insights into the pro~le.ms and. the d~ly 
,routmes of n. penal msti.tut~on. The shor t dm:at1on of an mspectlon 
vis.it, however~ makes it difficult to_judge the program of an institution 

-oven1n ex:tencted per\od of time. These questions have often occ1:U'red 
to me: Is the enthusrn.sm and sense of pm·posefulness noted dunng a 
visit sporadic or is it sustained? What problems ar.e encountered 

. and overcome in the course of a year? What new objectives have 
been achieved? Consequently during my la.st visit to Atlanta I 
.undertook to g t the answers to some of these questions with 1·egard 
.to that penitentiary, one that I already believed to be one of the 
best run in the country. 

Since the wolf arn of Federal employees is one of my prinla1·y 
interests, I inquired fu:st into the pPrsonnel situation. T he pay 
standards of Atlanta's employees b.ave improved in recent years 
due to the 10 _percent increuse t~·anted by_ qongr~s in 195S, a subse­
quent upgrading of many positions by civil se1·V1ce procedlll'e, and 
t.b.e t ransfer of other positions to wage boa.rd scales. Several of the 
employees expressed to me their apprecin.ti?n for the actio~ o! the 
Congress in making these improvem nt.s possible. Warden Wilkinson 
a.dviseci me L.ha.t the turnover of pe1-"Sonnel has already declined 
appreciably because of the better pay. Em.ployee performance has 
been ftu·ther improved by a more intensive program of emplo.yee 
•training. AJso dux'ng the ~nst year the wn:rden has weeded ':)Ut 
·several employees who had failed to show a desirable level of devotion 
to the government service . 

.Another personnel improvement ·that occurred dming the year 
was the establishment of a civilian clerical complement for the classi­
-ficat.ion and inmate records division, with 1960 fiscal year funds 
authorized by the Congress fo1: this purpose .. Prev!ously imna~es 
maill.1ed these unit,s where official records are m daily use. With 
-civilian clerks now employed in these departments, such confidential 
records as FBI aud other Jaw enforcemenL ~ency repo1·ts, p,resentenc­
ing reports llDd social histories, and comnntment papers and corre­
spondence from the courts, have been handled for the past sever~ 
montbs without a single security leak. However1 funds are still 
-needed to replace with civilians similar cle1-ical jobs now filled by 
inmates in the hospital fsychologist's clinic an.cl in the employment­
placement office, both o' which are engaged in rela:tively confidential 
work. On the basis of Atlauta's experience, I would also recommend 
that the Burnau of Prisons be ~iven the fonds to hire civilia1;1-s for ,the 
other Federal prisons where mroates must now be used m offices 
dealing with confidential matters. . . . 

During the calendar year 1959, the perutentiary expenenced 
financial problems in meeting its subsistence requirements. Prices 

22 

NATIONAL PENITENTARIES 23 

rose in such essential items as food, clothing, and commercial trans­
portation requirements for inmates, and ot,her price increases occurred 
in such categories as equipment replacement, maintenance, and 
operation. For example, within the last 2 months of the year the 
local gas company twice increased the price of the natuniJ _gas useq 
by the institution powerhouse. These ~creases were a~tri~ute~ ~o 
higher costs aL the sources of supply m Texas. The mst1tution s 
mana()'emen.t was able bo offset these r.rice in.creases, at len.st partially, 
by m~king rigid eC?J?-~mies and by deferring ~Olll;O n~eded upkeep and 
maintenance of facilities. N verth less the wsf;itt1t1on hnd to reduce 
its inventory in many subsistence items to a very slim m~·gin. While 
it is normally considered good management to have an mventory of 
about 30 days' supply of staple food items, fuel, and other co~­
m?dities thf:1,t must b.e bough't O?- bi_d151 that_lev~l c~mld not be mam­
tamed and m many items of th1s kinu the mst1tut1on could keep on 
hand no mor tha.11 1 week's supply . 

On tb.e more favorabl side, Atlu.nto. s honor £arm hacl a:n excell~nt 
year. Hay, ensilage, and the other food for the cattle werem plentiful 
supply. An ex ellent corn crop, fed to the cattle, brou~ht about a 
crood return to the Government. The farm met all tho mstitution's 
needs for dairy Jlroclucts, an.cl the cattle h~rd supplied a~out 40 pe~·ce1. t 
of the beef requirements. Also the swme herd fmn.ished the mst1-
tution's full pork requir .ment.s. . . . 

T he staf:f's resom·cefulness in operatmg as economically n.. po ~1bl 
was apparent in other ways. During the year the wai:den obtamed 
a etal tru.ss building from smplus metal stor s and, w1.tJ~ Lhe _use of 
brickmasons metalsmiths, plumbers, and carpenters tramed m tlrn 
prison's voc~tionnl schools, this building wa _erected, romplet~ly 
covered with brick and othe.i·wis made a,tt:raot1ve and highly utili­
tarian. As a result the institution was able to demolish its long out­
moded shop building and secure improved facilities for the main_tena~ce 
shops and also a site for a new addition to the present t~xt1le mill. 
The latter addition bas been approved b th Boal'd of D1re ·to1 of 
Federal Prison Industries, Inc., ancl utilities for thi~ :project a,re 
already b in()' laid. The addition will be completed w1thm the next 
2}6 years and into it will be moved the prison's entire we_aving ~pera­
tion and other activities such as the tailor shop. The mdustnes at 
Atlanta have maintained a very high level of employment, averaging 
about 1,000 inmates, whose wages go larcrely toward the s1;1pport of 
their families, or are placed in savings pending the day of thei · release. 
These industrial activiti s o.re exp oted, for the current fiscal year, to 
make a profit w-hich will about equal the amount appropriated for 
the operation of the entire institu!i~n. A portion of these P!ofits are 
used to :finance the vocational trammg program and to provide small 
sums for special.meritorious award to inmates, ~utmost of ~he profits 
are eventually paid into the Treasury of the Umted States m form of 
dividends. 

In December of 1959 the peuitentiary opened a new three-story 
building, the fu'St floor of which will be used f?r th institution's e!1tiro 
Jaunclry ope:ratiolls and the ~eco?d and third floo1·s for ~orm1tory 
housin~. The two new dormitories are modern and funct10nal and 
they will help to r duce the overcrowding in ~he cellhouses, ~ _condition 
which has seemed so deplorable to. me dunng my pas~ v1s1ts to_ ~e 
prison. How.e er, .Atlanta will contmue to be plagued with a condition 
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of-general overcrowding and, in my opinion, the only r -•al solution is 
the eventual construction o"f additional institutions. The peniten­
tiary' popufation has been 1· ch.teed by o.bout 150 m n wit.bin the Inst 
6 m<;>n hs .but it st\ll remains at a level of approximat ly 2,650. Th 
piaxlmum population for Atlanta and its pl'ogram, jf men are to b 
successfully r ehabilitated before their r •tum to society, should not 
groa.tly exceed 2 000 . 

Dm·i.ng th year th ins itutiion expended a great deal of effort in 
l'epa.iring _a11;cl maint,n.iniiJg this relri.tively old physical plant. Several 
of the bu1ldmgs w re pau ted, n w roofs and. gutters were installed in 
the old buildi11gs, some of the 1.1 tility lines were replaced, o.ncl he roads 
about the prison r servaL'ion wer paved. 

Th s cm·ity of ·th pri on exlleri n cl r urrent pel.-iods of tress 
durin.g the yen:r. The populaLwn includes 350 to 400 clespetate 
s curity l'isks who ar erving long terms and who have d tah1 -1 on 
a.dclitio.onl charges lodged ag11inst them by other jurisdictions. Many 
of these m n have bee11 tri din other institution 

1 
~ her they were the 

source of a gr n,t denJ of t:roubl -, in .luding agitation, apes, and 
l\Ltempt, d assaults. It was therefore absolutely necessary to move 
them to the close-custody facility. D pite the n~merous escal.) 
plan . that th stair det;ected and others that were circumvented by 
sto..ndmg scape proc dm·es, there was onl:Y one escape from in id he 
main in titution. Five men how ver, walked away from th honor 
farm. Warden ~ilk.i:nson 'omplimen.tecl his ernploye s for di playing 
on s veral occn ions gr at resourc folness, oumge, and alertness i.n 
pl'eventing es ape a.ttempts ohat might ba ve 1· sulted m injury or even 
deaLh to other eniployees. 

'£he programs of vocational training and academic school for day 
students and pe iall for n:i~1t lasses were greatly extended and 
improved dming th yem·. 1teligio1.1s programs were mphn ized 
an i a high rate oi attendance was brought about through the efforts 
of th cha.plains and by bringing- in int. 1:ested and religiou -minded 
,citizens of the community. The institution has a longstanding neen 
for a chapel that cttn be us cl fo · ho.th Prote tant and Catholics ,rvices. 
Anot1wr mgent need seems to be a cenLTal room wher families may 
visit inmates. The pr sent ru:ran~ ments are makeshift and high.I , 
U?~atisfactory in appearan e, efficiency of layout, or ease of uper­
vis1on. I a,m plea.secl to report that funds have now been ma.de 
available for th construction of a central visiting room. 

According to the wn.rden, tbe new sentencing legfalation approved 
by this COmJ?littee and e:n!l-~t~d l;>Y he Congress in 1_958 has b~·ou~ht 
about some improved flexibility rn th.e matter of eqmtable sentencmg 
and poa:ol practices. Thes proceclm -s are still relatively n w and 
their incr ased u e can be expected. Th percentag of pnrol , how­
ever, continues to be low and has a depressii1g and discouragin~ effect on 
many long-term inmates who hav profitecl f ·om el e traJ.u.ing and 
therapeutic programs of the institution. 

011sidering the fact that .A.tla11ta is beiu.g op ra.ted with .a prisoner 
popul0;tion at least ?O percent higher t~O;D; its clesir;n capacity that its 
plant 1s outrnodecl m terms of the faciht1es cons1d red necessary for 
modern treatment!.rograms, and that its budget and pei onn 1 eom­
:pl~ment are limite , the penitentia.ry must be credited with achieving 

NATIONAL PENITENTARIES 25 

substantial progress dm·ing the past yeru.·. This has be n due larg-ely 
to the experienced, resourceful, and e ·pert management of the prison 
staff and the Bureau of Pl'isons in gene:r:a.L I am gratified to note tha.t 
the ·ecommendation that I submitted to this subcommittee ti y ar a;go 
concerning the need for additional supergrades for several of the top 
positions of the B-meau of Priso11s has b en pa1·tia.lly r aliz cl during 
the past y ar. Full recognition is wa:rra.nted and should do a great 
deal to maintain the high caliber of s 1-vi.ces we have come to expect 
from this agency. 



STATEMENT OF SENATOR JAMES 0. EASTLAND 

As a pru·t of my dtttios as chairman of the Senate Committee on 
the Judiciary and because of my personal interest in the Federal 
penal system I vi ited the U. . penitentiary at Atlanta Ga. on 
Wednes~ay, ec~mb · 9. _Before touring th bu~ldipg ana gro~ds 
of th pnson, I cLis u sed with W111·den ired T. W1llnn on the general 
problems of the pri on and ome ~f ~he problems. of the Federal prison 
system 11 a whole. Ward n Wilkinson, ,v.ho 1s a v t ran of more 
tbnn 20 yea.rs of prison work and ha_s serv~d ~ w.arden .8:nd superiJ?-­
ten_dont of s veral other Fed rnJ prisons, 1s highly qualified for his 
assignmen~ as warden <?f.on of th~ t.w~ largest F ed~·al penit ntiar\es. 

At th time of my vi 1t the penitentiary had an mmate population 
o:f 2164q nJt_hou_gb J as. W ard011 Wilkfoson pointed out, th capacity of 
the mst1tut1on 1s offimallJ~r8:ted at 2,103. ~uch overcrowding appears 
to be a general character, tic of F d ral pr1 ons, the total population 
of ,-yhi?h has risen from 16, 26 o~ January 1, 1950, to 22,561 at the 

egummg of ecember 1959, an n1crea of 5,735. The 1st session 
of t~e 6th Congress authoriz d funds to begin constructing a new 
max'lmum cus~ody _pri on, but this institution will not bo ready for 
occupancy until at len t som tim in 1962, by which time Lhe F d ral 
sy: tem wdl undoubtedly have experienced fmther increases in prison 
population. 

There are a number of reasons for the rise in Federal prisoner 
population. One is the fact that the general civilian~population of 
the ation has risen by about 30 m.Jlion since 1950. With the crime 
rate also rising, aJl State and Fedenil penal institutions have Teceived 
lai·ger numbers of convicted offende1 . The arcotics Control Act 
of 1956 which makes the offenders convicted under its provisions 
ineligible for pm·ole, the 1·ise in the length of the average sentences 
imposed by the Federa.l courts for all types of offens and the rela­
tively low parole rate for Federal prisoners (30 p re nt as compared 
to an average of_ 55 pare nt for t8:te jU1·isdiction >i are other reasons 
for the a.nnua} r_1se of 600. to J ,000 m the number ot Fed ral prisoners. 

Warden Wilkmson adVJsed me that Atlanta' per onn l staff is at 
present comEo . ed of 419 1!1Ployees, includi!'g 80 pe1 on employed 
by Federal Pnson Industries, Inc. I felt 1t noteworthy that this 
r _la~iv~ly small number of persons is r. sponsible fot· the custody, 
d1sc1pline, care, and treatment of a pnsoner population that has 
averng_ed w 11 over 2,500 during tbe pa t several year . The costs of 
operatmg .Atl~ta are low, about $3.02 per da_,y per J?l'ison r, including 
personn l salaries, and I found that each pnsou r 1s f d at a cost of 
aboub 38 c nts a day. As con-ectional worker are typically paid 
low salaries in American prisons, I was pleased to lenrn that the 
salaries of persons who a.re p rforming such difficult duties so conom­
ically at Atlanta have improved in recent years. In 1957 the starting 
salary for a correctional officer wa.s $3,670; by the middle of 1958 
thls salary .bad been raised to $4,490. Even so, this salary contrasts 
unfavorably with wage board rates; for example, unskilled laborers 
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at a Federal prison on the west coa t .receive $6,000, and electricians, 
carpent rs and mechani s at sev ral ] ederal prisons a.re paid as 
much as $7,500. It would appear xtrem ly difficult to recruit for 
$4,490 alert, intellig ut, highly capable p rsons who can develop into 
well-trained officers to erve as leaders, teachers, supervisors, and 
counselors. 

Following our conversation on g -n.eral matt rs affecting the entire 
Federal prison system, I accompanied Warden Wilkinson on an. in­
spection of the p niten tiar . I looked, for exnmpfo, at one of the 
large cellhouse. which contains an average of about 1,000 prisoners, 
and one of Lhe small r cellhouses which contains an average of about 
350 prisoners. In the larger cell houses many of the cell had as many 
a 8 men, and :in the mailer 2 men were occupying c 11s d signed 
for onl 1 man. The d.oublc-d ck bunks and th crowding in of tho 
men l:llld thejr clothing a11d possessions created an atmosphere of 
much congestion. I also visited the basement that had been con­
verted into dormitories for additional housing spa.c , and went into 
the communal shower rooms where several hundi-ed men were bathing 
and changin('I' clothing. 

On our wa to th educational depo.rtmen L the warden informed 
me that about one-third of Atlanta's inmates have less than a fifth­
grade education when com.miLted an l that 1·elatively few had vo a­
tionaJ skills of a.ny kind. Nearly 900 of the inmates arn enrolled in 
some type of educational course, and about 400 are undergoing for­
malized vocational training. The cducatiqnal program includes 
srrammar school and high school clas es, and sp cializ d instruction 
teyood that lev I is also provided. fany i.ruru:Ltes take correspond­
ence courses :from the extension divisions of various colleg s. The 
organized vocational training, embraces a large nwnb •r of trades, in­
cluding w lding, sheet metal, masonry, machine shop, commercial 
art, radio and television, and electricity. In visiting the commercial 
ar and vo atio1Hi.l training section of th industrial ru·ea, I thought 
the mechanical training Md the advanced training coul'ses, such as 
typ writer r pau-, in that section wi r pmticularly well or~anized. 

I observed a need for a more suitable room for family visLting. At 
pr sent a f w small rooms along the maip corridor are us d fo1· this 
purpos . This a.rrn.ngement complicates supervision, requiring ex­
cessive officer personnel, and he inadequate pace make it nee ary 
for the institution to impose rigid time r trictions on the inmate 
visiting privilege. 'rhe provis10n of ad g.uate visiting time is, of 
COUl'Se, an import.ant, factor in pres rving in,ma.Le morale and family 
ties. 

From my wn knowlcdg of cotton and textiles, I was impressed 
with the textil opern.tion of the penitent,iru-y. In addition to a 
cotton textile mill, Federal Prison Industries, Inc., operates at At­
lanta a canvas specialty shop, a clothing factory, a mattress facLory, 
and a print shop. During the la t fiscal year the ~'"oss sales of th se 
activiti s cam to $11,700,000. Th n t indu tnal profit of about 
$2,750,000 for thn.t yoar suggests that Atlanta is la_!'gely self-support;i.ng 
as most of this profi i ve.ntually paid into the U.S. Treasury in th 
form of divid nds. An nv rn,ge of about 950 prisoners are employ cl 
on a full-Lime basis in th s indusLri s and the pay per prisoner 
worker av rages about $36 a month. These men, in contrast to some 
public impr ions of prison life, seem to go about their duties with-
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out, requiring ov ,r}y close supervision and wHb li tl indicatiou of 
tension. I found this gimerally true o( the -penitentiary, and although 
Warden Willcinson ,xpr ss I the opinion tha Atlauto. be] I abou 
400 prisoners who must be considered serious escape risks, this 
circumstance could not be detected from external appearances. 

As other Senate dut ies will permit, I look forward to visiting other 
Federal prisons to examine at first hand some of the problems th y 
face. 

The Senate Judi iary Oommitte has in. the p t L-wo ses ion of the 
ongress approved legislation p1·oviding for Lbe sale o:f tb p1·esent 
ational Training School property and the construction of n. new 

school elsewhere, but UJ)On pn,ssage by Lhe enate this legislation lins 
twice foiled to reach the floor of tbe House. The F dera1 Bm·eau of 
Prisons now has about 1,000 juv niles in its institntional popul!:ition, 
and with the capacity of the presen 11,tional Tminlng Ghool rated 
at 2 1 an additional 200 juveni les have had to be crowded iuto its 
aged and outworn facilities, an l the excess has had to be divertetl. Lo 
other Federal institutions not equipped for this pm·pose. 

The pres nt Springfi. .ld, Mo., medical center was opened in p-
tember 1933 wh n th entire Bureau of Prison in.mate popuJa,tion 
was only 13,600 a.nd was designed to serve as a general hospital. 
Since that time Lb number of Federal prisoners has increased 
markedly, and am informed that a much larger proportion haYe 
seriou new·ops hiatric probl ns1 s x:ual aberration , and chron i · 
m clical di abiliti . Becau pringfielcl lacks adequo,t pac and 
treatm nt facilities for Lhe greatly expa.uded requireincnL for its erv-. 
i es, large numbers of medical and ' psychiatric paLients must be 
retained a.t Atlanta and the other Federal .institutions, n.one of which. 
is designed or equipped to iurnisb the n.eecl,ecl treatment. 

?rom this· visit, I rec·eived' the impression that the Atlanta staff' 
and the Bureau of Pri ons in general is performing an efficient aud 
economical service. The caliber of this managemeu·t is, of cour e, a_ 
matter of record in the previous annual reports of this committee's 
Subcommittee on National Penitentiaries. 

0 
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April 26, 1960 

Mr. James v. Bennett, D1reotor 
United States Department of Justice 
Bureau ot Prisons 
Washington 2;, D.C. 

Dear Mr . Bennett 1 

I have checked with Alex Gregory 
and unless there is some change in your plane 
we will plan to meet with you in Leavenworth 
on the morning of Saturday, May 1th. We will 
probably be staying at the Hotel uehlebach in 
Kansas City the night before and we look for­
ward to an interesting and profitable experience. 

With all good wishes. 

LMS/vs LeMoyne Snyder, M.D. 

I 
I 
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April 29th, 1960 

Mr. Alex L. Gregory 
14418 Penrod Road 
Detroit 23, Michigan 

Dear Mr. Gregory: 

Dr. Snyder is in San Francisco and 
inasmuch as a telegram just arrived from James 
V. Bennett regarding a chahge in date for the 
meeting at Leavenworth I am quoting it here 
for your information: 

11 Because of budget hearings have 
had to change my plans regarding 
visit to Leavenworth and now hope 
it will be possible for us to meet 
there either May 23rd or May 25th. 
Regards." 

Jas. V. Bennett, Director 
Federal Bureau of Prisons 
Washington, D.C. 

Dr. Snyder wanted you to be apprised 
of this change and said to tell you he hopes 
to see you in a week or so. 

/hs 

Yours very truly, 

Virginia G. Scott, 
Secretary 
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·BECAUSE OF BUDGET HEARINGS HAVE HAD TO CHANGE MY PLANS 
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Hon. James v. Bennett, Director 
United States Department of Justice 
Bureau or Prisons 
Washington 2,, D.C. 

May 18, 1960 

JUNE 15 IS SATISFACTORY FOR BOTH OF US 

AND WE CONFIRM THE MEETING FOR THAT DATE. 

REGARDS. 

LeMoyne s nyd er 

\ 
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June 1+, 1960 

Hon, James v. Bennett, Director 
United States Department or Justice 
Bureau ot Prisons 
Washington 25, D.c. 
Dear Mr . Bennetts 

Many thanks for the splendid article 
which you sent me. I read it over with great 
interest and I think you have done a wonderful 
job in evaluating the usefulness of tho poly­
graph. 

There are just one or t~o small items 
in the article thut I would like to talk to you 
about and inasmuch as we will be seeing each 
other in about ten days I will try to do it on 
that occasion rather than go into th0 matter in 
this letter .. 

Best wishes and I look forward to a 
nice visit with you soon. 

Sincerely, 

LMS/vs LeMoyne Snyder, M.D. 



JAMES V. BENNETT 
01RECTOR 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
BU REAU OF PRISONS 

WASHINGTON 25 

Dr. LeMoyne Snyder 
325 Valley View Drive 
Paradise, California 

Dear Dr. Snyder: 

May 27, 1960 

I am enclosing a preliminary and tentative 
draft of my evaluation of the polygraph and my policy 
statement for the guidance of our institutions as a 
result of this evaluation. I would appreciate your 
permission to quote you as I have and also any sug­
gestions or criticisms of this paper that may occur 
to you. I am also asking Alex Gregory, Erle Stanley 
Gardner, and the other persons quoted in this paper 
for their opinions. 

It may be that I will publish this paper in 
some suitable professional magazine, and I wish to make 
sure that I have my facts and conclusions as reasonably 
accurate and fair as they can be. 

Thanks for your assistance. 



At 

• 

• 



• 

All ot t 
ff • 

• v. tt 

1J 

• 

-2- th, l 

• t ,. 



• • v. tt 



1• 

' • 
All t 111 . 

J 

• 
ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

ot 
l 



f 
I ,. 

MARION ISOM BO\\ LING 
163951-L 

I P. 0, Box 1200, Leavenworth , Kanaaa 
' 

1959 Warden: Jobn C. Taylor 
J'orm,r Warden: Cl\eal y H. 

Loon y 

ALLEN, Z. D., ESQ. 
. . ' 

ANDERSON, JR., HENRY J. 

., 
~ BBNNETT, HON. JAMES V. 

"LOODWOBTB, RALPH 

801,fD,C,BARUE 

,.,, 

eo,/hl!IG, MRS. MARION I. 

, BOB 

' . 

~ ~ZART. BO . UED ~,--, 

Date of Crime: April 27-28, 1946 
Date of Sentence: ·March lt, lNT 

Allen, Locke & Kouri, /\_ttorney11 at Law, 
Suite !>00-04 , Staley Building, \\ ichita 
Palla, Texas (Attorney for Bowlin1 -
first case in Federal court) 

City National .Banlc Bui l 111t1g, ichita Falls, 
Texas (Former partner of John D venpoi-t) 

Director, Bureau of Priaona, United Sta tea 
Departm~nt of Justice, v'. uhinfton 25, O. C. 

With Retha Mccawley on niaht of crime. 
Now married '° ber. 

' . . 
.. 

183980-L. P'ort Leavenworth, lun8u' 
_Co-d fendant . Pled euilty to char1 . - . 

Wife. 1305-35th Street, Wichita Fall.I, 
Texae. 

. .• 

Former Sheriff of D1111can, Odabo 

Pardon Attorney, Department of Ju■Uc , 
Office of the Pardon AttomeY,, Wuhin ton, 
o. c. 
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DA \'BNPO .T. I 

DIFFE~A, ' CJIARLlE 

• J. ST. CLAIR 

FENDEll. HARRY G. 

OREE~. KEN 

BA 'fON, SYBIL 

. . 
HARVEY, HON. KENNETH V. 

. . 

HAWKS, REX 

' ~ 

ROHMAN. JOHN 

~ 

~ oovma. HON.· J.: EDGAR 

lkARD, HON~ JliRANK 

r 

JA • THOMAS P. 

,. 

Law Officea, Davenport and Andera • 
336-39 Nacol Buildtn,, Wichita Palla, Teu■ 

.court reporter at Ada trial 

.. 
-201 Court House, Baton Boqe, Loulelana 
Office; 01 4 .. 1sse Honie: Walnut 1-849t 
ID o -~ ~ ll • ~ 1 - 1 - ·• , 

Assistant United States Attorney, 333 
Federal Building, P. O. Box 1400, 

uekoaee, Oklahoma (Attorney for Plaintiff 
wUh McSherry) 

United States Marshal 

Identified Boweh and BowJJ.na as beina •t 
Cowity Line Dance Hall 

Actin1 Pardon Attorney, Department of 1 

Justice, Wash1Jleton, O. C. 

1110 Republic Buildinc, Oklahoma c'tty, 
~ahoma (Priv-ate inve1tifator emploJed 
by ESG) . 

A aoc:iated with Park Street 

Director. Federal Bureau of l,nveati1atlon, 
United States Department of J"atice, 
Waa.hineton 25, D. C. 

Concreaaman in Tex.a diatrlcl in 1961 

Police officer who cbec.ked BowUn.g'• Uc nae 
at Vernon, Texa.a. P. O. Box 342. Pantex, 
Texas Ph: Amarillo DRake 40114 



I ._. 

JAMISON. J. L. 

JOHNSON. HON. LYND0N B. 

KIZZlRE, RANDOLPH 

LAW, KIRT 

LBSTER. CHARLIE 
,.__, 

l~ t.,,. .( J 
... -
.J I t , 

M<:CAWL.EY, RETHA JUANITA 
(Ruth) 

. ' . 
. ;, ~ -McSHERRY, HON. FRANK D. 

. . 

MALONE, JOHN 

MARTIN, JOHN BARTLOW 

MURPHEE, W., S. 

Sheriff , Montague, Texas (Arres led Bowen 
in _Ringgold) 

Senator . United States Senate, Office · of the 
Democratic Leader, Washington, D. C. 

United States Court Clerk, Federal Bl.de .. 
Muskogee, Oklahoma (in 1959) 

Special Agent of FBI out of Loe An,eles 
office, (Accompanied lnspector Malone 
to ranch) 

Also known as Hawk or Halk. Said to be 
the man with Bowen , and not Bowlin&. 

• J _'yl , J .e 

Waitress. Kidnapped and raped. (Spelled 
McCauley also but believe McCawley ia 
correct) 

.. 

United States Attorney, 333 Federal Bklc-, 
P. O. Box 1400, Muskogee. Oklahoma 
(Dear Colonel Mcsherry) 

Inspector in charge of the FBI and close to 
Director Hoover (Interviewed ESG & Marsh 
Houts at the ranch) 

185 Maple Avenue, Highland Park, lllinoia 
(Keeping him posted on developments in case) 

Holliday, Archer County, Texas. Affidavit 
that he saw Bowling at filling station. 
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NELSON, HON. WALTER 

PARISH, ELMER 

PATTERSON, S . . B, 
\ 

PRUITT, OMA 

PUGH, JOffN II. 

RICE, HON. EUGENE 

Pre.siding Judge, habeas corpus hearing, 
Wichita Falls, Texas. 

District Attorney, habeas corpus hearing, 
Wichita Falls, Texas 

Pol ice officer with Thomas F. James. who 
checked Bowling's driving license at Vernon 

Identified Bowen and Bowling as being at 
County Line Dance Hall. 

Clerk, United States District Court, Office 
of the Clerk. Eastern District of Oklahoma, 
Muskogee, Oklahoma (in 1957) 

Federal Judge 

SCANLAND, HON. GRANVILLE Attorney at Law, 916 City National Building, 
(,)klahoma City, Oklahoma (Dear Professor) 

; , .. ~~ i., - ~. 

' 
I ~ SILVER. HON. EDWARD s. District Attorney of Kings County, Municipal 

Building, Brooklyn, New York 

SIZEMORE, CHARLIE 

SULLIVAN, JEROME 

SUMMERS, CLEON A. 

j , 

TEAGUE, MRS. VERA 

Local FBI agent .in Oklahoma 

Duncan, Oklahoma. Represented Bowling 
at preliminary hearing at Stephens County, 
Oklahoma. 

District Attorney at Muskogee, Oklahoma. 
(Refosed to recommend clemency) 

• • I 
~ ! _,- , I ( ~ • ' " ::1. , ;° f . 

2501 West College, Midland, Texas -
daughter's residence, whose ·name ie Atkin. 
( Presently working at Jumbo Inn, Midland, 
Texas.) 

\ 

,, 



WALKER, EDNA 

WALLACE. HON. W. R. 

,. 

Identified Bowen and Bowling as being at 
County Line Dance Hall. 

Judge, United States District Court for the 
Eastern, Northern and Western Districts of 
Oklahoma , Oklahoma City 1, Oklahoma 

~ WHEELER, HON. CHAL Norman & Wheeler. Attorneys at Law, 
Fourth &. Boston, Muskogee, Oklahoma 
MUrray 7-4496 - MUrray 7-4497 

WILCOXEN, ANDREW 

ADA, OKLAH OMA 
ADDINGTON . 
COUNTY LINE, OKLAHOMA 
DUNCAN, OKLAHOMA 
FAITH CAFE · 
RINGGOLD, TEXAS 

Attorney at Law, 404 Wall Street, Muskogee, 0 

Oklahoma MU 3-1112 (Attorney associ-
ated with Chal Wheeler at Okla. trial) 

STEPHENS COUNTY,. OKLAHOMA 
VERNON, TEXAS 
WICHITA FALLS, TEXAS 



MRI ON ISOM BO\\ LING 
63951-L 

P. O. Box 1200, Leavenworth, K nacs 

1959 Warden: John c. T ylor 
Former V. ard n: Chealey H. 

Looney 

ALLEN, z. Dq ESQ. 

ANDERSON, JR., HENRY J. 

Dale of Crime: April 27-28, 19 G 
D tc of Sentence: March U, 194'1 

Allen. t.ock & Kouri., f,ttomcys at Law, 
Sui\c 500-04, Staley Building. \\ ichita 
F lls, Texas (Attorn y for Bowling • 
fh l caec 1n Federal court) 

City 'o\lonal Baol< Btn 1g, \, 1ch1t Falls, 
Texn (Former p rtnct· c>f John Davenport) 

, 
~ : ENNETT, HON. JAMES V. 

Director. Bur au of Prisons, Unlted Sta.tee 
0 p ,•unent of Ju ttce, ,, a hlngton 2S, o. c. 

L,OODWOR-Tll, RALPH 

OND. CHARLIE 

BOWEN, OSTER LOUIS 

BOWLING. RS. A1AR10N l. 

CATES. BOB 

' ~ OZART, BON. REED 

Vlllh Retha accawley on night of crime. 
Now married to her. 

163980-L, Fort Leavenv. orth, KanaU' 
Co-def ndont. Pl d ullty to char e. 

\\ 1!C'. l 305-35th Str et, \\ichita F 11 , 

T xu. 

Form r Sheriff of Duncan, Ok1 hom.a 

Pnrdon Atlorn y, Department of Justice, 
Office of tho Pnrdon AltorneY., \\ hlngton, 

o. c. 
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DAVENPORT. JOHN 

DIFFENDAFFER, CHARLIE 

' 
~ - VROT, HON. J. ST. CL.AIR 
~ 

FENDER. HARRY G. 

GREER., .KEN 

HARRINGTON, SYBIL 

1-'.ARVEY, HON. KENNETH V. 

HAWKS, REX 

HOHMAN, JOHN 

A 

~ HOOVER, HON. J. EDGAR 

tKARD, HON. FRANK · 

JAMES., THOMAS F. 

Law Offices. Davenport nnd Andcrso~. 
336-39 Na.col Buildini, Wichlta Falls, Tex 

Court reporter at Ada lrial 

20 I Court House, Baton Rouge, Loul.aiana 
Office : DI 4-1556 Home: Walnut 1-8496 
io u ~ l!J I}- ~ "> - , , r 

Assistant United Sto tes Attorney. 339 
Federal Building, P. O. Box 1400, 
Muskogee, Oklnhoma (Attorney for Plaintiff 
with McSherry) 

United Stales Marshal 

Jdent11ied Bowen and Bowling a& being ct 
Counly Line Dance Hnll 

Acline Pnrdon AUorney. Department of • 
Justice, \1. n.shington> D. C. 

1510 Republic Building, Oklahoma City, 
Okl ; (Private investigator employed 
by 

Associated with Park Street 

Director, Federal Bureau of lnvcstigation. 
United States Department of Justice, 
Washington 25, O. C. 

Congrcsoman in Texas distrtct in 1955 

Police officer wno chec.ked Bowling's license 
at Vernon. Tex a. P. O. Box 342, Pantex, 
Texas Ph: Amarillo DRake 4017 
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JAMISON. J. L . 

JOHNSON. HON. LYNO()N B. 

KlZZIRE, RANDOLPH 

LAW, KlRT 

LESTER. CHARLIE 
L 

McCA WLEY, RETHA JUANITA 
(Ruth) 

I 

~ McSBERRY. BON. FRANK D. 

MALONE, JOHN 

MARTIN, JOHN BARTLOW 

MVRPHEE. W. S. 

Shet•iH Mont•g1e , Texas (Arre1.led Bowen 
in Ringgold) 

SenatQr , Unated Stales Senate, Office of the 
Democ t atk Leader. \\ uhllllton, D. C. 

Unite ~tat s C"ourt Clerk, Federal Bldc,, 
Musk~g e, Oki homa (ln 19&9) 

Specla) Ag nt o f FBJ out of Loa Angeles 
office. (Ac<. 1mpan1ed Inspector Malon. 
to ranch) 

Als , kn '>wn as Hawk or Halk. Said to bt 
the man with Bowen, and not Bowliria. 

Wtutre 'S . Kidnapped and raped. (Spelled 
McCauley ah10 but beheve Mccawley 1a 
correct) 

United ~tale Attorney . 339 Federal Bldc, . 
P. Q. Box 1400, MW1ko1ee. Oklahoma 
(Dear Colonel Mc herry) 

lnapec-tor 1n charae of the FBI and cloae to 
Director Hoovt-r (lnterv1ewed ESG • Mar•h 
Houts nt the ranch) 

185 M pl<' Av flue , HighJand Park. Ulinols 
(Keeping bun po.stt!d on developments in caae) 

Holli lay. A re her County. Texu. Affidavit 
that h~ aw Bowling at fillin1 station. 

-J .. 
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NELSON, HON. WALTER 

PA RISH, ELMER 

PATTERSON, S. B. 
'. 

PRUITT, OMA 

PUGH, JOHN ll . 

RICE, HON. EUGENE 

Pre ,1<.lmg Jarigc. hab~as corpus hearing, 
\\'le tutu F 11.s, Tt xaa. 

Du;trict Attorney, habeas corpus hearing, 
W1ch ta Falls, Texas 

Po 1r 1 1rc.r w1lh Thomas F. Jnmcs. who 
c. h«. d<('d Bn\\ hng's dr1vmg Hccnse a.l Vf rnon 

l1 .. h·nt1l.wd Bowen n<l Oowhng as being at 
Co 1 ,ty l me Done<" Hall. 

r·1., ~, Uuttt• I ':'ti ,le DJslrict Court. O!fice 
,-.{ ll < c PJ K , f . tern nu,tricl of Uklehoma. 
I\ u t<l)gt.e, Oklahoma (1n 1957) 

[• erl~rnl Judge 

CANLAND , HON. GRANVlLLh Att nnc_y nl L. w, 91b C1ty Natiorial Buildmg, 
,)kl h )m c Jl) . Oklahoma (Deni· ProfcGsor) 

LVER, HON. EDVrARD 5. 

SIZEMORE. CHARLIE 

SULLIVAN, JEROME 

SUMMERS, CLEON A. 

TEAGUE, MRS . VERA 

1>1 , 1c: l A ttorne} ,,1 Ktngo Counl.) , 1un1cipal 
Bullding, Brooklyn, New York 

l ocnl FBI ogent in Oklahumn 

Dunc-, n, Oldo.homn . Represented Bowling 
l ~•rcl1mman heating o.t Stephens Cow\ly. 

Oklnnonla, 

I> tr1 t Atro1,,ey nt 'Vluakont.•e. Oklahoma. 
CR fu ed t, recomni n-rl clemency} 

250 l \' est College. M1dlano, Tcxns -
daughter's residence, whos no.me is Atkin. 
(Presently working al Jumbo Inn, Midlnnd, 
T KOS.) 



\\ALKER, EDNA 

WALLACE, HON. W. R. 

I 

~ ~EELER. HON. CHAL 

WILCOXEN, ANDREW 

A DA, OKLAHOMA 
ADDINGTON 
COUNTY LINE, OKLAHOMA 
DUNCAN, OKLAHOMA 
FAl1H CAFE 
RINGGOLD. TEXAS 
STEPHENS COUNTY I OI<LAHO. t 
VERNON, TEXAS 
\\ICHITA FALLS, '"EXAS 

Idcnllf1c: 1 B )W n nd Bo"" ling as beutg ot 
County l.tn<' Uc1nC<' Hall. 

Judbc, t•~utr ~lntes 01slr1c-t Court for the 
Eastern, N ,r lh ru ond \'. <"stern D1slr1cts r 
Oklahom. L>klnhoma CHy 1, Ol,lahomn 

Norman & \-\ht>t•ler, Attorneys at Law, 
Fourth t, n > h>n, Muf!kaeec, Oklohorr,a 
.lVUrr > , -4 t> - MUn v 7-4487 

Attorney nt Lnv., <104 \\ 11 ~trcet, Muskoget., 
Oklnhon u Ml -JI l i (Allorney associ-
ated wHh Ch l \\ heeler ot Okla. t:rial) 
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 

November 3, 19 60 

In re: FOSTER L. BOW EN 

MEMO TO: All Member of the Court of Last Resort 

Park Street and I went to Wichita Falls Monday, October 31st and interviewed 
Wayne Somerville, the attorney who represented Foster L. Bowen. 

Somerville gave us quite a bit of time and searched his recollection to try 
and recall just what had happened. There were some things about which 
he could not be certain but there were some points on which he felt quite 
certain. 

We suggested that he make an affidavit upon the points concerning which he 
felt certain and he did so, A copy of that affidavit is enclosed. 

After we had the affidavit Park Street and I went to Fort Leavenworth and 
interviewed Foster Bowen in the penitentiary. 

Despite the affidavit Bowen would not change his story in any way but insisted 
he had been drugged and could remember nothing about the events of the even­
ing past a certain point which occurred prior to the time he is alleged to have 
met Retha McCauley. 

He continued to deny that he had her ring in his possession. 

ESG:hs 
Enc. 

ERLE STANLEY GARDNER 
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